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Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q includes “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the safe harbor provisions of the U.S. Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. We have based these forward-looking statements largely on our current expectations and projections about future
events and financial trends affecting the financial condition of our business. Forward-looking statements should not be read as a guarantee of future
performance or results and will not necessarily be accurate indications of the times at, or by, which such performance or results will be achieved. Forwardlooking statements are based on information available at the time those statements are made and/or management’s good faith belief as of that time with
respect to future events and are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual performance or results to differ materially from those expressed in
or suggested by the forward-looking statements.
Forward-looking statements include all statements that are not historical facts. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terms
such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “could,” “would,” “expect,” “intend,” “seek,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “project,” “predict,” “potential,”
or the negative of those terms, and similar expressions and comparable terminology intended to reference future periods. Forward-looking statements
include, but are not limited to, statements about:
•

our expectations regarding our expenses and revenue, the sufficiency of our cash resources and needs for additional financing;

•

our plans for, strategy for, and the anticipated timing with respect to the resubmission of our 505(b)(2) New Drug Application (“NDA”) for
M207 to the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (the “FDA”);

•

our expectations regarding the clinical effectiveness and safety of our product candidates;

•

the ability to obtain and maintain regulatory approval of our product candidates, and the labeling for any approved product;

•

our manufacturing capabilities and strategy, and our ability to establish and maintain relationships with contract manufacturing organization(s)
(“CMOs”) to expand our manufacturing capacity;

•

the anticipated timing, costs and conduct of our planned clinical trials and preclinical studies;

•

our intellectual property position and our ability to obtain and maintain intellectual property protection for our product candidates;

•

our expectations regarding competition;

•

the anticipated trends and challenges in our business and the markets in which we operate;

•

the scope, progress, expansion, and costs of developing and commercializing our product candidates;

•

the size and growth of the potential markets for our product candidates and the ability to serve those markets;

•

the rate and degree of market acceptance of our product candidates;

•

our ability to establish and maintain development partnerships;

•

our ability to attract or retain key personnel;

•

our expectations regarding federal, state and foreign regulatory requirements; and

•

regulatory developments in the United States and foreign countries.

These statements reflect our current views with respect to future events and are based on assumptions and subject to risks and uncertainties, including
those set forth below in Part II, Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” and in our other reports filed with the U.S. Securities Exchange Commission. Given these
uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements represent our estimates and
assumptions only as of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and, except as required by law, we undertake no obligation to update or revise
publicly any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise after the date of this Quarterly Report.
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Risk Factors Summary
The following is a summary of the principal risks that could materially adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition, all
of which are more fully described in Part II, Item 1A, “Risk Factors.” This summary should be read in conjunction with Item 1A, “Risk Factors” and
should not be relied upon as an exhaustive summary of the material risks we face.
Below is a summary of some of the principal risks we face.
•

We will need substantial additional funding to fund our operations, and we may not be able to continue as a going concern if we are unable to
do so. We could also be forced to delay, reduce or terminate our product development, other operations or commercialization effort.

•

We have a history of operating losses. We expect to continue to incur losses over the next several years and may never become profitable.

•

We have generated only limited revenues and will need additional capital to develop and commercialize our product candidates, which may
cause dilution to our existing stockholders, restrict our operations or require us to relinquish rights to our technologies or lead product
candidates.

•

Our build-to-suit arrangement with Trinity Funding 1, LLC (successor to Trinity Capital Fund III, L.P.) (“Trinity”), imposes restrictions on our
business, and if we default on our obligations, Trinity would have a right to request payment in full of the build-to-suit obligation.

•

We have limited operating history and capabilities.

•

The development and commercialization of our product candidates are subject to many risks. For example, we received a complete response
letter from the FDA in response to our NDA for M207, and based on feedback from the FDA, we conducted an additional pharmacokinetic
("PK") study for inclusion in an NDA resubmission package. However, there is no guarantee that we will be able to adequately address the
issues raised to the FDA’s satisfaction. If we do not successfully develop, receive approval for, and commercialize our product candidates, our
business will be adversely affected.

•

If the FDA does not conclude that our product candidates satisfy the requirements for the 505(b)(2) regulatory approval pathway, or if the
requirements for approval of our product candidates under Section 505(b)(2) are not as we expect, the approval pathway for our product
candidates will likely take significantly longer, cost significantly more and encounter significantly greater complications and risks than
anticipated, and in any case may not be successful.

•

If the FDA does not agree with our M207 NDA resubmission strategy to submit PK data primarily comparing Zomig® nasal spray and patches
produced on manufacturing equipment at our Fremont, California facility that produced patches for our long-term safety study, then the
approval pathway for M207 will likely take significantly longer than expected, cost significantly more than anticipated, and may not be
successful.

•

If M207 is approved utilizing our current NDA resubmission strategy, we will only be able to produce limited quantities of M207 at our
Fremont, CA location and we will not be able to produce M207 drug product on our manufacturing equipment at our third-party CMOs without
FDA approval, which may require us to conduct additional clinical studies and incur significant time and cost, and we may not be successful. If
we are unable to manufacture M207 on our manufacturing lines at our CMOs, it will limit our product availability and materially adversely
impact our business.

•

Clinical trials are very expensive, time-consuming and difficult to design and implement.

•

The COVID-19 pandemic could adversely impact our business, including our clinical trials.

•

The results of our clinical trials may not support the intended use of M207 or any other product candidates we may develop.

•

Clinical failure can occur at any stage of clinical development. Because the results of earlier clinical trials are not necessarily predictive of
future results, any product candidate we advance through clinical trials may not have favorable results in later clinical trials or receive
regulatory approval.

•

We use customized equipment to manufacture, coat and package our transdermal microneedle system; any production or equipment
performance failures could negatively impact the clinical trials of our product candidates that we may develop or sales of our product
candidate(s), if approved.
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•

We currently depend on third-party suppliers for manufacture of certain components of our product candidates. If these manufacturers fail to
provide us or our collaborators with adequate supplies of materials for clinical trials or commercial product or fail to comply with the
requirements of regulatory authorities, we may be unable to develop or commercialize M207 or any other product candidates we may develop.

•

We rely on CMOs for various components of our transdermal microneedle system, and our business could be harmed if those third parties fail
to provide us with sufficient quantities of those components at acceptable quality levels and prices or fail to maintain or achieve satisfactory
regulatory compliance.

•

We rely on third parties to conduct our clinical trials and those third parties may not perform satisfactorily, including failing to comply with
applicable regulatory requirements or to meet deadlines for the completion of such trials.

•

We have no experience selling, marketing or distributing approved product candidates and currently have no internal capabilities to do so, and
will rely on Eversana and other third parties for the commercialization of M207 or may need to develop an internal sales organization, and we
and they may not be able to effectively market, sell and distribute M207, if approved. In addition, Eversana may terminate our master services
agreement under certain circumstances, including if FDA approval of M207 is not received by December 31, 2021. Also, we and Eversana have
agreed that if the NDA is approved, the deferral mechanism, payment terms and loan terms in the master services agreement will be adjusted as
mutually agreed by both parties. There is no guarantee that we and Eversana will reach an agreement on the deferral mechanism, payment terms
and loan terms.

•

If we fail to comply with our obligations to our licensor in our intellectual property license, we could lose license rights that are important to
our business.

•

Our failure to obtain and maintain patent protection for our technology and our product candidates could permit our competitors to develop and
commercialize technology and products similar or identical to ours, and our ability to successfully commercialize our technology and product
candidates may be adversely affected.

•

We are highly dependent on key executive officers and the research and development, clinical, manufacturing, financial and business
development expertise of our executive officers and other employees at our Fremont, CA facility with extensive knowledge of our technology
and manufacturing processes. If we are not able to adequately retain our officers or train and retain staff at our Fremont, CA facility, our ability
to resubmit our NDA, obtain FDA approval and commercialize M207, if approved, would be impacted and our business would be materially
adversely affected.

•

The trading price of our common stock has been volatile with substantial price fluctuations on heavy volume, which could result in substantial
losses for purchasers of our common stock and existing stockholders.

•

If we are unable to maintain listing of our securities on the Nasdaq Capital Market or another reputable stock exchange, it may be more difficult
for our stockholders to sell their securities.
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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements
ZOSANO PHARMA CORPORATION
BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except par value and share amounts)
September 30,
2021
(unaudited)

December 31,
2020

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Restricted cash
Property and equipment, net
Operating lease right-of-use assets
Other long-term assets
Total assets

$

$

17,147
983
18,130
455
32,337
4,073
—
54,995

$

1,551
1,916
4,528
1,552
—
2,092
11,639
1,424
3,502
—
226
16,791

$

$

35,263
453
35,716
455
30,909
4,928
3
72,011

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
$
Accrued compensation
Build-to-suit obligation, current portion, net of debt issuance costs and discount
Operating lease liabilities, current portion
Paycheck Protection Program loan, current portion
Other accrued liabilities
Total current liabilities
Build-to-suit obligation, long-term portion, net of debt issuance costs and discount
Operating lease liabilities, long-term portion
Paycheck Protection Program loan, long-term portion
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (see note 10)
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized; none issued and outstanding as of
September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 250,000,000 shares authorized as of September 30, 2021 and December 31,
2020, respectively; 118,114,793 and 102,066,218 shares issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2021 and
December 31, 2020, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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—
12
393,336
(355,144)
38,204
54,995 $

1,884
2,294
4,779
1,378
809
3,367
14,511
4,359
4,687
812
127
24,496

—
10
379,695
(332,190)
47,515
72,011
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ZOSANO PHARMA CORPORATION
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)
(unaudited)
Three Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020

Service revenue
Operating expenses:
Cost of service revenue
Research and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other income (expense):
Interest income
Interest expense
Other income (expense), net
Loss before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net loss and comprehensive loss

$

Net loss per common share – basic and diluted
Weighted-average common shares used in computing net loss per
common share – basic and diluted

252

$

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020

—

$

698

$

—

340
5,985
2,522
8,847
(8,595)

—
5,824
2,704
8,528
(8,528)

704
16,315
8,294
25,313
(24,615)

—
16,270
8,552
24,822
(24,822)

$

1
(17)
(57)
(8,668)
—
(8,668) $

2
(165)
4
(8,687)
—
(8,687)

$

2
(136)
1,795
(22,954)
—
(22,954) $

17
(561)
95
(25,271)
—
(25,271)

$

(0.07) $

(0.11)

$

(0.21) $

(0.45)

115,765

77,883

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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ZOSANO PHARMA CORPORATION
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(in thousands, except share amounts)
(unaudited)

Common Stock
Shares

Balance at January 1, 2021
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of Series E warrants
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of Series C warrants
Issuance of common stock in connection with at-the-market offering, net
Stock-based compensation
Net loss
Balance at March 31, 2021
Issuance of common stock in connection with at-the-market offering, net
Release of restricted stock units
Stock-based compensation
Net loss
Balance at June 30, 2021
Issuance of common stock in connection with at-the-market offering, net
Stock-based compensation
Net loss
Balance at September 30, 2021

102,066,218 $
4,078,667
145,000
82,935
—
—
106,372,820
6,848,672
107,799
—
—
113,329,291
4,785,502
—
—
118,114,793 $

6

Amount

Additional
Paid-In Capital

10 $
1
—
—
—
—
11
—
—
—
—
11
1
—
—
12 $

Accumulated
Deficit

379,695 $
3,273
94
—
410
—
383,472
5,531
—
528
—
389,531
3,308
497
—
393,336 $

Total
Stockholders’
Equity

(332,190) $
—
—
—
—
(8,142)
(340,332)
—
—
—
(6,144)
(346,476)
—
—
(8,668)
(355,144) $

47,515
3,274
94
—
410
(8,142)
43,151
5,531
—
528
(6,144)
43,066
3,309
497
(8,668)
38,204
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ZOSANO PHARMA CORPORATION
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (continued)
(in thousands, except share amounts)
(unaudited)
Common Stock
Shares

Balance at January 1, 2020
Issuance of common stock and Series E warrants in connection with
registered direct offering, net
Issuance of common stock and Series C and Series D pre-funded warrants
in connection with public offering, net
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of Series D pre-funded warrants
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of Series C warrants
Issuance of common stock in connection with at-the-market offering, net
Stock-based compensation
Net loss
Balance at March 31, 2020
Issuance of common stock in connection with at-the-market offering, net
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of Series C warrants
Stock-based compensation
Net loss
Balance at June 30, 2020
Issuance of common stock in connection with public offering, net
Issuance of common stock in connection with at-the-market offering, net
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of Series C warrants
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of Series E warrants
Stock-based compensation
Net loss
Balance at September 30, 2020

Additional
Paid-In Capital

Amount

23,503,214 $

2 $

11,903,506

1

11,992,307
2,161,539
2,649,723
2,151,346
—
—
54,361,635
1,550,231
1,333,385
—
—
57,245,251
15,937,130
11,686,795
10,003,038
7,194,004
—
—
102,066,218 $

2
—
—
—
—
—
5
1
—
—
—
6
1
1
1
1
—
—
10 $

308,211 $
10,210
8,262
—
1,722
2,706
364
—
331,475
1,160
867
361
—
333,863
20,386
12,365
6,501
5,772
439
—
379,326 $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

7

Accumulated
Deficit

Total
Stockholders’
Equity

(298,821) $
—
—
—
—
—
—
(8,689)
(307,510)
—
—
—
(7,895)
(315,405)
—
—
—
—
—
(8,687)
(324,092) $

9,392
10,211
8,264
—
1,722
2,706
364
(8,689)
23,970
1,161
867
361
(7,895)
18,464
20,387
12,366
6,502
5,773
439
(8,687)
55,244
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ZOSANO PHARMA CORPORATION
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)
(unaudited)
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
$
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Stock-based compensation
Change in operating lease right-of-use assets
Depreciation and amortization
Effective interest on financing obligations
Capitalized effective interest
Gain on forgiveness of Paycheck Protection Program loan
Loss on disposal of fixed assets
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued compensation and other accrued liabilities
Operating lease liabilities
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from offering of securities, net of commissions and offering costs
Proceeds from issuance of securities in connection with at-the-market offering program, net of commissions
and offering costs
Proceeds from exercise of Series E warrants
Proceeds from exercise of Series C warrants
Proceeds from registered direct offering of securities, net of commissions and offering costs
Proceeds from public offering of securities and exercise of pre-funded Series D warrants, net of commissions
and offering costs
Proceeds from Paycheck Protection Program loan
Principal payments on financing obligations
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period
$
Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest
$
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Forgiveness of Paycheck Protection Program loan
$
Acquisition of property and equipment under accounts payable and other accrued liabilities
$
Accrued offering costs
$
Asset retirement obligation
$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2020

(22,954) $

(25,271)

1,435
855
1,323
363
(306)
(1,629)
62

1,164
712
993
560
(353)
—
—

(527)
198
432
(1,011)
(21,759)

(179)
(1,915)
(312)
(835)
(25,436)

(5,015)
(5,015)

(7,711)
(7,711)

—

20,728

8,840
3,274
94
—

16,266
5,773
9,091
10,135

—
—
(3,550)
8,658
(18,116)
35,718
17,602 $

8,264
1,610
(1,482)
70,385
37,238
6,771
44,009

509

$

738

1,629
914
—
89

$
$
$
$

—
3,237
425
97
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Zosano Pharma Corporation
Notes to Financial Statements
(unaudited)
1. Organization
The Company
Zosano Pharma Corporation (the “Company”) is a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company focused on providing rapid systemic administration of
therapeutics and other bioactive molecules to patients using its proprietary transdermal microneedle system (“System”).
The Company submitted a 505(b)(2) New Drug Application (“NDA”) for M207 to the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (the “FDA”) on December
20, 2019, and on October 20, 2020, the Company received a Complete Response Letter (“CRL”) from the FDA with respect to the NDA. The CRL cited
inconsistent zolmitriptan exposure levels observed across clinical pharmacology studies, which had been previously identified in the FDA’s discipline
review letter received by the Company on September 29, 2020. Specifically, the CRL noted differences in zolmitriptan exposures observed between
subjects receiving different lots of M207 in the Company’s trials and inadequate pharmacokinetic (“PK”) bridging between the lots that made interpretation
of some safety data unclear. The CRL referenced unexpected high plasma concentrations of zolmitriptan observed in five study subjects enrolled in the
Company’s PK studies. The FDA recommended that the Company conduct a repeat bioequivalence study comparing lots manufactured with the equipment
used during development. The CRL noted that additional product quality validation data, which were planned to be submitted following approval, if
received, were required to be submitted with the application. In addition, the CRL mentioned that due to U.S. Government and/or Agency-wide restrictions
on travel, inspections of the Company’s contract manufacturing facilities were not able to be conducted but would be required before the application may
be approved.
On January 29, 2021, the Company held a Type A meeting with the FDA Division of Neurology II (the “Division”) regarding the requirements for
resubmission of the M207 NDA and, on February 19, 2021, the Company received the final minutes from the FDA. The Type A meeting minutes were
generally consistent with the Company's expectations to conduct an additional PK study for inclusion in an NDA resubmission package. In a post-meeting
comment, the FDA recommended a skin assessment on patients in the PK study to generate additional safety information which was included in the
proposed study protocol submitted to the FDA for review.
On April 12, 2021, the Company received FDA comments and recommendations to the Company’s proposed PK study protocol for M207. The
Company made the recommended changes to the study protocol and established an agreement with a contract research organization to conduct the PK
study required to support the resubmission of the M207 505(b)(2) NDA.
On October 4, 2021, the Company announced that it had received preliminary top-line results from the PK study and had been granted a Type C
written response-only meeting with the FDA regarding the resubmission of the M207 NDA.
On October 25, 2021, the Company received full data tables from its PK study, which were consistent with the preliminary top-line results announced
on October 4, 2021.
On October 27, 2021, the Company submitted a briefing package to the FDA in advance of the Type C written-response-only meeting previously
granted by the FDA to obtain feedback on the Company's strategy for resubmitting the M207 505(b)(2) NDA.
If FDA approval is received, the Company expects that commercialization of M207 would initially occur using drug product produced in the Fremont,
California facility, on a timeline yet to be determined. The Company does not anticipate realizing product revenues unless and until the FDA approves the
M207 NDA and the Company begins commercializing M207, which events may never occur.
Liquidity and Substantial Doubt about Going Concern
Since inception, the Company has incurred recurring operating losses and negative cash flows from operating activities, and as of September 30, 2021,
had an accumulated deficit of approximately $355.1 million. As of September 30, 2021, the Company had approximately $17.1 million in cash and cash
equivalents. Presently, the Company does not have sufficient cash and cash equivalents to enable it to fund its anticipated level of operations and meet its
obligations as they become due within twelve months following the date of filing of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. The aforementioned factors raise
substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of one year from the issuance of these financial statements. The
financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.
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2021 Shelf Registration
The Company filed a shelf registration statement on Form S-3 with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), which was declared
effective by the SEC on July 14, 2021 (“2021 Shelf Registration Statement”). The 2021 Shelf Registration Statement provides the Company with the ability
to issue common stock and other securities as described in the registration statement from time to time up to an aggregate amount of $150.0 million.
2020 Shelf Registration
The Company filed a shelf registration statement on Form S-3 with the SEC, which was declared effective by the SEC on April 16, 2020 (“2020 Shelf
Registration Statement”). The 2020 Shelf Registration Statement provides the Company with the ability to issue common stock and other securities as
described in the registration statement from time to time up to an aggregate amount of $74.5 million, of which approximately $3.7 million was available at
September 30, 2021.
At-the-Market Offering Program - 2021
On June 28, 2021, the Company entered into a Controlled Equity Offering Sales Agreement with Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. and H.C. Wainwright & Co.,
LLC (together, the “Sales Agents”) to establish an at-the-market offering program (“2021 ATM”), under which the Company may sell from time to time, at
its option, up to an aggregate of $30.0 million of shares of its common stock. Shares sold under the 2021 ATM are issued pursuant to the Company’s 2020
Shelf Registration Statement and a prospectus supplement dated June 28, 2021. The Company is required to pay the Sales Agents a commission of 3% of
the gross proceeds from the sale of shares and has also agreed to provide the Sales Agents with customary indemnification rights. During the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2021, the Company issued and sold 4,785,502 shares of its common stock at an average price of $0.76 per share under the
2021 ATM for aggregate net proceeds of $3.3 million after deducting commissions and offering expenses payable by the Company. From October 1, 2021
through November 5, 2021, the Company issued and sold 232,200 shares of its common stock at an average price of $0.67 per share under the 2021 ATM
for aggregate proceeds of $0.2 million after deducting commissions. As of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, the Company has
approximately $26.2 million available to be offered and sold under the 2021 ATM.
At-the-Market Offering Program - 2020
On June 8, 2020, the Company entered into a sales agreement with BTIG, LLC (“BTIG”) as sales agent to establish an at-the-market offering program
(“2020 ATM”), under which the Company was permitted to offer and sell, from time to time, shares of common stock having a maximum aggregate
offering price of up to $20.0 million. The Company was required to pay BTIG a commission of 3% of the gross proceeds from the sale of shares and also
agreed to provide BTIG with customary indemnification rights. During the nine months ended September 30, 2021, the Company issued and sold
6,931,607 shares of its common stock at an average price of $0.84 per share under the 2020 ATM for aggregate net proceeds of $5.5 million after deducting
commissions and offering expenses payable by the Company. The shares were sold pursuant to the Company’s 2020 Shelf Registration Statement and a
prospectus supplement dated June 8, 2020. As of June 30, 2021, no shares remained available for sale under the 2020 ATM.
Registered Direct Offering - March 2020
On March 4, 2020, the Company entered into a securities purchase agreement with certain institutional investors for the issuance and sale in a
registered direct offering (the “March 2020 Offering”) of (i) 11,903,506 shares of the Company’s common stock and (ii) Series E Warrants to purchase up
to a total of 11,903,506 shares of common stock at an offering price of $0.9275 per share and accompanying warrant. The Series E Warrants have an
exercise price of $0.8025 per share, were immediately exercisable and expire five years from the date of issuance. During the nine months ended
September 30, 2021, Series E Warrants to purchase 4,078,667 shares of common stock were exercised at an exercise price of $0.8025 per share for
aggregate proceeds of approximately $3.3 million. No Series E Warrants were exercised during the three months ended September 30, 2021. The shares
were sold pursuant to an effective shelf registration statement and a prospectus supplement dated March 4, 2020. As of the date of this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q, the Company has Series E Warrants to purchase 630,835 shares of common stock outstanding.
Public Offering - February 2020
On February 14, 2020, the Company closed an underwritten offering (the “February 2020 Offering”) for the issuance and sale of (i) 10,146,154 Class
A Units, each consisting of one share of common stock and one Series C Warrant to purchase one share of common stock, at a public offering price of
$0.65 per Class A Unit, and (ii) 2,161,539 Class B Units, each consisting of one Series D Pre-Funded Warrant to purchase one share of common stock and
one Series C Warrant to purchase one share of common stock, at a public offering price of $0.6499 per Class B Unit. The Series C Warrants have an
exercise price of $0.65 per share, were immediately exercisable and expire five years from the date of issuance. The Series D Pre-Funded Warrants had an
exercise price of $0.0001 per share and were fully exercised in connection with the closing of the offering. The Company
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granted the underwriter a 30-day option to purchase up to an additional 1,846,153 shares of common stock and/or additional Series C Warrants to purchase
up to 1,846,153 shares of common stock. The underwriter fully exercised its option to purchase the shares and the Series C Warrants. During the nine
months ended September 30, 2021, Series C Warrants to purchase 145,000 shares of common stock were exercised at an exercise price of $0.65 per share
for aggregate proceeds of approximately $0.1 million. No Series C Warrants were exercised during the three months ended September 30, 2021. The shares
were sold pursuant to an effective shelf registration statement and a prospectus supplement dated February 12, 2020. As of the date of this Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q, the Company has Series C Warrants to purchase 22,700 shares of common stock outstanding.
The Company intends to raise additional capital through the issuance of additional equity through public or private offerings, debt financings or
strategic alliances with pharmaceutical partners, or any combination of the above. However, there can be no assurances that, if the Company attempts to
raise additional capital, it will be successful in doing so on terms acceptable to the Company, or at all. The Company’s inability to obtain required funding
in the near future or its inability to obtain funding on favorable terms will have a material adverse effect on its operations and strategic development plan
for future growth. If the Company cannot successfully raise additional capital and implement its strategic development plan, its liquidity, financial
condition and business prospects will be materially and adversely affected, and it may have to cease its operations.
Further, there can be no assurance that it will be able to gain access and/or be able to execute on securing new sources of funding, new development
opportunities, successfully obtain regulatory approvals for and commercialize new products, achieve significant product revenues from its products (if
approved), or achieve or sustain profitability in the future. The Company will continue to evaluate its timelines, strategic needs and working capital
requirements.
COVID-19 Pandemic
On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization designated COVID-19 as a global pandemic. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, there has been
uncertainty in the global financial markets and economic conditions. The Company is closely monitoring the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on its
business, including how it will impact its employees, clinical trials and third-party service providers who perform critical services for the Company's
business. The pandemic did appear to negatively impact enrollment and conduct of the Company's cluster headache study. In addition, the impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic on the global financial markets and economic conditions could impact the Company's ability to raise capital through an equity
financing, debt financing, a license or collaboration or a combination of such sources of capital, and as a result, its ability to continue as a going concern.
The full extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic will directly or indirectly impact the Company's business, results of operations and financial condition
will depend on future developments that are highly uncertain, including as a result of new information that may emerge concerning COVID-19 and the
actions taken to contain or treat it. As of the date of issuance of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, management is not aware of any specific event or
circumstances that would require an update to its estimates or a revision of the carrying value of its assets or liabilities. These estimates may change, as new
events occur, and additional information is obtained.
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation and Use of Estimates
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”)
for interim financial information, the instructions to Form 10-Q and Regulation S-X. They do not include all the information and notes required by U.S.
GAAP for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, all adjustments (consisting of normal and recurring accruals) considered necessary
for a fair presentation have been included. Operating results for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 are not necessarily indicative of the
results that may be expected for the year ending December 31, 2021 or any other subsequent period. These financial statements should be read in
conjunction with the Company’s audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020, included in the Company’s annual report on Form 10K and filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on March 11, 2021. The preparation of the accompanying financial
statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of expenses during the
periods reported. Actual results could differ from those estimates or assumptions.
Significant Accounting Policies
There have been no significant changes to the Company’s accounting policies during the nine months ended September 30, 2021, as compared to the
significant accounting policies described in Note 2 of the "Notes to the Financial Statements" in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2020.
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Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash
The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of 90 days or less to be cash equivalents.
As of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the Company had restricted cash of approximately $0.5 million consisting primarily of deposits of
$0.3 million to secure its building lease until the end of the lease term and a deposit of approximately $0.1 million to a utility provider.
The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reported within the balance sheets and as presented as cash,
cash equivalents and restricted cash in the statements of cash flows:
September 30, 2021
September 30, 2020
(unaudited; in thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash

$

Total

$

17,147
455
17,602

$
$

43,554
455
44,009

Fair Value Instruments
The Company records its financial assets and liabilities at fair value. Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability (an exit price) in an orderly transaction between market participants at the reporting date. The accounting guidance establishes a threetiered hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in the valuation methodologies in measuring fair value as follows:
Level 1: Inputs which include quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.
Level 2: Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted
prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the
full term of the assets or liabilities.
Level 3: Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.
The carrying values of certain assets and liabilities of the Company, such as cash and cash equivalents and accounts payable, approximate fair value
due to their relatively short maturities. The carrying value of the Company’s short-term financial obligations approximates their fair value as the terms of
the borrowing are consistent with current market rates and the duration to maturity is short. The carrying value of the Company's long-term financial
obligations approximates fair value as interest rates approximate market rates that the Company could obtain for debt with similar terms and maturities.
Net Loss Per Common Share
Basic net loss per common share is calculated by dividing the net loss by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the
period, without consideration for potentially dilutive securities. Diluted net loss per common share is computed by dividing the net loss attributable to
common stockholders by the weighted-average number of common shares and potentially dilutive securities outstanding for the period determined using
the treasury-stock and if-converted methods. For purposes of the diluted net loss per share calculation, common stock warrants, stock options and restricted
stock units (“RSUs”) are considered to be potential dilutive securities but are excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share because their effect
would be anti-dilutive and therefore, basic and diluted net loss per share were the same for all periods presented.
The following outstanding common stock equivalents were excluded from the computations of diluted net loss per common share for the periods
presented as the effect of including such securities would be antidilutive:
September 30, 2021
September 30, 2020
(unaudited; shares)

Options to purchase common stock
RSUs
Warrants to purchase common stock

4,613,658
872,236
728,535
6,214,429

Total
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
In December 2019, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Accounting Standards Update 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying
the Accounting for Income Taxes. This new guidance simplifies the accounting for income taxes by removing certain exceptions to general principles,
clarifying requirements and including amendments to improve consistent application of the guidance. The guidance specifically removes the exception to
the incremental approach for intra period tax allocation when there is a loss from continuing operations and income or a gain from other items, such as
discontinued operations or other comprehensive income. The guidance also requires an entity to recognize a franchise tax that is partially based on income
as an income-based tax and to account for any other amounts incurred as a non-income based tax. The Company adopted the guidance beginning January 1,
2021 using a prospective approach. The adoption of the guidance did not have a material impact on its financial statements.
3. Master Services Agreement with Eversana
On August 6, 2020, the Company entered into a master services agreement (the “Eversana Agreement”) with Eversana Life Science Services, LLC
(“Eversana”) for the commercialization of M207 in the United States, if approved by the FDA. Under the terms of the Eversana Agreement, Eversana and
the Company will cooperate to conduct activities over the term of the Eversana Agreement. The Company maintains ownership of the M207 NDA as well
as all legal, regulatory and manufacturing responsibilities for M207. Eversana receives an exclusive right to conduct agreed commercialization activities
and will utilize its internal sales organization along with its other commercial capabilities for market access, marketing, distribution and patient support
services for M207. Eversana will receive reimbursement of certain commercialization costs pursuant to a commercialization budget estimated at
approximately $250.0 million and a low double digit to mid-teen percentage of product profits if and when Company net sales of M207 surpass certain
costs incurred by the parties pursuant to the commercialization budget.
The term of the Eversana Agreement is five years following the date, if any, that the FDA approves the M207 NDA. Upon expiration or termination of
the Eversana Agreement, the Company will retain all profits from product sales consummated after expiration or termination and assume all future
corresponding commercialization responsibilities. The Company may terminate the Eversana Agreement if Eversana fails to provide pre-commercial or
commercial plans and budgets by specified dates, if the Company decides to discontinue development or commercialization efforts for M207 in the United
States (subject to a termination payment if such termination occurs within a specified time period), or upon a change of control of the Company. Under the
original terms, either party could terminate the Eversana Agreement if FDA approval was not received by July 31, 2021, if net profits are not realized
within a specified time period following commercial launch, for material breach of the Eversana Agreement by the other party that is not cured within a
defined time period, for insolvency of the other party, if M207 is subject to a safety recall in the United States or if M207 is not commercially launched
within a specified time period after FDA approval of the NDA (other than by reason of the terminating party’s failure to perform its obligations under the
Eversana Agreement).
In addition, under the Eversana Agreement, following FDA approval of the M207 NDA, Eversana has agreed to provide a revolving credit facility of
up to $5.0 million (the “Credit Facility”) to the Company pursuant to a loan agreement to be entered into between Eversana and the Company on a
subsequent date. The loan will bear interest at an annual rate equal to 10.0%, to be paid monthly, and the Company will be able to prepay any amounts
borrowed under the Credit Facility at any time without penalty or premium. The Credit Facility will be secured by substantially all of the Company’s
assets, subject to prior liens and security interests.
On September 28, 2021, the Company entered into Amendment No. 1, effective as of September 29, 2021 (the “Eversana Amendment”), to the
Eversana Agreement, which modified the provision in the Eversana Agreement that provided for termination by either party of the Eversana Agreement if
FDA approval was not received by July 31, 2021 to December 31, 2021, with written notice within sixty days of such date. In addition, the Eversana
Amendment provides that if the NDA is approved, the deferral mechanism, payment terms and loan terms in the Eversana Agreement will be adjusted as
mutually agreed by both parties.
The Company is accounting for the Eversana Agreement as a collaborative arrangement. As of September 30, 2021, no material accruals, expenses,
payments, or revenues were recorded by the Company in connection with the Eversana Agreement.
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4. Cash Equivalents and Investments in Marketable Securities
The following table summarizes the Company's cash equivalents and investments in marketable securities at fair value on a recurring basis:
As of September 30, 2021:

Fair Value Measurements

Total

Money market funds classified as cash equivalents

$

15,420

Significant
unobservable
inputs
Level 3

Quoted prices in
Significant other
active market
observable inputs
Level 1
Level 2
(unaudited; in thousands)

$

15,420

As of December 31, 2020:

$

—

$

—

Fair Value Measurements

Total

Money market funds classified as cash equivalents

$

33,918

Significant
unobservable
inputs
Level 3

Quoted prices in
Significant other
active market
observable inputs
Level 1
Level 2
(in thousands)

$

33,918

$

—

$

—

5. Balance Sheet Components
Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets
The following table summarizes the Company’s prepaid expenses and other current assets for each of the periods presented:
September 30, 2021

December 31, 2020

(unaudited; in thousands)

Prepaid insurance
Prepaid software and subscriptions
Prepaid services
Other receivables
Unbilled revenue
Deferred offering costs
Other
Total

$

$

14

315
159
142
115
81
75
96
983

(in thousands)

$

$

66
118
97
—
124
48
—
453
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Property and Equipment
The following table summarizes the Company’s property and equipment for each of the periods presented:
September 30, 2021
(unaudited; in thousands)

Leasehold improvements
Manufacturing equipment
Laboratory and office equipment
Computer equipment and software
Construction-in-progress
Property and equipment at cost
Less: accumulated depreciation
Total

$

$

December 31, 2020
(in thousands)

24,301 $
15,013
1,641
181
20,750
61,886
(29,549)
32,337 $

24,212
14,893
1,641
172
18,239
59,157
(28,248)
30,909

Depreciation expense was approximately $0.4 million and $0.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
Depreciation expense was approximately $1.3 million and $1.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
Construction-in-progress (“CIP”) included $16.4 million and $14.6 million of an asset relating to the build-to-suit arrangement for construction of the
Company's commercial coating and primary packaging system as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively, of which capitalized
construction period interest was $3.2 million and $2.4 million as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively (See Note 7. Debt
Financing).
Other Accrued Liabilities
The following table summarizes the Company’s other accrued liabilities for each of the periods presented:
September 30, 2021
(unaudited; in thousands)

Contract manufacturing services
Professional service fees
Pre-clinical and clinical studies
Construction-in-progress obligations
Deferred revenue
Other

$

Total

$

655
575
326
305
47
184
2,092

December 31, 2020
(in thousands)

$

$

71
175
22
2,993
—
106
3,367

6. Leases
Operating Leases
The Company has a non-cancelable operating lease for office, research and development, and manufacturing facilities in Fremont, California through
August 31, 2024, with an option to further extend the lease for an additional 60 months subject to certain terms and conditions. The Company also has
operating leases for manufacturing space at two of its contract manufacturing organizations (“CMOs”). The operating leases are embedded in agreements
with these CMOs that include lease and non-lease components.
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The following table summarizes the impact of the Company's operating leases on its financial statements for each of the periods presented:
Three Months Ended September 30,
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020
2021
2020
(unaudited; in thousands)

Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss
Operating lease costs

$

439

$

422

$

1,317

$

1,266

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020
(Unaudited; in thousands)

Statements of Cash Flows
Operating cash flows from operating leases - cash paid for operating
leases

$

1,473

$

1,388

The following table summarizes the lease terms and discount rates for the Company's leases as of September 30, 2021:
(unaudited)

Weighted-average remaining lease term (in years)
Weighted-average discount rate

2.89
11 %

The following table summarizes the maturities of the Company's lease liabilities for each year ending December 31, as of September 30, 2021:
(unaudited; in thousands)

2021
2022
2023
2024
Total undiscounted cash flows
Less: amount representing interest

$

Present value of lease liabilities

$

Current portion
Long-term portion

$

Total

$

502
2,043
2,017
1,371
5,933
(879)
5,054
1,552
3,502
5,054

7. Debt Financing
Build-to-Suit Obligation with Trinity
The Company has a build-to-suit arrangement (the “Agreement”) with Trinity Funding 1, LLC (successor to Trinity Capital Fund III, L.P.) (“Trinity”)
to finance the third-party construction of the Company's commercial coating and primary packaging system (the “Equipment”), which was delivered in the
first quarter of 2021 and is currently being installed and qualified at the Company's CMO. Under the Agreement, Trinity provided the Company $14.0
million for equipment costs and associated soft costs (“Total Cost”), with an initial drawdown of $5.0 million and additional drawdowns in increments of
not less than $0.5 million. Under the Agreement, each individual drawdown represents a separate financing arrangement with its own term and stated
interest rate. Each drawdown is non-cancelable, with no prepayment options. In consideration of the financing arrangement, as collateral, the Company
granted Trinity a first-priority lien and security interest in substantially all of the Company's assets.
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On May 27, 2020, the Company entered into the First Amendment to Lease Documents (the “Trinity Amendment”). The Trinity Amendment, among
other things, extended each individual drawdown term from 36 months to 42 months by providing for an interest-only period from May 2020 through
October 2020. Principal payments recommenced November 1, 2020. Additionally, the Trinity Amendment removed all end-of-term options other than the
option to purchase the equipment at 12% of the Total Cost, which is equal to the drawdown amount (“Purchase Option Fee”), which the Company intends
to exercise at the end of each 42-month-term. The transfer of title from Trinity to the Company will occur at the end of the final 42-month-term, provided
that the purchase option was executed, and the Purchase Option Fee was paid in full at the end of each 42-month-term. The security interest will terminate
on the earlier to occur of (i) the date that falls six (6) months after the delivery and installation of the Equipment or (ii) payment in full of all amounts owed.
The Company accounted for the Trinity Amendment as a debt modification under ASC 470-50, as the amended terms were not substantially different from
the terms of the Agreement.
The Company determined that it controls the Equipment during the construction period due to its involvement in and its obligations related to the
construction of the Equipment. Accordingly, construction costs incurred were recorded as construction-in-progress, a component of property and equipment
on the balance sheet, and the Trinity financing obligation was recorded as a build-to-suit obligation on the balance sheet. As of September 30, 2021, the
Company had an aggregate commercial coating and primary packaging system CIP balance of $16.4 million, that included $3.2 million of interest related
to its build-to-suit obligation.
In connection with the build-to-suit arrangement, the Company issued common stock warrants (“Trinity Warrants”) for a total of 75,000 shares of
common stock at an exercise price of $3.5928 per share. The Trinity Warrants expire on September 25, 2025. Proceeds allocated to the Trinity Warrants
based on their relative fair value approximated $243,000 and were recorded as a discount to the initial $5.0 million drawdown under the Trinity financing
arrangement and are being amortized as interest over the term of the September 2018 drawdown.
The Trinity build-to-suit arrangement requires compliance with various affirmative and restrictive covenants in regard to making certain investments
and other restricted payments, engaging in mergers or consolidations, and the sale or transfer of certain assets. Failure to comply with any of these
covenants, or pay principal, interest or other amounts when due, would constitute an event of default under the applicable agreement. The Company was in
compliance with its covenants with respect to the Trinity build-to-suit arrangement as of September 30, 2021.
The following table summarizes the debt obligations as of September 30, 2021:
Drawdown
Amount

Drawdown Date

09/25/2018
12/11/2018
06/06/2019
09/13/2019
11/27/2019

$

Total

$

5,000
2,800
2,300
2,300
1,600
14,000

Discount on
Purchase
Purchase
Option Fee
Option Fee
(unaudited; in thousands)

Principal
Balance

$

$

775
689
968
1,162
896
4,490

$

$

600
336
276
276
192
1,680

$

$

Unamortized
Discounts and
Issuance Costs

(4) $
(5)
(11)
(15)
(13)
(48) $

17

(24) $
(15)
(35)
(51)
(45)
(170) $

Monthly
Payment

160
90
74
74
52
450

Stated Interest
Rate

9.43
9.68
9.93
9.93
9.93

%
%
%
%
%

Amended
Effective
Interest Rate

24.38
18.25
18.08
18.04
18.16

%
%
%
%
%

Maturity Date

04/01/2022
07/01/2022
01/01/2023
04/01/2023
06/01/2023
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The following table summarizes the Company's build-to-suit obligation as of September 30, 2021 (unaudited; in thousands):
Build-to-suit obligation principal amount
Build-to-suit obligation Purchase Option Fees at present value
Less: unamortized Purchase Option Fees
unamortized warrants, discounts and issuance costs

$

Build-to-suit obligation, net of debt issuance costs and discount

$

Build-to-suit obligation, current portion, net of debt issuance costs and discount
Build-to-suit obligation, long-term portion, net of debt issuance costs and discount

$

Build-to-suit obligation, net of debt issuance costs and discount

$

4,490
1,632
(140)
(30)
5,952
4,528
1,424
5,952

The following table summarizes future minimum payments on the Company’s build-to-suit obligation, including payments of principal and interest
and Purchase Option Fees for each year ending December 31 as of September 30, 2021:
Principal

2021
2022
2023

$

Total

$

Interest
Purchase Option Fees
(unaudited; in thousands)

1,239
2,979
272
4,490

$

$

111
189
8
308

$

$

—
936
744
1,680

Total

$

$

1,350
4,104
1,024
6,478

The following table summarizes interest incurred on the Company's build-to-suit obligation for each of the periods presented:
Three Months Ended September 30,
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020
2021
2020
(unaudited; in thousands)

Build-to-suit obligation, cash interest expense
Build-to-suit obligation, effective interest expense
Less: build-to-suit obligation, interest capitalized

$

Build-to-suit obligation interest expense

$

140 $
99
(223)
16 $

225 $
147
(217)
155 $

507 $
355
(735)
127 $

705
560
(746)
519

PPP Loan
On April 21, 2020, the Company executed a promissory note (the “PPP Note”) evidencing an unsecured loan in the amount of $1.6 million under the
Paycheck Protection Program (the “PPP Loan”). The Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”) was established under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and
Economic Security Act (the “CARES Act”) and is administered by the U.S. Small Business Administration (“SBA”). On June 10, 2021, the Company was
notified by its lender, Silicon Valley Bank, that its PPP Loan, in the amount of $1,610,000 in principal and $18,515 in accrued interest, was forgiven in its
entirety by the SBA. The forgiveness of the PPP Loan and accrued interest was recorded as a gain in other income (expense), net in the Company's
statement of operations in the second quarter of 2021.
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8. Common Stock Warrants
The following table summarizes the Company's issued and outstanding common stock warrants:
Warrants Outstanding
as of
December 31, 2020

Series E - March 2020
Series C - February 2020
Trinity - September 2018
Series B - August 2016
Total

4,709,502
167,700
75,000
195,906
5,148,108

Warrants Outstanding
as of
Issued

Exercised

—
—
—
—
—

Expired
unaudited

(4,078,667)
(145,000)
—
—
(4,223,667)

September 30, 2021

—
—
—
(195,906)
(195,906)

630,835
22,700
75,000
—
728,535

Exercise Price
per Share
Expiration Date

$
$
$

0.8025
0.6500
3.5928

03/06/25
02/14/25
09/25/25

Each warrant grants the holder the right to purchase one share of common stock. Equity warrants are recorded at their relative fair market value in the
stockholders’ equity section of the balance sheet. The Company’s equity warrants can only be settled through the issuance of shares and do not have any
anti-dilution or price reset provision.
9. Stock-Based Compensation
The following table summarizes activity under the Amended and Restated 2014 Equity and Incentive Plan (“2014 Plan”), the 2012 Stock Incentive
Plan and inducement grants issued to new employees outside of the 2014 Plan in accordance with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5635(c)(4) for the nine months
ended September 30, 2021 (unaudited):
Number of Shares
Subject to Outstanding
Stock Options

Outstanding at January 1, 2021
Granted
Released
Canceled/forfeited/expired

2,724,537
2,112,500
—
(223,379)
4,613,658

Outstanding at September 30, 2021

WeightedAverage Exercise
Price per Share

$
$
$
$

3.31
1.17
—
3.46

$

2.32

WeightedAverage Grant
Date Fair Value
per Share

Number of RSUs
Outstanding

335,004
670,250
(107,799)
(25,219)
872,236

$
$
$
$

0.84
1.17
0.84
1.04

$

1.09

On January 1, 2021, the number of shares of common stock authorized for issuance under the 2014 Plan was increased by 3,572,317 shares pursuant to
the automatic annual increase provisions of the 2014 Plan. As of September 30, 2021, 1,129,087 shares of common stock were available for issuance under
the 2014 Plan.
Stock-Based Compensation Expense
The following table summarizes the Company's stock compensation expense for each of the periods presented:
Three Months Ended September 30,
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020
2021
2020
(unaudited; in thousands)

Research and development
General and administrative
Total

$

185
312
497

$

$
$

177
262
439

$
$

505
930
1,435

$
$

507
657
1,164

10. Commitments and Contingencies
Contract Manufacturing Organizations
The Company has a technology transfer agreement and a manufacturing and supply agreement with a CMO to provide services related to the
manufacture and commercialization of M207. During the term of the agreement, the CMO will provide services related to processing, packaging, labeling
and storing M207, in addition to other services such as stability testing, quality control and assurance, and waste disposal.
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The agreements call for annual fees of $2.8 million in 2021 escalating to $14.0 million in 2024, to be paid in equal monthly installments. The annual
fee includes the production of a defined number of units with an option to purchase additional units at a defined price, the transfer of technology in 2021
and other operating expenses. The agreement contains negotiated representations and warranties, indemnification, limitations of liability, and other
provisions. The initial term of the manufacturing and supply agreement continues until the seventh anniversary of the date on which the Company receives
NDA approval of M207 in the United States.
The Company may terminate the agreements upon denial of regulatory approvals or if regulatory approvals are withdrawn under certain circumstances
for the cost to remove the Company's equipment and restore the CMO's facility, which is recorded as a liability on the balance sheet. The Company may
also elect to terminate the contracts for convenience, which would result in cancellation fees in the amount of 50% of the annual fee due in the year that the
contract is terminated, and costs to remove the Company's equipment and restore the CMO's facility. The Company or the CMO may terminate the
agreement for the other’s uncured material breach, uncured force majeure or bankruptcy or insolvency-related events.
The Company has non-cancelable commitments with this CMO for the construction of manufacturing space and technology transfer fees totaling
$3.0 million, of which $0.6 million was a current liability on the balance sheet as of September 30, 2021.
The Company has additional agreements with CMOs to provide services related to the manufacture and assembly of component parts of M207. Under
these agreements, the Company may be required to pay up to an aggregate of $7.4 million in various fees and minimum purchase requirements; however,
significant portions of these payments will not be required if the FDA does not approve M207, and no such payment will be required in the event of a
material breach by a CMO.
Indemnification and Guarantees
In the normal course of business, the Company enters into contracts and agreements that contain a variety of representations and warranties and
provide for general indemnifications. The Company’s exposure under these agreements is unknown because it involves claims that may be made against
the Company in the future but have not yet been made. To date, the Company has not paid any claims or been required to defend any action related to its
indemnification obligations. However, the Company may record charges in the future as a result of these indemnification obligations. The Company also
has indemnification obligations to its officers and directors for specified events or occurrences, subject to some limits, while they are serving at the
Company’s request in such capacities. There have been no claims to date and the Company has director and officer insurance that may enable the Company
to recover a portion of any amounts paid for future potential claims. The Company believes the fair value of these indemnification agreements is minimal.
Accordingly, the Company has not recorded any liabilities for these agreements as of September 30, 2021.
Legal Proceedings
On October 29, 2020 and November 6, 2020, two stockholders filed alleged class action lawsuits against the Company and certain of its current and
former executive officers in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California: Carr v. Zosano Pharma Corporation, et al., Case No.
3:20-cv-07625, and Becerra v. Zosano Pharma Corporation, et al., Case No. 3:20-cv-07850. The complaints were filed purportedly on behalf of all persons
who purchased or otherwise acquired the Company's securities between February 13, 2017 and September 30, 2020 (the “Class Period”). The complaints
alleged that the Company and certain of its current and former executive officers made false and/or misleading statements and failed to disclose material
adverse facts about the Company's business, operations and prospects in violation of Sections 10(b) (and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder) and 20(a) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). The plaintiffs sought damages, interest, costs, attorneys’ fees and other
unspecified relief. On February 4, 2021, the Carr and Becerra actions were consolidated and the court appointed two Co-Lead Plaintiffs and two law firms
as Co-Lead Counsel in the consolidated action (the “Securities Action”). The Co-Lead Plaintiffs filed their consolidated amended complaint on March 30,
2021, which alleged the same claims as the previous complaints and extended the Class Period through October 20, 2020. The Company filed a motion to
dismiss the consolidated amended complaint on May 14, 2021; the Co-Lead Plaintiffs filed their opposition brief on June 14, 2021; and the Company filed
a reply brief by July 6, 2021. The hearing on the motion was held on July 22, 2021 and the Court took the motion under submission. On September 1, 2021,
the Court issued an order granting the Company’s motion and dismissing in full the Securities Action (“Dismissal Order”), but granting the Co-Lead
Plaintiffs in the Securities Action leave to file an amended complaint within 30 days. The Co-Lead Plaintiffs in the Securities Action elected not to file an
amended complaint and, on October 8, 2021, the parties to the Securities Action filed a Joint Stipulation of Dismissal dismissing the Securities Action with
prejudice and waiving Co-Lead Plaintiffs’ right to appeal the Dismissal Order. The Joint Stipulation was approved by the Court the same day, ending the
Securities Action.
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On February 9, 2021, a stockholder filed a derivative action, purportedly on behalf of the Company (named as a nominal defendant), against certain of
the Company's current and former executive officers and directors in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware: Gensemer v. Lo, et al.,
Case No. 1:21-cv-00168 (the “Derivative Action”). The complaint alleged breaches of the defendants’ fiduciary duties as the Company's directors and/or
officers, unjust enrichment, abuse of control, gross mismanagement, waste of corporate assets, violations of Section 14(a) of the Exchange Act, and for
contribution under Sections 10(b) and 21D of the Exchange Act. The plaintiff sought damages, restitution, interest, attorneys’ fees and costs, and other
unspecified relief. Pursuant to stipulation of the parties, on March 24, 2021, the Court entered an order staying the Derivative Action, including all
deadlines, conferences and hearings, until the final resolution of the Company's motion to dismiss in the Securities Action, including through any
amendments and/or appeals. On October 18, 2021, the plaintiff elected to voluntarily dismiss the Derivative Action without prejudice, with each side
bearing their own costs and fees. The dismissal was approved by the Court on October 19, 2021, ending the Derivative Action.
Although both the Securities Action and Derivative Action have ended, the Company, from time to time, may be involved in other lawsuits and legal
proceedings, which arise in the ordinary course of business. Lawsuits and legal proceedings are subject to inherent uncertainties and an adverse result in
any lawsuit or legal proceeding may materially adversely affect the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations. The Company
accrues for contingencies when it believes that a loss is probable and that it can reasonably estimate the amount of any such loss. To the extent that there is
a reasonable possibility that a loss exceeding amounts already recognized may be incurred and the amount of such additional loss would be material, the
Company will either disclose the estimated additional loss or state that such an estimate cannot be made.
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Item 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with our financial statements and
the notes to those statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. In addition to historical financial information, this discussion and
analysis contains forward-looking statements that reflect our plans, estimates and beliefs. You should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking
statements, which involve risks and uncertainties. As a result of many factors, including but not limited to those set forth under ‘‘Risk Factors,’’ our actual
results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements. See “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.”
Overview
Zosano Pharma Corporation is a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company focused on providing rapid systemic administration of therapeutics and
other bioactive molecules to patients using our proprietary transdermal microneedle system (the “System”). Our System is designed to facilitate rapid drug
absorption into the bloodstream, which can result in an improved pharmacokinetic (“PK”) profile compared to original dosage forms. The System consists
of a 3cm2 to 6cm2 array of titanium microneedles approximately 200-350 microns in length, coated with a hydrophilic formulation of drug, mounted on an
adhesive patch. The patch is applied with a reusable hand-held applicator that presses the microneedles into the skin to a uniform depth in each application,
close to the capillary bed, allowing for dissolution and absorption of the drug, but not deep enough to contact the nerve endings in the skin. The
microneedles penetrate the stratum corneum to allow the drug to be absorbed into the microcapillary system of the skin. We are focused on developing
products for indications in which we believe rapid onset, ease of use and stability may offer significant therapeutic and practical advantages, and on
developing products where rapid administration of approved drugs with established safety and efficacy profiles provides an increased benefit to patients, in
markets where patients remain underserved by existing therapies. We anticipate that many of our current and future development programs may enable us
to utilize a regulatory pathway that would streamline clinical development and accelerate the path towards potential commercialization.
Our development efforts are currently focused on our product candidate, M207, our proprietary formulation of zolmitriptan delivered utilizing our
System. We are currently in the process of identifying an alternative proprietary name for M207. Zolmitriptan is one of a class of serotonin receptor
agonists known as triptans and is used as an acute treatment for migraine. Migraine is a debilitating neurological disease, symptoms of which include
moderate to severe headache pain, nausea and vomiting, and abnormal sensitivity to light and sound. M207 was developed with the intent of providing
faster onset of efficacy and sustained freedom from migraine symptoms. M207 is designed for rapid absorption of zolmitriptan into the bloodstream
without dependence on the gastrointestinal (“GI”) tract.
We submitted a 505(b)(2) New Drug Application (“NDA”) for M207 to the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (the “FDA”) on December 20, 2019,
and on October 20, 2020, we received a Complete Response Letter (“CRL”) from the FDA with respect to the NDA. The CRL cited inconsistent
zolmitriptan exposure levels observed across clinical pharmacology studies, which had been previously identified in the FDA’s discipline review letter that
we received on September 29, 2020. Specifically, the CRL noted differences in zolmitriptan exposures observed between subjects receiving different lots of
M207 in our trials and inadequate PK bridging between the lots that made interpretation of some safety data unclear. The CRL referenced unexpected high
plasma concentrations of zolmitriptan observed in five study subjects enrolled in our PK studies. The FDA recommended that we conduct a repeat
bioequivalence study comparing lots manufactured with the equipment used during development. The CRL noted that additional product quality validation
data, which were planned to be submitted following approval, if received, were required to be submitted with the application. In addition, the CRL
mentioned that due to U.S. Government and/or Agency-wide restrictions on travel, inspections of our contract manufacturing facilities were not able to be
conducted but would be required before the application may be approved.
On January 29, 2021, we held a Type A meeting with the FDA Division of Neurology II (the “Division”) regarding the requirements for resubmission
of the M207 NDA and, on February 19, 2021, we received the final meeting minutes from the FDA. The Type A meeting minutes were generally consistent
with our expectations to conduct an additional PK study for inclusion in an NDA resubmission package. In a post-meeting comment, the FDA
recommended a skin assessment on patients in the PK study to generate additional safety information which was included in the proposed study protocol
submitted to the FDA for review.
On April 12, 2021, we received FDA comments and recommendations to our proposed PK study protocol for M207. We made the recommended
changes to the study protocol and established an agreement with a contract research organization to conduct the PK study required to support the
resubmission of the M207 505(b)(2) NDA.
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On October 4, 2021, we announced that we had received preliminary top-line results from the PK study and had been granted a Type C written
response-only meeting with the FDA regarding the resubmission of the M207 NDA. The study included 48 healthy volunteers and evaluated approximately
2,500 samples utilizing lots of M207 produced with two different pieces of manufacturing equipment. The study was designed to evaluate safety and the
pharmacokinetics of M207 compared to a control of two 5 mg doses of intranasal zolmitriptan. The safety assessment showed that M207 was generally
well tolerated, consistent with previous studies. The PK study data showed that there were no outliers with unexpected high plasma concentrations of
zolmitriptan, which was a focus of the FDA as identified in the Complete Response Letter for the original M207 NDA.
The FDA had also raised questions regarding differences in zolmitriptan exposures observed between subjects receiving different lots of M207 in our
clinical trials. The PK study data showed that drug plasma concentration levels of M207 produced on manufacturing equipment at our Fremont, California
facility, which produced M207 patches for our long-term safety study, were lower compared to control and to M207 produced by alternative equipment,
that was the basis for our Phase 2/3 clinical efficacy data in our original NDA submission, but within ranges consistent with approved therapeutic dose
levels of zolmitriptan.
Based upon the data from our PK study and pending the receipt of Type C written responses from the FDA, which we expect to receive by midDecember, we plan to resubmit our M207 NDA with PK data primarily comparing Zomig® nasal spray and patches produced on the manufacturing
equipment at our Fremont, California facility. Our long-term safety study, which used patches produced on this equipment, also collected open-label
efficacy data, which we believe may provide supportive safety and efficacy evidence for M207. In contrast, our initial NDA submission relied on data and
results from our published pivotal Phase 2/3 clinical efficacy study as well as data and results from our long-term safety study.
On October 25, 2021, we received full data tables from our PK study, which were consistent with the preliminary top-line results announced on
October 4, 2021.
On October 27, 2021, we submitted a briefing package to the FDA in advance of the Type C written-response-only meeting previously granted by the
FDA, to obtain feedback on our strategy for resubmitting the M207 505(b)(2) NDA.
If FDA approval is received, we expect that commercialization of M207 would initially occur using drug product produced in the Fremont, California
facility, on a timeline yet to be determined. We do not anticipate realizing product revenues unless and until the FDA approves the M207 NDA and we
begin commercializing M207, which events may never occur.
Recent Developments
On July 20, 2021, we were granted an additional patent covering method of use of M207 with the issuance of U.S. Patent No. 11,058,630 titled Method
of Rapidly Achieving Therapeutic Concentrations of Triptans for the Treatment of Migraines. The newly issued patent covers methods for the release of
active drug from our microneedle system in about one minute and reaching potentially therapeutic levels as quickly as 30 minutes upon application. This
latest patent adds to our M207 patent portfolio, which now includes two U.S. patents with claims covering composition of matter and method of use for
M207 with expirations in 2037.
In October 2019, we announced that we had begun enrolling patients in our Acute Treatment of Cluster Headache placebo-controlled Phase 2/3 clinical
trial to evaluate the efficacy of C213 for the acute treatment of cluster headache. Like M207 for the potential acute treatment of migraine, C213 for the
potential acute treatment of cluster headache consists of our investigational proprietary formulation of zolmitriptan delivered utilizing our proprietary
transdermal microneedle system. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, new enrollment into the clinical trial was temporarily suspended between March 2020
and June 2020. Subject enrollment resumed in July 2020, however, at a rate slower than originally anticipated. In November 2020, we decided to end
enrollment of new subjects into the clinical trial as of December 31, 2020. Subjects enrolled in the Phase 2/3 trial prior to December 31, 2020, were
randomized to receive 1.9 mg of C213, 3.8 mg of C213, or placebo in a 1:1:1 fashion. The co-primary endpoints of the study are the proportion of patients
who achieve pain relief at 15 minutes and the proportion of patients whose pain relief is sustained from 15 minutes to 60 minutes. A total of 42 subjects
were randomized in the trial. Of the subjects randomized, 23 subjects treated a cluster attack with C213 and of those who treated, 22 had post-treatment
self-reported diary data. Of the treated subjects, eight received placebo, nine received 1.9 mg of C213 and five received 3.8 mg of C213. The percentage of
subjects who were positive for both co-primary endpoints (pain relief at 15 minutes and pain relief at 15 minutes sustained to 60 minutes) were 37.5%
placebo, 44.4% C213 1.9 mg and 100% C213 3.8 mg. There were five adverse events, all mild in intensity, reported by one placebo subject and three C213
1.9 mg subjects. The number of subjects who treated a cluster attack was not sufficient to perform pre-planned statistical comparisons.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates
Our management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our financial statements, which have been
prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”). The preparation of these financial statements requires
us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements, as well as the reported results of operations during the reporting periods. Our estimates are based on our historical
experience and on various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments
about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results could differ from these estimates under
different assumptions or conditions.
There have been no significant changes to our critical accounting policies which are included in Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
to the financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, filed with the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on March 11, 2021.
Financial Operations Overview
General
As of September 30, 2021, we had an accumulated deficit of approximately $355.1 million. We have incurred significant losses and expect to incur
significant and increasing losses in the foreseeable future as we advance our M207 product candidate into later stages of development and, if approved,
commercialization. We cannot assure you that we will receive additional capital or collaboration revenue in the future, as a result of any partnership that we
might pursue.
We expect our pre-commercialization expenses related to our M207 product candidate to increase as we continue to advance this program towards
regulatory approval and, if approved, commercialization. Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with our technology and drug
development, we cannot forecast with any degree of certainty the timing or amount of expenses incurred or when, or if, we will be able to achieve
profitability. We do not anticipate realizing product revenues unless and until the FDA approves our M207 NDA and we begin commercializing M207,
which may never occur.
We will require additional capital to undertake our planned research and development activities, pre-commercialization activities, and to meet our
operating requirements in and beyond 2021. We intend to raise such capital through the issuance of additional equity through public or private offerings,
debt financings, strategic alliances, or any combination of the above. However, if such financing is not available at adequate levels or on acceptable terms,
we could be required to further reduce our operating expenses and suspend, delay or reduce the scope of our M207 development program, out-license
intellectual property rights to our transdermal delivery technology, or a combination of the above, which may have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations, financial condition and/or our ability to fund our scheduled obligations on a timely basis or at all.
We are actively seeking opportunities to evaluate collaborations with strategic partners to further the clinical and commercial development of our
technology. We cannot forecast with any degree of certainty if we will enter into collaborations for M207 or any other potential future use of our
technology or how such arrangements would affect our development plans or capital requirements. As a result of these uncertainties, we are unable to
determine the duration and completion of costs of our research and development projects or if, when and to what extent we will generate revenue from their
commercialization and sale. Additionally, a future collaborative partner may only be interested in applying our technology in the development and
advancement of their own product candidates.
The process of conducting the necessary clinical trials to obtain regulatory approval is costly and time consuming. We consider the active management
and development of our clinical pipeline to be crucial to our long-term success. The actual probability of success for each product candidate and clinical
program may be affected by a variety of factors, including, but not limited to: the quality of the product candidate, early clinical data, investment in the
program, competition, manufacturing capability and commercial viability. In situations in which third parties have control over the clinical development of
a product candidate, the estimated completion dates are largely under the control of such third parties and not under our control.
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Service revenue
Service revenue is related to feasibility studies in which we provide research and development services to customers to determine the feasibility of
using our System in connection with the customers’ pharmaceutical agents. In the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, we recognized
revenue on agreements with three pharmaceutical companies for such studies. Subsequent to the successful completion of all of our development
responsibilities, one such agreement, with Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma Corporation, ended in the third quarter of 2021 as Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma
Corporation determined that they would not continue with the in vivo portion of the study. We expect service revenue to fluctuate based on the volume and
activity of the feasibility studies.
Cost of service revenue
Cost of service revenue consists of personnel and material costs associated with feasibility studies. In the three and nine months ended September 30,
2021, we incurred costs related to three such studies. We expect cost of service revenue to fluctuate in 2021 based on the volume and activity of the
feasibility studies.
Research and development expenses
Research and development expenses consist primarily of:
•

Salaries and related expenses for personnel in research and development functions, including stock-based compensation;

•

Expenses related to the production of our System, including the purchase of active pharmaceutical ingredients and raw materials as well as fees
paid to contract manufacturing organizations;

•

Expenses related to the performance of drug formulation and clinical trials and studies, including fees paid to CROs, clinical consultants,
clinical trial sites and vendors, including Institutional Review Boards, in conjunction with implementing and monitoring our clinical trials and
acquiring and evaluating clinical trial data, including all related fees, such as for investigator grants, patient screening fees, laboratory work
and statistical compilation and analysis; and

•

Allocation of certain shared costs, such as facilities-related costs.

In the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, our research and development efforts and resources focused primarily on advancing the
development of M207.
General and administrative expenses
General and administrative expenses consist principally of personnel-related costs, professional fees for legal, consulting, audit and tax services and
other general operating expenses not otherwise included in research and development. We expect that our general and administrative expenses will increase
as we move toward commercialization of our product candidate, M207, if approved.
Other income and expense
Interest income. Interest income consists primarily of interest, amortization of purchase premiums and accretion of purchase discounts, if any, related
to our investments in marketable securities.
Interest expense. Interest expense consists primarily of interest costs and associated amortization of debt discounts and issuance costs, if any, related to
debt financing.
Other income (expense). Other income (expense), net consists of miscellaneous income and expenses that are not included in other categories of the
statement of operations.
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Results of Operations
Comparison of the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020
Three Months Ended September 30,
Change
2021
2020
Amount
(unaudited; in thousands, except percentages)

Service revenue
Operating expenses:
Cost of service revenue
Research and development
General and administrative
Other income (expense):
Interest income
Interest expense
Other income (expense), net

%

$

252

$

—

$

252

N/A

$
$
$

340
5,985
2,522

$
$
$

—
5,824
2,704

$
$
$

340
161
(182)

N/A
3%
(7)%

2 $
(165) $
4 $

(1)
148
(61)

(50)%
(90)%
*

$
$
$

1 $
(17) $
(57) $

* Not meaningful.

Service revenue
For the three months ended September 30, 2021, service revenue related to agreements with two pharmaceutical companies for feasibility studies. We
expect service revenue to fluctuate based on the volume and activity of feasibility studies.
Cost of service revenue
For the three months ended September 30, 2021, cost of service revenue related to two feasibility studies. We expect cost of service revenue to
fluctuate in 2021 based on the volume and activity of feasibility studies.
Research and development expenses
Research and development expenses increased approximately $0.2 million, or 3%, for the three months ended September 30, 2021, as compared to the
same period in 2020. The increase was primarily due to an increase of $0.7 million in spending for clinical trials, partially offset by decreases of $0.4
million in employee and consulting costs and employee costs recorded as cost of service for work performed on our feasibility agreements, and $0.1
million in other costs.
General and administrative expenses
General and administrative expenses decreased approximately $0.2 million, or 7%, for the three months ended September 30, 2021, as compared to the
same period in 2020. The change was primarily due to a decrease of $0.2 million in consulting and professional services expenses.
Other income and expense
Interest income. For the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, interest income resulted primarily from interest recognized related to
investments in marketable securities. The decrease for the three months ended September 30, 2021 as compared to the same period in 2020 resulted
primarily from lower interest rates.
Interest expense. For the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, interest expense consisted primarily of interest and amortization of debt
discount. The decrease in interest expense resulted from a lower outstanding balance on our build-to-suit obligation with Trinity Funding 1, LLC (successor
to Trinity Capital Fund III, L.P.) (“Trinity”) during the three months ended September 30, 2021 as compared to the three months ended September 30,
2020. For the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, we capitalized a portion of interest paid to Trinity as construction-in-progress.
Other income (expense), net. Other income (expense), net consists of miscellaneous income and expenses that are not included in other categories of
the statement of operations. For the three months ended September 30, 2021, other income (expense), net consisted primarily of a loss on disposal of fixed
assets.
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Comparison of the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020
Nine Months Ended September 30,
Change
2021
2020
Amount
(unaudited; in thousands, except percentages)

Service revenue
Operating expenses:
Cost of service revenue
Research and development
General and administrative
Other income (expense):
Interest income
Interest expense
Other income (expense), net

%

$

698

$

—

$

698

N/A

$
$
$

704
16,315
8,294

$
$
$

—
16,270
8,552

$
$
$

704
45
(258)

N/A
—%
(3)%

17 $
(561) $
95 $

(15)
425
1,700

(88)%
(76)%
*

$
$
$

2 $
(136) $
1,795 $

* Not meaningful.

Service revenue
For the nine months ended September 30, 2021, service revenue related to agreements with three pharmaceutical companies for feasibility studies. We
expect service revenue to fluctuate based on the volume and activity of feasibility studies.
Cost of service revenue
For the nine months ended September 30, 2021, cost of service revenue related to three feasibility studies. We expect cost of service revenue to
fluctuate in 2021 based on the volume and activity of the feasibility studies.
Research and development expenses
Research and development expenses were substantially the same for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020. Increases of $0.8 million in
clinical trial costs, $0.3 million of additional depreciation related to assets placed into service at our contract manufacturing organizations, and $0.2 million
in production and manufacturing costs due to the scale up and technology transfer to our commercial manufacturing organizations, were primarily offset by
a reduction of $1.3 million in employee and temporary employee costs due to lower employee and consulting costs and employee costs recorded as cost of
service for work performed on our feasibility agreements.
General and administrative expenses
General and administrative expenses decreased approximately $0.3 million, or 3%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, as compared to the
same period in 2020. The decrease was primarily due to a decrease of $0.4 million in professional service fees, offset by an increase of $0.1 million in
insurance costs.
Other income and expense
Interest income. For the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, interest income resulted primarily from interest recognized related to
investments in marketable securities. The decrease for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 as compared to the same period in 2020 resulted from
lower interest rates.
Interest expense. For the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, interest expense consisted primarily of interest and amortization of debt
discount. The decrease in interest expense resulted from a lower outstanding balance on our build-to-suit obligation with Trinity during the nine months
ended September 30, 2021 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2020. For the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, we
capitalized a portion of interest paid to Trinity as construction-in-progress.
Other income (expense), net. Other income (expense), net consists of miscellaneous income and expenses that are not included in other categories of
the statement of operations. For the nine months ended September 30, 2021, other income (expense), net consisted primarily of a gain on the forgiveness of
our Paycheck Protection Program loan.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Our liquidity and capital resources are summarized as follows:
September 30, 2021
(unaudited;
in thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents
Working capital*
Accumulated deficit

$
$
$

December 31, 2020

17,147 $
6,491 $
(355,144) $

(in thousands)

35,263
21,205
(332,190)

* We define working capital as current assets less current liabilities. See our financial statements and the related notes included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for further
details regarding our current assets and current liabilities.

As of September 30, 2021, we had approximately $17.1 million in cash and cash equivalents, $6.5 million of working capital and an accumulated
deficit of $355.1 million. The decrease in cash and cash equivalents and working capital as of September 30, 2021 as compared to December 31, 2020 was
primarily the result of our loss from operations, investments made in property and equipment and our payments to Trinity, offset primarily by cash received
from the sale of shares of our common stock through our at-the-market offering programs and warrant exercises. Presently, we do not have sufficient cash
and cash equivalents to enable us to fund our anticipated level of operations and meet our obligations as they become due during the twelve months
following the date of filing of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, and we will need to obtain additional capital resources through equity offerings, debt
financings, a license or collaboration agreement, or through a combination of such sources of capital. The aforementioned factors raise substantial doubt
about our ability to continue as a going concern.
We filed a shelf registration statement on Form S-3 with the SEC, which was declared effective by the SEC on April 16, 2020 (the “2020 Shelf
Registration Statement”). The 2020 Shelf Registration Statement provides us with the ability to issue common stock and other securities as described in the
registration statement from time to time up to an aggregate amount of $74.5 million, of which approximately $3.7 million was available at September 30,
2021.
Additionally, we filed a shelf registration statement on Form S-3 with the SEC, which was declared effective by the SEC on July 14, 2021 (“2021
Shelf Registration Statement”). The 2021 Shelf Registration Statement provides us with the ability to issue common stock and other securities as described
in the registration statement from time to time up to an aggregate amount of $150.0 million.
Our ability to complete the sale of equity securities and access the market as a source of liquidity is dependent on investor demand, market conditions
and other factors. Therefore, we can provide no assurance that any such offering will be on terms favorable to us or our stockholders, or that such offering
will be successful at all. Our inability to obtain required funding in the near future or our inability to obtain funding on favorable terms will have a material
adverse effect on our operations and strategic development plan for future growth. If we cannot successfully raise additional capital and implement our
strategic development plan, our liquidity, financial condition and business prospects will be materially and adversely affected, and we may have to cease
operations.
We expect to incur additional losses in the future and will require additional financing to develop our M207 product candidate, conduct precommercialization manufacturing activities and fund our operations. If we are unable to raise additional funds when needed, we may be required to
suspend, delay, reduce or terminate our development programs and clinical trials. We may also be required to sell or license our technologies, clinical
product candidates, or programs, if any, that we would prefer to develop and commercialize ourselves.
We anticipate that we will need to raise substantial additional capital, the requirements of which will depend on many factors, including:
•

the scope, progress, expansion and costs of manufacturing our product candidates;

•

the timing of and costs involved in obtaining regulatory approvals;

•

the scope, progress, expansion, costs and results of our clinical trials;

•

the type, number, costs and results of the product candidate development programs which we are pursuing or may choose to pursue in the
future;

•

our ability to establish and maintain development partnering arrangements;
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•

the timing, receipt and amount of contingent, royalty and other payments from any of our future development partners;

•

the emergence of competing technologies and other adverse market developments;

•

the costs of maintaining, expanding and protecting our intellectual property portfolio, including potential litigation costs and liabilities;

•

the economic and global financial market uncertainty resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic;

•

the resources we devote to marketing and commercializing our product candidates, if approved; and

•

the costs associated with being a public company.

The COVID-19 pandemic has caused volatility in the global financial markets and threatened a slowdown in the global economy, which may adversely
affect our ability to raise additional capital on attractive terms or at all. A recession, depression or other sustained adverse market event resulting from the
spread of COVID-19 may also limit our ability to obtain financing for our operations.
Cash Flows
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020
(unaudited; in thousands)

Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities
Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash

$

$

(21,759) $
(5,015)
8,658
(18,116) $

(25,436)
(7,711)
70,385
37,238

Operating Cash Flow: Net cash used in operating activities for the nine months ended September 30 in both 2021 and 2020 was primarily related to
personnel, manufacturing, facility and technology transfer and development costs in conjunction with services performed by our contract manufacturers,
clinical development and trial costs, other pre-commercial activities and other administrative expenses incurred in the course of our continuing operations.
The changes in net cash used in operating activities were primarily related to our net loss, working capital fluctuations and changes in our non-cash
expenses, all of which are highly variable.
Net cash used in operating activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 of $21.8 million was primarily due to our net loss of $23.0 million,
adjusted for non-cash items of $2.1 million, consisting primarily of $1.4 million of stock-based compensation, $1.3 million of depreciation and
amortization and $0.9 million of change in operating lease right-of-use assets, offset by $1.6 million of a gain on forgiveness of debt. Additionally, we used
cash of $1.0 million for changes in operating lease liabilities. Net cash used in operating activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 of $25.4
million was primarily due to our net loss of $25.3 million, adjusted for non-cash items of $3.1 million consisting primarily of $1.2 million of stock-based
compensation, $1.0 million of depreciation and amortization and $0.7 million of change in operating lease right-of-use assets. Additionally, we used cash of
approximately $2.2 million for changes in accounts payable and accrued compensation and other accrued liabilities and $0.8 million for changes in
operating lease liabilities.
Investing Cash Flow: Net cash used in investing activities of $5.0 million and $7.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020,
respectively, was the result of property and equipment purchases to support our pre-commercialization activities.
Financing Cash Flow: Net cash provided by financing activities of $8.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 was primarily due to
the proceeds from the issuance of common stock under our 2020 and 2021 at-the-market offering programs of $8.8 million and from the exercise of
warrants of $3.4 million. These proceeds were offset by repayments on the Trinity build-to-suit obligation of $3.6 million. See below for a further
discussion of our equity activity during the first nine months of 2021. Net cash provided by financing activities for the first nine months of 2020 was
primarily due to $29.0 million of net proceeds from public underwritten offerings, $16.3 million of net proceeds from ATM offerings, $14.9 million from
the exercise of warrants, $10.1 million of net proceeds from a registered direct offering, and $1.6 million of proceeds from a PPP loan, offset by $1.5
million in principal payments on our build-to-suit obligation with Trinity.
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2021 Issuance of Shares
At-the-Market Offering Program - 2021
On June 28, 2021, we entered into a Controlled Equity Offering Sales Agreement with Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. and H.C. Wainwright & Co., LLC
(together, the “Sales Agents”) to establish an at-the-market offering program (“2021 ATM”), under which we may sell from time to time, at our option, up
to an aggregate of $30.0 million of shares of our common stock. Shares sold under the 2021 ATM are issued pursuant to our 2020 Shelf Registration
Statement and a prospectus supplement dated June 28, 2021. We are required to pay the Sales Agents a commission of 3% of the gross proceeds from the
sale of shares and have also agreed to provide the Sales Agents with customary indemnification rights. During the three and nine months ended September
30, 2021, we issued and sold 4,785,502 shares of our common stock at an average price of $0.76 per share under the 2021 ATM for aggregate net proceeds
of $3.3 million after deducting commissions and offering expenses payable by us. From October 1, 2021 through November 5, 2021, we issued and sold
232,200 shares of our common stock at an average price of $0.67 per share under the 2021 ATM for aggregate proceeds of $0.2 million after deducting
commissions. As of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, we have approximately $26.2 million available to be offered and sold under the 2021
ATM.
At-the-Market Offering Program - 2020
On June 8, 2020, we entered into a sales agreement with BTIG, LLC (“BTIG”) as sales agent to establish an at-the-market offering program (“2020
ATM”), under which we were permitted to offer and sell, from time to time, shares of common stock having a maximum aggregate offering price of up to
$20.0 million. We were required to pay BTIG a commission of 3% of the gross proceeds from the sale of shares and also agreed to provide BTIG with
customary indemnification rights. During the nine months ended September 30, 2021, we issued and sold 6,931,607 shares of our common stock at an
average price of $0.84 per share under the 2020 ATM for aggregate net proceeds of $5.5 million after deducting commissions and offering expenses
payable by us. The shares were sold pursuant to our 2020 Shelf Registration Statement and a prospectus supplement dated June 8, 2020. As of June 30,
2021, no shares remained available for sale under the 2020 ATM.
Registered Direct Offering - March 2020
On March 4, 2020, we entered into a securities purchase agreement with certain institutional investors for the issuance and sale in a registered direct
offering (the “March 2020 Offering”) of (i) 11,903,506 shares of our common stock and (ii) Series E Warrants to purchase up to a total of 11,903,506
shares of common stock at an offering price of $0.9275 per share and accompanying warrant. The Series E Warrants have an exercise price of $0.8025 per
share, were immediately exercisable and expire five years from the date of issuance. During the nine months ended September 30, 2021, Series E Warrants
to purchase 4,078,667 shares of common stock were exercised at an exercise price of $0.8025 per share for aggregate proceeds of approximately $3.3
million. No Series E Warrants were exercised during the three months ended September 30, 2021. The shares were sold pursuant to an effective shelf
registration statement and a prospectus supplement dated March 4, 2020. As of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, we have Series E Warrants
to purchase 630,835 shares of our common stock outstanding.
Public Offering - February 2020
On February 14, 2020, we closed an underwritten offering (the “February 2020 Offering”) for the issuance and sale of (i) 10,146,154 Class A Units,
each consisting of one share of common stock and one Series C Warrant to purchase one share of common stock, at a public offering price of $0.65 per
Class A Unit, and (ii) 2,161,539 Class B Units, each consisting of one Series D Pre-Funded Warrant to purchase one share of common stock and one Series
C Warrant to purchase one share of common stock, at a public offering price of $0.6499 per Class B Unit. The Series C Warrants have an exercise price of
$0.65 per share, were immediately exercisable and will expire five years from the date of issuance. The Series D Pre-Funded Warrants had an exercise price
of $0.0001 per share and were fully exercised in connection with the closing of the offering. We granted the underwriter a 30-day option to purchase up to
an additional 1,846,153 shares of common stock and/or additional Series C Warrants to purchase up to 1,846,153 shares of common stock. The underwriter
fully exercised its option to purchase the shares and the Series C Warrants. During the nine months ended September 30, 2021, Series C Warrants to
purchase 145,000 shares of common stock were exercised at an exercise price of $0.65 per share for aggregate proceeds of approximately $0.1 million. No
Series C Warrants were exercised during the three months ended September 30, 2021. The shares were sold pursuant to an effective shelf registration
statement and a prospectus supplement dated February 12, 2020. As of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, we have Series C Warrants to
purchase 22,700 shares of our common stock outstanding.
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Contractual Obligations
During the nine months ended September 30, 2021, there were no material changes to our contractual obligations described under Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations contained in Part II, Item 7 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for our fiscal
year ended December 31, 2020, filed with the SEC on March 11, 2021, other than the fulfillment of existing obligations in the ordinary course of business.
See Note 10. Commitments and Contingencies of the Notes to Financial Statements included in Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for more
information regarding our contractual obligations.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies of the Notes to Financial Statements included in Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10Q for a summary of Recent Accounting Pronouncements.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We have not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements and do not have any holdings in variable interest entities.
Item 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
We are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business. Some of the securities that we invest in have market risk where a change in
prevailing interest rates may cause the principal amount of the marketable securities to fluctuate. Financial instruments which potentially subject us to
concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, as well as investments in marketable securities. We had cash and cash
equivalents of $17.1 million as of September 30, 2021, which consisted of bank deposits and money market accounts. The primary objectives of our
investment activities are to ensure liquidity and to preserve principal while at the same time maximizing the income we receive from our marketable
securities without significantly increasing risk. Additionally, we established guidelines regarding approved investments and maturities of investments,
which are designed to maintain safety and liquidity.
Our cash and cash equivalents are held for working capital purposes. Cash balances are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
(“FDIC”) up to regulatory limits, and we are exposed to credit risk when our cash balances exceed FDIC insurance limits. Our total cash and cash
equivalent balances exceed the maximum amounts insured by the FDIC.
Our primary exposure to market risk is interest rate sensitivity, which is affected by changes in the general level of United States interest rates. We hold
interest-earning instruments, which carry a degree of interest rate risk. To date, fluctuations in interest income and expense have not been significant.
However, fluctuations in market interest rates in the future could have a material impact on our financial condition and results of operations.
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Item 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures as of September 30, 2021. The term “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by the company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported, within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include,
without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, is accumulated and communicated to the company's management, including its principal executive and
principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.
Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of September 30, 2021, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to, and are effective to, provide assurance at a reasonable level that the
information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within
the time periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.
Our management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of
achieving their objectives and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities and Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended) during the quarter ended September 30, 2021, that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal
control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
On October 29, 2020 and November 6, 2020, two stockholders filed alleged class action lawsuits against us and certain of our current and former
executive officers in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California: Carr v. Zosano Pharma Corporation, et al., Case No. 3:20-cv07625, and Becerra v. Zosano Pharma Corporation, et al., Case No. 3:20-cv-07850. The complaints were filed purportedly on behalf of all persons who
purchased or otherwise acquired our securities between February 13, 2017 and September 30, 2020 (the “Class Period”). The complaints alleged that we
and certain of our current and former executive officers made false and/or misleading statements and failed to disclose material adverse facts about our
business, operations and prospects in violation of Sections 10(b) (and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). The plaintiffs sought damages, interest, costs, attorneys’ fees and other unspecified relief. On February 4, 2021,
the Carr and Becerra actions were consolidated and the court appointed two Co-Lead Plaintiffs and two law firms as Co-Lead Counsel in the consolidated
action (the “Securities Action”). The Co-Lead Plaintiffs filed their consolidated amended complaint on March 30, 2021, which alleged the same claims as
the previous complaints and extended the Class Period through October 20, 2020. We filed a motion to dismiss the consolidated amended complaint on
May 14, 2021; the Co-Lead Plaintiffs filed their opposition brief on June 14, 2021; and we filed a reply brief on July 6, 2021. The hearing on the motion
was held on July 22, 2021 and the court took the motion under submission. On September 1, 2021, the Court issued an order granting our motion and
dismissing in full the Securities Action (“Dismissal Order”), but granting the Co-Lead Plaintiffs in the Securities Action leave to file an amended complaint
within 30 days. The Co-Lead Plaintiffs in the Securities Action elected not to file an amended complaint and, on October 8, 2021, the parties to the
Securities Action filed a Joint Stipulation of Dismissal dismissing the Securities Action with prejudice and waiving Co-Lead Plaintiffs’ right to appeal the
Dismissal Order. The Joint Stipulation was approved by the Court the same day, ending the Securities Action.
On February 9, 2021, a stockholder filed a derivative action, purportedly on behalf of Zosano Pharma Corporation (named as a nominal defendant),
against certain of our current and former executive officers and directors in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware: Gensemer v. Lo, et
al., Case No. 1:21-cv-00168 (the “Derivative Action”). The complaint alleged breaches of the defendants’ fiduciary duties as our directors and/or officers,
unjust enrichment, abuse of control, gross mismanagement, waste of corporate assets, violations of Section 14(a) of the Exchange Act, and for contribution
under Sections 10(b) and 21D of the Exchange Act. The plaintiff sought damages, restitution, interest, attorneys’ fees and costs, and other unspecified
relief. Pursuant to stipulation of the parties, on March 24, 2021, the Court entered an order staying the Derivative Action, including all deadlines,
conferences and hearings, until the final resolution of our anticipated motion to dismiss in the Securities Action, including through any amendments and/or
appeals. On October 18, 2021, the plaintiff elected to voluntarily dismiss the Derivative Action without prejudice, with each side bearing their own costs
and fees. The dismissal was approved by the Court on October 19, 2021, ending the Derivative Action.
Although both the Securities Action and Derivative Action have ended, from time to time, we may be involved in other lawsuits and legal proceedings,
which arise in the ordinary course of business. Lawsuits and legal proceedings are subject to inherent uncertainties and an adverse result in any lawsuit or
legal proceeding may materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, even if not meritorious, these
matters could result in the expenditure of significant financial resources and diversion of management efforts.
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Item 1A. RISK FACTORS
Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the following risks and uncertainties, as well as general
economic and business risks, and all of the other information contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K and this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q,
including our financial statements and related notes thereto, and other documents that we file with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).
Any of the following risks could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results, financial condition and prospects and cause the trading
price of our common stock to decline, which would cause you to lose all or part of your investment. Any of the following risks and uncertainties are, and
will be, exacerbated by COVID-19 pandemic and any worsening of the global business and economic environment as a result.
RISKS RELATED TO OUR FINANCIAL POSITION AND NEED FOR ADDITIONAL CAPITAL
We will need substantial additional funding to fund our operations, and we may not be able to continue as a going concern if we are unable to do so.
We could also be forced to delay, reduce or terminate our product development, other operations or commercialization effort.
Developing and commercializing biopharmaceutical products, including launching new products into the marketplace and conducting preclinical
studies and clinical trials, is an expensive and highly uncertain process that takes years to complete. As of September 30, 2021, we had an accumulated
deficit of $355.1 million and approximately $17.1 million in cash and cash equivalents as well as negative cash flows from operating activities. We do not
have sufficient cash and cash equivalents to fund our anticipated level of operations as they become due during the twelve months following the date of
filing of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. The aforementioned factors raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern.
There is no assurance that additional funds will be obtained for our ongoing operations or that we will succeed in our future operations. Specifically,
the COVID-19 pandemic has caused volatility in the global financial markets and threatened a slowdown in the global economy, which may adversely
affect our ability to raise additional capital on attractive terms or at all. A recession, depression or other sustained adverse market event resulting from the
spread of COVID-19 may also limit our ability to obtain financing for our operations. In addition, our audited financial statements included in our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 and our unaudited financial statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
include an explanatory paragraph regarding our ability to continue as a going concern which may discourage some third parties from contracting with us
and some investors from purchasing our stock or providing alternative capital financing, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects.
We have a history of operating losses. We expect to continue to incur losses over the next several years and may never become profitable.
Since inception, we have incurred significant operating losses. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2020 and the nine months ended
September 30, 2021, we incurred a net loss of $33.4 million and $23.0 million, respectively, and, as of September 30, 2021, we had an accumulated deficit
of $355.1 million. We expect to continue to incur additional significant operating losses and capital expenditures and anticipate that our expenses will
increase substantially in the foreseeable future as we continue the development of our product candidate, M207, or any other product candidates. These
expenditures will be incurred for manufacturing, development, clinical trials, regulatory compliance and infrastructure. Even if we succeed in developing,
obtaining regulatory approval for and commercializing M207 or any other product candidates that we develop, because of the numerous risks and
uncertainties associated with our commercialization efforts, we are unable to predict that we will ever be able to manufacture, distribute and sell any of our
products profitably, and we may never generate revenue that is significant enough to achieve or maintain profitability. Even if we do achieve profitability,
we may not be able to sustain or increase profitability on an ongoing basis.
We have generated only limited revenues and will need additional capital to develop and commercialize our product candidates, which may cause
dilution to our existing stockholders, restrict our operations or require us to relinquish rights to our technologies or lead product candidates.
Since inception, we have generated no revenues from product sales. We are not approved to make and have not made any commercial sales of
products. We expect that our product development activities will require additional significant operating and capital expenditures resulting in negative cash
flow for the foreseeable future.
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We expect to finance our cash needs through a combination of equity offerings, debt financing and license and collaboration agreements. In addition,
we may seek additional capital due to favorable market conditions or strategic considerations, even if we believe we have sufficient funds for our current or
future operating plans.
However, adequate and additional funding may not be available to us on acceptable terms or at all. To the extent that we raise additional capital
through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, your ownership interest will be diluted, and the terms of these securities may include liquidation or
other preferences that adversely affect your rights as a common stockholder. Debt financing and preferred equity financing, if available, may involve
agreements that include covenants limiting or restricting our ability to take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures
or declaring dividends on our common stock.
If we raise additional funds through collaborations, strategic alliances or marketing, distribution or licensing arrangements with third parties, we may
be required to relinquish valuable rights to our research programs or product candidates or grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us.
If we are unable to raise additional funds through equity or debt financings or other arrangements with third parties when needed, we may be required
to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our development or future commercialization efforts or partner with third parties to develop and market product
candidates that we would otherwise prefer to develop and market ourselves. The amount and timing of our future financing requirements will depend on
many factors, including:
•

the scope, progress, expansion, and costs of manufacturing our product candidates;

•

the scope, progress, expansion, costs, and results of our clinical trials;

•

the timing of, and costs involved in, obtaining regulatory approvals;

•

the type, number, costs, and results of the product candidate development programs which we are pursuing or may choose to pursue in the
future;

•

our ability to establish and maintain development partnering arrangements;

•

the timing, receipt and amount of contingent, royalty, and other payments from any of our future development partners;

•

the emergence of competing technologies and other adverse market developments;

•

the costs of maintaining, expanding, and protecting our intellectual property portfolio, including potential litigation costs and liabilities;

•

the resources we devote to marketing, and if approved, commercializing our product candidates, including expenses we are obligated to incur
under our commercialization agreement with Eversana for M207, if approved; and

•

the costs associated with being a public company.

Our build-to-suit arrangement with Trinity Funding 1, LLC (successor to Trinity Capital Fund III, L.P.) (“Trinity”) imposes restrictions on our
business, and if we default on our obligations, Trinity would have a right to request payment in full of the build-to-suit obligation.
We agreed to covenants in connection with the Trinity build-to-suit arrangement that may limit our ability to take some actions without the consent of
Trinity, as applicable. In particular, without Trinity’s consent under the terms of the build-to-suit arrangement, we are restricted in our ability to:
•

create liens on our property;

•

sell, transfer, or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of our assets;

•

transfer, dispose or relocate financed equipment;

•

acquire or merge with another entity; and

•

engage in a transaction that would constitute 50% or more in change in control.

Our indebtedness to Trinity may prevent us from engaging in activities that could be beneficial to our business and our stockholders unless we repay
the outstanding obligation, which may not be desirable or possible.
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We have pledged substantially all of our assets, including our intellectual property, to secure our obligations to Trinity. If we default on our obligations
prior to repaying this indebtedness and are unable to obtain a waiver for such default, Trinity would have a right to accelerate our payments under the buildto-suit arrangement, as applicable, and possibly foreclose on the collateral, which would potentially include our intellectual property. Any such action on
the part of Trinity would significantly harm our business and our ability to operate.
We have limited operating history and capabilities.
Although our business was formed in 2006, we have had limited operations since that time and we are only able to manufacture our product candidates
on a limited scale at the Fremont, California site. The successful commercialization of M207 or any other product candidate will require us to perform a
variety of functions, including:
•

continuing to conduct clinical development of our product candidates;

•

obtaining required regulatory approvals;

•

formulating and manufacturing product; and

•

conducting marketing and sales activities.

Our operations continue to be focused on pre-commercialization efforts for M207, developing and securing our proprietary technology and
undertaking preclinical and clinical trials of our product candidates.
We expect our financial condition and operating results to continue to fluctuate from quarter to quarter and year to year due to a variety of factors,
many of which are beyond our control. We are currently transitioning from a research and development focused company to a company capable of
undertaking commercial activities. We may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications and delays and may not be successful in such a
transition.
Interim, “topline” and preliminary data from our clinical trials that we announce or publish from time to time may change as more patient data
become available and are subject to audit and verification procedures that could result in material changes in the final data.
From time to time, we may publicly disclose preliminary or topline data from our preclinical studies and clinical trials, which is based on a preliminary
analysis of then-available data, and the results and related findings and conclusions are subject to change following a more comprehensive review of the
data related to the particular study or trial. We also make assumptions, estimations, calculations and conclusions as part of our analyses of data, and we may
not have received or had the opportunity to fully and carefully evaluate all data. As a result, the topline or preliminary results that we report may differ
from future results of the same studies, or different conclusions or considerations may qualify such results, once additional data have been received and
fully evaluated. Topline data also remain subject to audit and verification procedures that may result in the final data being materially different from the
preliminary data we previously published. As a result, topline data should be viewed with caution until the final data are available.
From time to time, we may also disclose interim data from our preclinical studies and clinical trials. Interim data from clinical trials that we may
complete are subject to the risk that one or more of the clinical outcomes may materially change as patient enrollment continues and more patient data
become available. Adverse differences between preliminary or interim data and final data could significantly harm our business prospects. Further,
disclosure of interim data by us or by our competitors could result in volatility in the price of our common stock.
Further, others, including regulatory agencies, may not accept or agree with our assumptions, estimates, calculations, conclusions or analyses or may
interpret or weigh the importance of data differently, which could impact the value of the particular program, the approvability or commercialization of the
particular product candidate or product and our company in general. In addition, the information we choose to publicly disclose regarding a particular study
or clinical trial is based on what is typically extensive information, and you or others may not agree with what we determine is material or otherwise
appropriate information to include in our disclosure.
If the interim, topline, or preliminary data that we report differ from actual results, or if others, including regulatory authorities, disagree with the
conclusions reached, our ability to obtain approval for, and commercialize, our product candidates may be harmed, which could harm our business,
operating results, prospects or financial condition.
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We face risks related to the Paycheck Protection Program loan, which could adversely affect our future cash flows and financial condition.
On April 21, 2020, we entered into a note (the “PPP Note”) with Silicon Valley Bank pursuant to the Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”), which
provided us with a loan in the amount of $1.6 million (the “PPP Loan”). The PPP, established as part of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic
Security Act (the “CARES Act”), provided for loans to qualifying businesses and is administered by the U.S. Small Business Administration (“SBA”). On
June 10, 2021, we received notice from our lender that our PPP Loan and accrued interest was fully forgiven by the SBA. However, we may be subject to
CARES Act-specific lookbacks and audits conducted by the Treasury, SBA or other federal agencies, including oversight bodies created under the CARES
Act. These bodies have the ability to coordinate investigations and audits and refer matters to the Department of Justice for civil or criminal enforcement
and other actions.
RISKS RELATED TO THE DEVELOPMENT AND COMMERCIALIZATION OF OUR PRODUCT CANDIDATES
The development and commercialization of our product candidates are subject to many risks. If we do not successfully develop, receive approval for,
and commercialize our product candidates, our business will be adversely affected.
To date, we have devoted the majority of our research, development and clinical efforts and financial resources toward the development of M207, our
proprietary formulation of zolmitriptan for the acute treatment of migraine headaches. In December 2019, we submitted a 505(b)(2) New Drug Application
(“NDA”) to the FDA seeking approval for M207. On September 29, 2020, we received a Discipline Review Letter (“DRL”) from the FDA in response to
the application. The DRL described two concerns with respect to the clinical pharmacology section of the NDA. First, the FDA raised questions regarding
unexpected high plasma concentrations of zolmitriptan observed in five study subjects from two pharmacokinetic (“PK”) studies, and how the data from
these subjects affect the overall clinical pharmacology section of the application. Second, the FDA raised questions regarding differences in zolmitriptan
exposures observed between subjects receiving different lots of M207 in our clinical trials.
On October 20, 2020, we received a complete response letter (“CRL”) from the FDA in response to the M207 NDA. The CRL stated that the FDA
determined it could not approve the NDA in its present form and provided recommendations to address the remaining approvability issues in an NDA
resubmission. The approvability issues are related to clinical pharmacology and product quality. The CRL cited inconsistent zolmitriptan exposure levels
observed across clinical pharmacology studies, which had been previously identified in the DRL. Specifically, the CRL noted differences in zolmitriptan
exposures observed between subjects receiving different lots of M207 in our clinical trials and inadequate PK bridging between the lots that made
interpretation of some safety data unclear. The CRL referenced unexpected high plasma concentrations of zolmitriptan observed in five study subjects
enrolled in our PK studies. The FDA recommended that we conduct a repeat bioequivalence study comparing lots manufactured with the equipment used
during development to address these issues.
The CRL further noted that additional product quality validation data, which were planned to be submitted following approval, if received, were
required to be submitted with the application. In addition, the CRL mentioned that due to U.S. Government and/or FDA-wide restrictions on travel,
inspections of our contract manufacturing facilities were not able to be conducted, but that such inspections would be required before the application may
be approved.
On January 29, 2021, we held a Type A meeting with the FDA Division of Neurology II (the “Division”) regarding the requirements for resubmission
of the M207 NDA and, on February 19, 2021, we received the final meeting minutes from the FDA. The Type A meeting minutes were generally consistent
with our expectations to conduct an additional PK study for inclusion in an NDA resubmission package. In a post-meeting comment, the FDA
recommended a skin assessment on patients in the PK study to generate additional safety information which was included in the proposed study protocol
submitted to the FDA for review.
On April 12, 2021, we received FDA comments and recommendations to our proposed PK study protocol for M207. We made the recommended
changes to the study protocol and established an agreement with a contract research organization to conduct the PK study required to support the
resubmission of the M207 505(b)(2) NDA.
On October 4, 2021, we announced that we had received preliminary top-line results from the PK study and had been granted a Type C written
response-only meeting with the FDA regarding the resubmission of the M207 NDA. The study included 48 healthy volunteers and evaluated approximately
2,500 samples utilizing lots of M207 produced with two different pieces of manufacturing equipment. The study was designed to evaluate safety and the
pharmacokinetics of M207 compared to a control of two 5 mg doses of intranasal zolmitriptan. The safety assessment showed that M207 was generally
well tolerated, consistent with previous studies. The PK study data showed that there were no outliers with unexpected high plasma
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concentrations of zolmitriptan, which was a focus of the FDA as identified in the Complete Response Letter for the original M207 NDA.
The FDA had also raised questions regarding differences in zolmitriptan exposures observed between subjects receiving different lots of M207 in our
clinical trials. The PK study data showed that drug plasma concentration levels of M207 produced on manufacturing equipment at our Fremont, California
facility, which produced M207 patches for our long-term safety study, were lower compared to control and to M207 produced by alternative equipment,
that was the basis for our Phase 2/3 clinical efficacy data in our original NDA submission, but within ranges consistent with approved therapeutic dose
levels of zolmitriptan.
Based upon the data from our PK study and pending the receipt of Type C written responses from the FDA, which we expect to receive by midDecember, we plan to resubmit our M207 NDA with PK data primarily comparing Zomig® nasal spray and patches produced on the manufacturing
equipment at our Fremont, California facility. Our long-term safety study, which used patches produced on this equipment, also collected open-label
efficacy data, which we believe may provide supportive safety and efficacy evidence for M207. In contrast, our initial NDA submission relied on data and
results from our published pivotal Phase 2/3 clinical efficacy study as well as data and results from our long-term safety study.
On October 25, 2021, we received full data tables from our PK study, which were consistent with the preliminary top-line results announced on
October 4, 2021.
On October 27, 2021, we submitted a briefing package to the FDA in advance of the Type C written-response-only meeting previously granted by the
FDA to obtain feedback on our strategy for resubmitting the M207 505(b)(2) NDA.
We have incurred and will incur additional costs and delays in our previously anticipated timeline for potential commercialization due to the additional
PK study, and our plan to resubmit the NDA may be further delayed and we may incur higher than anticipated additional costs should any additional
studies or other requirements be required by the FDA.
There is no guarantee that we will be able to adequately address the issues raised to the FDA’s satisfaction. In addition, if the FDA does not agree with
our M207 NDA resubmission strategy to submit PK data primarily comparing Zomig® nasal spray and patches produced on manufacturing equipment at
our Fremont, California facility that produced patches for our long-term safety study, then the approval pathway for M207 will likely take significantly
longer than expected, cost significantly more than anticipated, and may not be successful.
In addition to the above factors, the development and commercialization of M207 and any product candidates we may develop and commercialize in
the future is subject to many risks including:
•

we may be unable to obtain additional funding to develop our product candidates;

•

we may experience delays in regulatory review and approval of our product candidates in clinical development;

•

the results of our clinical trials may not meet the level of statistical or clinical significance required by the FDA for marketing approval;

•

the FDA may disagree with the number, design, size, conduct or implementation of our clinical trials;

•

the FDA may not find the data from preclinical studies and clinical trials sufficient to demonstrate that clinical and other benefits outweigh its
safety risks;

•

the FDA may disagree with our interpretation of data from our preclinical studies and clinical trials or may require that we conduct additional
studies or trials;

•

we may be required to undertake additional clinical trials of M207 before we receive approval of the NDA;

•

the FDA may not accept data generated at our clinical trial sites;

•

we may be unable to obtain and maintain regulatory approval of our product candidates in the United States and foreign jurisdictions;

•

potential side effects of our product candidates could delay or prevent commercialization, limit the indications for any approved product
candidate, require the establishment of a risk evaluation and mitigation strategy (“REMS”), or cause an approved product candidate to be taken
off the market;

•

the FDA may identify deficiencies in our manufacturing processes or facilities or those of our contract manufacturing organizations (“CMOs”);

•

the FDA may change its approval policies or adopt new regulations;
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•

we will depend on third-party manufacturers to supply or manufacture components of our products;

•

we depend on CROs to conduct our clinical trials;

•

we may experience delays in the commencement of, enrollment of patients in and timing of our clinical trials;

•

we may not be able to demonstrate that our product candidates are safe and effective treatments for their intended indications to the satisfaction
of the FDA or other similar regulatory bodies;

•

we may be unable to establish or maintain collaborations, licensing or other arrangements;

•

the market may not accept our product candidates, if approved;

•

we may be unable to establish and maintain an effective sales and marketing infrastructure;

•

we may depend on Eversana or another third party to commercialize M207, if approved;

•

we may experience competition from existing products or new products that may emerge; and

•

we and our licensors may be unable to successfully obtain, maintain, defend and enforce intellectual property rights important to protect our
product candidates.

Moreover, principal investigators for our clinical trials may serve as scientific advisors or consultants to us from time to time and receive compensation
in connection with such services. Under certain circumstances, we may be required to report some of these relationships to regulatory authorities, which
may conclude that a financial relationship between us and a principal investigator has created a conflict of interest or otherwise affected interpretation of a
study. This could result in a delay in approval, or rejection, of our marketing applications. If any of these risks materializes, we could experience significant
delays or an inability to successfully commercialize our product candidates, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.
The Long-term Safety Study (“LTSS”) for M207 is an important step in the development of M207. If the results from the study do not establish the
safety of M207 to the FDA's satisfaction, the regulatory approval process could be delayed or failed, and our business could be adversely affected.
In February 2019, we announced the completion of the final phase of our LTSS where more than 50 evaluable subjects were treated for a year, and in
September 2019, we announced the presentation of final results from the LTSS at the 19th Congress of the International Headache Society in Dublin,
Ireland. The results of the LTSS will need to support the safety of M207 for the acute treatment of migraine. If the results do not provide sufficient evidence
for the FDA to determine the safety of M207, we could be required to conduct additional clinical or preclinical studies or we may be required to delay,
limit, reduce or terminate our development of M207. Also, even though we have discussed our development strategy with the FDA on our M207 program
and received feedback from the FDA about the size and the length of the safety study, the FDA may require us to provide more data than we currently
anticipate before approving M207, if ever, which would further delay the regulatory approval process and require additional clinical or preclinical work; for
example, in the CRL, the FDA recommended that we conduct a repeat bioequivalence study comparing lots manufactured with the equipment used during
development.
If the FDA does not conclude that our product candidates satisfy the requirements for the 505(b)(2) regulatory approval pathway, or if the
requirements for approval of our product candidates under Section 505(b)(2) are not as we expect, the approval pathway for our product candidates
will likely take significantly longer, cost significantly more and encounter significantly greater complications and risks than anticipated, and in any
case may not be successful.
We intend to seek FDA approval through the 505(b)(2) regulatory pathway for our product candidates. The Drug Price Competition and Patent Term
Restoration Act of 1984, also known as the Hatch-Waxman Act, added Section 505(b)(2) to the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetics Act (“FDCA”).
Section 505(b)(2) permits the filing of an NDA where at least some of the information required for approval comes from studies that were not conducted by
or for the applicant.
If the FDA does not allow us or any partner with which we collaborate to pursue the 505(b)(2) regulatory pathway for our product candidates, we or
they may need to conduct additional clinical trials, provide additional data and information and meet additional standards for regulatory approval. If this
were to occur, we or they will need to successfully complete additional Phase 2 and/or Phase 3 clinical trials and submit to the FDA for approval one or
more NDAs in order to obtain FDA approval to market our product candidates. The time and financial resources required to obtain FDA approval for our
product candidates would likely substantially increase. The conduct of later-stage clinical trials and the submission of a successful NDA is a complicated
process. To date, we have conducted only one Phase 2/3 clinical trial and one LTSS of M207. In addition, we have limited experience in preparing and
submitting regulatory filings, and other than the NDA for M207, we have not previously submitted an NDA for any product candidate. Consequently, the
completion of our clinical trials for M207 for the potential
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treatment of migraine may not lead to a successful NDA submission. As discussed above, we received a CRL from the FDA in response to the M207 NDA.
In addition, we may be unable to successfully and efficiently execute and complete necessary clinical trials in a way that leads to an NDA submission for
any other product candidate we may develop in the future.
Moreover, the inability to pursue the 505(b)(2) regulatory pathway could result in new competitive products reaching the market faster than our
product candidates, which could materially adversely impact our competitive position and prospects. Even if we are allowed to pursue the 505(b)(2)
regulatory pathway for our product candidates, we cannot assure you that we will receive the requisite approvals for commercialization of such product
candidates.
In addition, our competitors may file petitions with the FDA in an attempt to persuade the FDA that our product candidates, or the clinical studies that
support their approval, contain deficiencies. Such actions by our competitors could delay or even prevent the FDA from approving any NDA that we
submit under Section 505(b)(2).
Clinical trials are very expensive, time-consuming and difficult to design and implement.
Human clinical trials are very expensive, time-consuming and difficult to design and implement, in part because they are subject to rigorous regulatory
requirements, and their outcome is inherently uncertain. Furthermore, failure of a product candidate can occur at any stage of the trials, and we could
encounter problems that cause us to abandon or repeat clinical trials.
Further, we may experience delays in our ongoing clinical trials and we do not know whether planned clinical trials will begin on time, need to be
redesigned, enroll patients on time or be completed on schedule, if at all. The commencement and completion of clinical trials may be delayed by several
factors, including:
•

changes in government regulation, administrative action or changes in FDA policy with respect to clinical trials that change the requirements
for approval;

•

delays in obtaining authorization from regulators and required Institutional Review Board (“IRB”) approval at each site to commence a trial;

•

imposition of a clinical hold for safety reasons or following an inspection of our clinical trial operations or trial sites by the FDA or other
regulatory authority;

•

delays in reaching agreement on acceptable terms with prospective CROs and clinical trial sites, or failure by such CROs or trial sites to carry
out the clinical trial at each site in accordance with the terms of our agreements with them;

•

difficulties or delays in having patients complete participation in a trial or return for post-treatment follow-up;

•

clinical sites electing to end their participation in one of our clinical trials, which would likely have detrimental effect on subject enrollment;

•

time required to add new clinical sites;

•

delays by us or our contract manufacturers to produce and deliver sufficient supply of clinical trial materials;

•

unforeseen safety issues;

•

determination of dosing issues;

•

lack of effectiveness during clinical trials;

•

slower than expected rates of patient recruitment and enrollment;

•

inability to raise or delays in raising funding necessary to initiate or continue a trial;

•

inability to monitor patients adequately during or after treatment; and

•

inability or unwillingness of medical investigators to follow our clinical protocols.

Disruptions caused by the COVID-19 pandemic may increase the likelihood that we encounter such difficulties or delays in initiating, enrolling,
conducting or completing our planned and ongoing clinical trials. For example, as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, we temporarily suspended new
enrollment into our Phase 2/3 clinical trial evaluating C213 for the acute treatment of cluster headache between March 2020 to June 2020. Subject
enrollment resumed in July 2020, however, at a rate slower than originally anticipated. In November 2020, we decided to end enrollment of new subjects
into the clinical trial as of December 31, 2020.
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In addition, we, the FDA, or other regulatory authorities and ethics committees with jurisdiction over our studies may terminate or suspend our clinical
trials at any time if it appears that we are exposing participants to unacceptable health risks or if the FDA or other authorities find deficiencies in our
regulatory submissions or the conduct of these trials. Therefore, we cannot predict with any certainty the schedule for existing or future clinical trials. Any
such unexpected expenses or delays in our clinical trials could increase our need for additional capital, which may not be available on favorable terms or at
all.
If we are required to conduct additional clinical trials or other testing of our product candidates beyond those that we currently contemplate, if we are
unable to successfully complete clinical trials of our product candidates or other testing, if the results of these clinical trials or tests are not positive or are
only modestly positive and/or if there are safety concerns, we may:
•

be delayed in obtaining marketing approval for our product candidates;

•

not obtain marketing approval at all;

•

obtain approval for indications or patient populations that are not as broad as intended or desired;

•

obtain approval with labeling that includes significant use or distribution restrictions or safety warnings;

•

be subject to additional post-marketing testing requirements; or

•

have our product candidates removed from the market after obtaining marketing approval.

Our development costs will also increase if we experience delays in testing or in obtaining marketing approvals. We do not know whether any of our
preclinical studies or clinical trials will begin as planned, will need to be restructured or will be completed on schedule, or at all. Significant preclinical
study or clinical trial delays also could shorten any periods during which we may have the exclusive right to commercialize our product candidates or allow
our competitors to bring a product candidate to market before we do, and thereby impair our ability to successfully commercialize our product candidates.
The COVID-19 pandemic could adversely impact our business, including our clinical trials.
In December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus, COVID-19, was reported to have surfaced in Wuhan, China. Since then, the COVID-19
coronavirus has spread to multiple countries, including the United States, where we have planned or have ongoing preclinical studies and clinical trials. On
March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of COVID-19 as a global pandemic. The pandemic and government measures taken
in response have also had a significant impact, both direct and indirect, on businesses and commerce, as worker shortages have occurred, supply chains
have been disrupted, facilities have been closed and production has been suspended, and demand for certain goods and services, such as medical services
and supplies, has spiked, while demand for other goods and services, such as travel, has fallen. If COVID-19 continues to spread in the United States and
elsewhere, we may experience additional disruptions that could severely impact our business, preclinical studies and clinical trials, including:
•

delays in receiving approval from local regulatory authorities to initiate our planned clinical trials;

•

delays or difficulties in enrolling subjects in our clinical trials;

•

delays or difficulties in clinical site initiation, including difficulties in recruiting clinical site investigators and clinical site staff;

•

delays in clinical sites receiving the supplies and materials needed to conduct our clinical trials, including interruption in global shipping that
may affect the transport of clinical trial materials;

•

changes in local regulations as part of a response to the COVID-19 pandemic which may require us to change the ways in which our clinical
trials are conducted, which may result in unexpected costs, or the discontinuation of such clinical trials altogether;

•

diversion of healthcare resources away from the conduct of clinical trials, including the diversion of hospitals serving as our clinical trial sites
and hospital staff supporting the conduct of our clinical trials;

•

interruption of key clinical trial activities, such as clinical trial site monitoring, due to limitations on travel imposed or recommended by federal
or state governments, employers and others, or interruption of clinical trial subject visits and study procedures, the occurrence of which could
affect the integrity of clinical trial data;

•

risk that participants enrolled in our clinical trials will contract COVID-19 while the clinical trial is ongoing, which could impact the results of
the clinical trial, including by increasing the number of observed adverse events;

•

interruptions or delays in preclinical studies due to restricted or limited operations at research and development laboratory facilities;
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•

delays in necessary interactions with local regulators, ethics committees and other important agencies and contractors due to limitations in
employee resources or forced furlough of government employees;

•

limitations in employee resources that would otherwise be focused on the conduct of our clinical trials, including because of sickness of
employees or their families or the desire of employees to avoid contact with large groups of people; and

•

refusal of the FDA to accept data from clinical trials in affected geographies.

The COVID-19 pandemic continues to rapidly evolve. The extent to which the pandemic impacts our business, preclinical studies and clinical trials
will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence, such as the ultimate geographic spread of the
disease, the duration of the pandemic, travel restrictions and social distancing in the United States and other countries, business closures or business
disruptions and the effectiveness of actions taken in the United States and other countries to contain and treat the disease.
The results of our clinical trials may not support the intended use of M207 or any other product candidates we may develop.
We cannot be certain that the results from any completed clinical trial or any future clinical trial, if completed as planned, will support the intended use
of our products. Success in preclinical testing and early clinical trials does not ensure that later clinical trials will be successful, and we cannot be sure that
the results of later clinical trials will replicate the results of prior clinical trials and preclinical testing. The clinical trial process may fail to demonstrate that
our product candidates are safe and effective in humans for their intended uses. This failure would cause us to abandon a product candidate and may delay
development of other product candidates. Any delay in, or termination of, our clinical trials will delay the submission of an NDA with the FDA and,
ultimately, our ability to commercialize our product candidates and generate revenues. In addition, our clinical trials to date have involved small subject
populations. Because of the small sample sizes, the results of these clinical trials may not be indicative of future results.
Clinical failure can occur at any stage of clinical development. Because the results of earlier clinical trials are not necessarily predictive of future
results, any product candidate we advance through clinical trials may not have favorable results in later clinical trials or receive regulatory approval.
Clinical failure can occur at any stage of clinical development. Clinical trials may produce negative or inconclusive results, and we may decide, or
regulators may require us, to conduct additional clinical or preclinical trials. In addition, data obtained from trials are susceptible to varying interpretations,
and regulators may not interpret our data as favorably as we do, which may delay, limit or prevent regulatory approval. Success in preclinical testing, early
clinical trials and even later stage clinical trials, such as our phase 2/3 ZOTRIP trial, does not ensure that later clinical trials will generate the same results
or otherwise provide adequate data to demonstrate the efficacy and safety of a product candidate. Frequently, product candidates that have shown promising
results in early clinical trials have subsequently suffered significant setbacks in later clinical trials. In addition, the design of a clinical trial can determine
whether its results will support approval of a product and flaws in the design of a clinical trial may not become apparent until the clinical trial is well
advanced or completed. While members of our management team have experience in designing clinical trials, we have limited experience in designing
clinical trials and we may be unable to design and execute a clinical trial to support regulatory approval. Further, clinical trials of potential products often
reveal that it is not practical or feasible to continue development efforts. If our product candidates are found to be unsafe or lack efficacy, we will not be
able to obtain regulatory approval for them and our business would be harmed.
We may in the future conduct clinical trials for product candidates in sites around the world, and government regulators, including the FDA in the
United States, may choose to not accept data from trials conducted in such locations.
We have conducted, and may in the future choose to conduct, one or more of our clinical trials outside the United States.
There is no guarantee that data from these clinical trials will be accepted by regulators or considered sufficient for approving our product candidates
for commercial sale. In the case of the United States, although the FDA may accept data from clinical trials conducted outside the United States, acceptance
of this data is subject to certain conditions imposed by the FDA. For example, the clinical trial must be conducted in accordance with good clinical
practices (“GCP”) requirements and conducted such that the FDA is able to validate the data from the study through an onsite inspection if deemed
necessary. In addition, while these clinical trials are subject to the applicable local laws, FDA acceptance of the data will be dependent upon its
determination that the trials also complied with all applicable U.S. laws and regulations. There can be no assurance the FDA will accept data from trials
conducted outside of the United States. If the FDA does not accept the data from our clinical trials, it would likely result in the need for additional clinical
trials, which would be both costly and time-consuming and likely to delay or permanently halt our development of a product candidate. Similar regulations
and risks apply to other jurisdictions as well.
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In addition, the conduct of clinical trials outside the United States could have a significant negative impact on us. Risks inherent in conducting
international clinical trials include:
•

foreign regulatory requirements that could restrict or limit our ability to conduct our clinical trials;

•

administrative burdens of conducting clinical trials under multiple foreign regulatory schema;

•

foreign exchange fluctuations; and

•

diminished protection of intellectual property in some countries.

We will not be able to sell our products if we do not obtain required United States regulatory approvals.
We cannot assure you that we will receive the approvals necessary to commercialize M207 or any product candidate we acquire or develop in the
future. We will need FDA approval to commercialize our product candidates in the United States. In order to obtain FDA approval of any product
candidate, we expect that we will have to submit to the FDA an NDA demonstrating that the product candidate is safe for humans and effective for its
intended indication and indicated use. This demonstration requires significant research and animal tests, which are referred to as preclinical studies, as well
as human tests, which are referred to as clinical trials. Satisfaction of the FDA’s regulatory requirements typically takes many years, depends upon the type,
complexity and novelty of the product candidate and requires substantial resources for research, development and testing. We cannot predict whether our
product candidates will ultimately be considered safe for humans and effective for indicated uses by the FDA. The FDA has substantial discretion in the
drug approval process and may require us to conduct additional preclinical and clinical testing or to perform post-marketing studies. The approval process
may also be delayed by changes in government regulation, future legislation or administrative action or changes in FDA policy that occur prior to or during
its regulatory review. Delays in obtaining regulatory approvals may:
•

delay commercialization of, and our ability to derive product revenues from, our products;

•

impose costly procedures on us; and

•

diminish any competitive advantages that we may otherwise enjoy.

We may never obtain regulatory approval for any of our product candidates. Failure to obtain approval of any of our product candidates will severely
undermine our business by leaving us without a saleable product, and therefore without any source of revenues, unless other products can be developed.
There is no guarantee that we will ever be able to develop or acquire another product.
Even if M207 or any other product candidates we develop in the future receive regulatory approval, our business is subject to extensive regulatory
requirements which include ongoing and continued regulatory review, which may result in significant expense and limit our ability to commercialize
our products.
Any regulatory approvals that we may receive for our product candidates will require the submission of reports to regulatory authorities and
surveillance to monitor the safety and efficacy of the product candidate, may contain significant limitations related to use restrictions for specified age
groups, warnings, precautions or contraindications, and may include burdensome post-approval study or risk management requirements. For example, the
FDA may require a REMS in order to approve our product candidates, which could entail requirements for a medication guide, physician training and
communication plans or additional elements to ensure safe use, such as restricted distribution methods, patient registries and other risk minimization tools.
In addition, if the FDA or foreign regulatory authorities approve our product candidates, the manufacturing processes, labeling, packaging, distribution,
adverse event reporting, storage, advertising, promotion, import, export and recordkeeping for our product candidates will be subject to extensive and
ongoing regulatory requirements. These requirements include submissions of safety and other post-marketing information and reports, registration and
listing requirements, current good manufacturing practice (“cGMP”) requirements relating to quality control, quality assurance and corresponding
maintenance of records and documents, requirements regarding the distribution of samples to physicians and recordkeeping. In addition, manufacturers of
drug products and their facilities are subject to continual review and periodic, unannounced inspections by the FDA and other regulatory authorities for
compliance with cGMP regulations and standards.
We may also be subject, directly or indirectly through our customers and partners, to various fraud and abuse laws, including, without limitation, the
U.S. Anti-Kickback Statute, U.S. False Claims Act, and similar state laws, which impact, among other things, our proposed sales, marketing, and
scientific/educational grant programs. If we participate in the U.S. Medicaid Drug Rebate Program, the Federal Supply Schedule of the U.S. Department of
Veterans Affairs, or other government drug programs, we will be subject to complex laws and regulations regarding reporting and payment obligations. All
of these activities are also potentially subject to U.S. federal and state consumer protection and unfair competition laws and similar requirements in other
countries.
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With respect to sales and marketing activities by us or any future partner, advertising and promotional materials must comply with FDA rules in
addition to other applicable federal, state and local laws in the United States and similar legal requirements in other countries. In addition, our product
labeling, advertising and promotion would be subject to regulatory requirements and continuing regulatory review. The FDA strictly regulates the
promotional claims that may be made about prescription products. In particular, a product may not be promoted for uses that are not approved by the FDA
as reflected in the product’s approved labeling. If we receive marketing approval for our products, physicians may nevertheless legally prescribe our
products to their patients in a manner that is inconsistent with the approved label. If we are found to have promoted such off-label uses, we may become
subject to significant liability and government fines. The FDA and other agencies actively enforce the laws and regulations prohibiting the promotion of
off-label uses, and a company that is found to have improperly promoted off-label uses may be subject to significant sanctions, including revocation of its
marketing approval. The federal government has levied large civil and criminal fines against companies for alleged improper promotion and has enjoined
several companies from engaging in off-label promotion. The FDA has also requested that companies enter into consent decrees of permanent injunctions
under which specified promotional conduct is changed or curtailed.
In addition, later discovery of previously unknown problems with our product candidates, manufacturing processes, or failure to comply with
regulatory requirements, may yield various results, including:
•

restrictions on the labeling or marketing of a product;

•

restrictions on product distribution or use;

•

requirements to conduct post-marketing clinical trials;

•

warning or untitled letters;

•

withdrawal of the products from the market;

•

refusal to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications that we submit;

•

recall of products;

•

fines, restitution or disgorgement of profits or revenue;

•

suspension or withdrawal of marketing approvals;

•

refusal to permit the import or export of our products;

•

product seizure; or

•

injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties.

The occurrence of any event or penalty described above may inhibit our ability to commercialize our products and generate revenue. Adverse
regulatory action, whether pre- or post-approval, can also potentially lead to product liability claims and increase our product liability exposure.
We also cannot predict the likelihood, nature or extent of government regulation that may arise from future legislation or administrative or executive
action, either in the United States or abroad. If we are slow or unable to adapt to changes in existing requirements or the adoption of new requirements or
policies, or if we are not able to maintain regulatory compliance, we may be subject to enforcement action, and we may not achieve or sustain profitability.
Disruptions at the FDA and other government agencies caused by funding shortages or global health concerns could hinder their ability to hire, retain
or deploy key leadership and other personnel, or otherwise prevent new or modified products from being developed, approved or commercialized in a
timely manner or at all, which could negatively impact our business.
The ability of the FDA to review and approve new products can be affected by a variety of factors, including government budget and funding levels,
statutory, regulatory, and policy changes, the FDA’s ability to hire and retain key personnel and accept the payment of user fees, and other events that may
otherwise affect the FDA’s ability to perform routine functions. Average review times at the FDA have fluctuated in recent years as a result. In addition,
government funding of other government agencies that fund research and development activities is subject to the political process, which is inherently fluid
and unpredictable. Disruptions at the FDA and other agencies may also slow the time necessary for new drugs, or modifications to approved drugs, to be
reviewed and/or approved by necessary government agencies, which would adversely affect our business. For example, for 35 days beginning on
December 22, 2018, the U.S. government shut down and certain regulatory agencies, such as the FDA, had to furlough critical FDA employees and stop
critical activities.
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Separately, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, on March 10, 2020, the FDA announced its intention to postpone most inspections of foreign
manufacturing facilities, and on March 18, 2020, the FDA temporarily postponed routine surveillance inspections of domestic manufacturing facilities.
Subsequently, on July 10, 2020, the FDA announced its intention to resume certain on-site inspections of domestic manufacturing facilities subject to a
risk-based prioritization system. The FDA intends to use this risk-based assessment system to identify the categories of regulatory activity that can occur
within a given geographic area, ranging from mission critical inspections to resumption of all regulatory activities. Additionally, on April 15, 2021, the
FDA issued a guidance document in which the FDA described its plans to conduct voluntary remote interactive evaluations of certain drug manufacturing
facilities and clinical research sites. According to the guidance, the FDA intends to request such remote interactive evaluations in situations where an inperson inspection would not be prioritized, deemed mission-critical, or where direct inspection is otherwise limited by travel restrictions, but where the
FDA determines that remote evaluation would be appropriate. Regulatory authorities outside the United States may adopt similar restrictions or other
policy measures in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. If a prolonged government shutdown occurs, or if global health concerns continue to prevent the
FDA or other regulatory authorities from conducting their regular inspections, reviews, or other regulatory activities, it could significantly impact the
ability of the FDA or other regulatory authorities to timely review and process our regulatory submissions or conduct necessary site inspections, including
any such inspections that may be required for the FDA to review our planned NDA submission for M207, which could have a material adverse effect on
our business.
We or any of our current or future partners may choose not to continue developing a product or product candidate at any time during development, or
commercialize it after approval, which would reduce or eliminate our potential return on investment for that product or product candidate.
We currently do not have any products approved for sale and currently are focusing our clinical development efforts solely on M207.
At any time, we or any partners with whom we currently collaborate or collaborate with in the future may decide to discontinue the development of a
marketed product or product candidate or not to continue commercializing a marketed product or a product candidate for a variety of reasons, including the
appearance of new technologies that make our product obsolete, the position of our partner in the market, competition from another product, or changes in
or failure to comply with applicable regulatory requirements. If we or our partners terminate a program in which we have invested significant resources, we
will not receive any return on our investment, and we will have lost the opportunity to allocate those resources to potentially more productive uses. If one
of our future partners terminates a development program or ceases to market an approved or commercial product, we will not receive any future milestone
payments or royalties relating to that program or product under a partnership agreement with that party.
Our long-term growth will be limited unless we successfully develop a pipeline of additional product candidates.
Our long-term growth will be limited unless we successfully develop a pipeline of additional product candidates. We do not have internal new drug
discovery capabilities, and our primary focus is on developing improved transdermal drug delivery systems by reformulating drugs previously approved by
the FDA using our proprietary technologies.
If we are unable to expand our product candidate pipeline and obtain regulatory approval for our product candidate on the timelines we anticipate, we
will not be able to execute our business strategy effectively and our ability to substantially grow our revenues will be limited, which would harm our longterm business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.
Our product candidates may cause adverse effects or have other properties that could delay or prevent their regulatory approval or limit the scope of
any approved label or market acceptance, or result in significant negative consequences following market approval, if any.
M207 and any other product candidates we develop in the future may have undesirable side effects or have characteristics that are unexpected. These
could be attributed to the active ingredient or class of drug or to our unique formulation of our product candidates, or other potentially harmful
characteristics. Such characteristics could cause us, our IRBs, clinical trial sites, the FDA or other regulatory authorities to interrupt, delay or halt clinical
trials, including the imposition of clinical holds, and could result in a more restrictive label or delay, denial or withdrawal of regulatory approval, which
may harm our business, financial condition and prospects significantly.
In addition, if a product candidate receives marketing approval, and we or others later identify serious adverse events or undesirable side effects caused
by such product, a number of potentially significant negative consequences could result, including:
•

regulatory authorities may require the addition of labeling statements, specific warnings, a contraindication or field alerts to physicians and
pharmacies;
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•

we may be required to change the way the product is administered, conduct additional clinical trials or change the labeling of the product;

•

we may be required to implement REMS, which could result in substantial cost increases and have a negative impact on our ability to
commercialize the product;

•

we may be required to limit the patients who can receive the product;

•

we may be subject to limitations on how we promote the product;

•

sales of the product may decrease significantly;

•

regulatory authorities may require us to take our approved product off the market;

•

we may be subject to litigation or product liability claims; and

•

our reputation may suffer.

Any of these events could prevent us from achieving or maintaining market acceptance of the affected product or could substantially increase
commercialization costs and expenses, which in turn could delay or prevent us from generating significant revenues from the sale of our product.
The manufacture of our product candidates is complex, and we may encounter difficulties in manufacturing sufficient quantities of our product
candidates.
Any failure or delay in our internal manufacturing operations or those of our CMOs could delay the development, regulatory approval and
commercialization, if approved, of M207. We and our CMOs may encounter difficulties involving, among other things, material supplies, production
yields, regulatory compliance, quality control and quality assurance, and shortages of qualified personnel. The manufacturing facilities in which M207, or
our other product candidates, are made could be adversely affected by equipment failures, labor shortages, natural disasters, power failures and numerous
other factors. We may incur other charges and expenses for products that fail to meet specifications, undertake costly remediation efforts or seek more
costly manufacturing alternatives. Regulatory approval and/or the potential commercialization of M207 or our other product candidates could be impeded,
delayed, limited or denied if the FDA does not authorize the manufacturing processes and facilities in which such product candidates are made.
If M207 is approved utilizing our current NDA resubmission strategy, we will only be able to produce limited quantities of M207 at our Fremont, CA
location and we will not be able to produce M207 drug product on our manufacturing equipment at our third-party CMOs without FDA approval, which
may require us to conduct additional clinical studies and incur significant time and cost, and we may not be successful. If we are unable to manufacture
M207 on our manufacturing lines at our CMOs, it will limit our product availability and materially adversely impact our business.
Difficulties in relevant manufacturing processes and facilities implicated could result in supply shortfalls of M207, if approved, or any other product
candidates, and could delay our preclinical studies, clinical trials and regulatory submissions with respect thereto. In addition, supplies of M207 or our
other product candidates that have been produced and are stored for later use, may degrade, become contaminated or suffer other quality defects (including
in connection with any shipment thereof), which may cause the affected drug product to no longer be suitable for its intended use in clinical trials or other
development activities. If the defective drug product cannot be replaced in a timely fashion, we may incur significant delays in our development programs
that could adversely affect the value of such product candidate.
We have only manufactured our proposed product candidates for our clinical trials and we have no experience manufacturing on a commercial scale.
We have limited experience manufacturing our product candidate, M207, and other product candidates, and to date have only manufactured our
product candidates for our clinical trials. If M207 is approved, we will need to scale up our own capabilities or those of our CMOs to support the
production of commercial level quantities of our product candidate, which may require expensive process improvements.
While we intend to rely on CMOs to support commercial scale manufacture of certain components of M207 and have entered into agreements
regarding the same, we may nevertheless not be able to successfully produce, develop and market M207 or our other product candidates, or we may be
delayed in doing so. Significant scale up of manufacturing may also require process improvements as well as additional technologies, validation and PK
studies, which are costly, may not be successful and which the FDA must review and authorize. If we or our CMOs are unable to establish a new
manufacturing facility or expand existing manufacturing facilities, purchase equipment, hire adequate personnel to support our manufacturing
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efforts, or comply with cGMPs, or implement necessary process improvements, we may be unable to produce commercial materials or meet demand, if any
should develop, for M207 or our other product candidates. Any such failure would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.
Reliance on CMOs also entails risks to which we would not be subject if we manufactured all components of the product candidates ourselves,
including reliance on the third party for regulatory compliance and quality control and assurance, volume production, the possibility of breach of the
manufacturing agreement by the third party because of factors beyond our control (including a failure to synthesize and manufacture our product candidate
in accordance with our product specifications) and the possibility of termination or nonrenewal of the agreement by the third party at a time that is costly or
damaging to us. In addition, the FDA and other regulatory authorities require that our product candidates be manufactured according to cGMP and similar
foreign standards. Any failure by our CMOs to comply with cGMP or failure to scale up manufacturing processes, including any failure to deliver
sufficient quantities of material in a timely manner, could lead to a delay in, or failure to obtain, regulatory approvals of our product candidates, or a recall
or withdrawal of approval in the future. CMOs may not be able to manufacture components of our product candidates at a cost or in quantities or in a
timely manner necessary to develop and commercialize it. If our CMOs are unable to successfully scale up the manufacturing capacity needed to support
our product candidates in sufficient quality and quantity and at commercially reasonable prices, and we are unable to find one or more replacement
manufacturers capable of production at a substantially equivalent cost in substantially equivalent volumes and quality, and we are unable to successfully
transfer the processes on a timely basis, the development of that product candidate and regulatory approval or commercial launch for any resulting products
may be delayed, or there may be a shortage in supply, either of which could significantly harm our business, financial condition, operating results and
prospects. Our reliance on CMOs will further expose us to the possibility that they, or third parties with access to their facilities, will have access to and
may misappropriate our trade secrets or other proprietary information.
Even if we receive regulatory approval for any product candidate, we still may not be able to successfully commercialize it and the revenue that we
generate from its sales, if any, may be limited.
If approved for marketing, the commercial success of M207 or any product candidates we develop in the future will depend upon their acceptance by
the medical community, including physicians, patients and health care payers. The degree of market acceptance of any product candidate will depend on a
number of factors, including:
•

demonstration of clinical safety and efficacy of our products generally;

•

relative convenience and ease of administration;

•

prevalence and severity of any adverse effects;

•

willingness of physicians to prescribe our product and of the target patient population to try new therapies and routes of administration;

•

efficacy and safety of our products compared to competing products;

•

introduction of any new products, including generics, that may in the future become available to treat indications for which our products may
be approved;

•

new procedures or methods of treatment that may reduce the incidences of any of the indications in which our products may show utility;

•

pricing and cost-effectiveness;

•

effectiveness of our or any future collaborators’ sales and marketing strategies;

•

limitations or warnings contained in FDA-approved labeling; and

•

our ability to obtain and maintain sufficient third-party coverage or adequate reimbursement from government health care programs, including
Medicare and Medicaid, private health insurers and other third-party payers.

If our product candidates are approved but do not achieve an adequate level of acceptance by physicians, health care payers and patients, we may not
generate sufficient revenue and we may not be able to achieve or sustain profitability. Our efforts to educate the medical community and third-party payers
on the benefits of our product candidates may require significant resources and may never be successful.
Even if we obtain regulatory approvals, the timing or scope of any approvals may prohibit or reduce our ability to commercialize our product
candidates successfully. For example, if the approval process takes too long, we may miss market opportunities and give other companies the ability to
develop competing products or establish market dominance. Any regulatory approval we ultimately obtain may be limited or subject to restrictions or postapproval commitments that render our
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product candidates not commercially viable. For example, regulatory authorities may approve our product candidates for fewer or more limited indications
than we request, may not approve the price we intend to charge for our product candidates, may grant approval contingent on the performance of costly
post-marketing clinical trials, or may approve our product candidates with a label that does not include the labeling claims necessary or desirable for the
successful commercialization of that indication. Further, the FDA may place conditions on approvals including potential requirements or risk management
plans and the requirement for a REMS to assure the safe use of the drug or a black-box warning (which is a warning required by the FDA that appears on
the package insert for or in literature describing certain prescription drugs, signifying that medical studies indicate that the drug carries a significant risk of
serious adverse effects). If the FDA concludes a REMS is needed, the sponsor of the NDA must submit a proposed REMS; the FDA will not approve the
NDA without an approved REMS, if required. A REMS could include medication guides, physician communication plans, or elements to assure safe use,
such as restricted distribution methods, patient registries and other risk minimization tools. A black-box warning will limit how we are able to market and
advertise any product that is approved. Any of these limitations on approval or marketing could restrict the commercial promotion, distribution,
prescription or dispensing of our product candidates. Moreover, approvals may be withdrawn for non-compliance with regulatory standards or if problems
occur following the initial marketing of a product candidate. Any of the foregoing scenarios could materially harm the commercial success of our product
candidates.
We may expend our limited resources to pursue a particular product candidate and fail to capitalize on a product candidate that may be more profitable
or for which there is a greater likelihood of success.
Because we have limited financial and managerial resources, we have decided to focus on developing our product candidate M207 for treatment of
migraine. As a result, we may forego or delay pursuit of opportunities with other product candidates or for other indications that later prove to have greater
commercial potential. Our resource allocation decisions may cause us to fail to capitalize on viable commercial product candidates or profitable market
opportunities. Our spending on current and future research and development programs and product candidate for specific indications may not yield any
commercially viable products. If we do not accurately evaluate the commercial potential or target market for a particular product candidate, we may
relinquish valuable rights to that product candidate through collaboration, licensing or other royalty arrangements in cases in which it would have been
more advantageous for us to retain sole development and commercialization rights to such product candidate.
RISKS RELATED TO OUR DEPENDENCE ON THIRD PARTIES
We use customized equipment to manufacture, coat and package our transdermal microneedle system; any production or equipment performance
failures could negatively impact the clinical trials of our product candidates that we may develop or sales of our product candidate(s), if approved.
We presently use customized equipment to manufacture, coat and package our transdermal microneedle system. We also rely on third parties to
manufacture our equipment. If we experience equipment malfunctions and we do not have adequate inventory of spare parts or qualified personnel to repair
the equipment, we may encounter delays in the manufacture of our transdermal microneedle system and may not have sufficient inventory to meet the
demands of our clinical development programs of any product candidates and if approved, our customers’ demands for M207 or our future approved
product candidate(s), if any, each of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We currently depend on third-party suppliers for the manufacture of certain components of our product candidates. If these manufacturers fail to
provide us or our collaborators with adequate supplies of materials for clinical trials or commercial product or fail to comply with the requirements of
regulatory authorities, we may be unable to develop or commercialize M207 or any other product candidates we may develop.
We have contracted with CMOs to produce, in collaboration with us, commercial supplies of certain materials utilized in the manufacture of M207, if
approved, in the United States. We have not entered into any agreements with any alternate suppliers for M207 product or active pharmaceutical
ingredients (“APIs”). Even if we were able to enter into other long-term agreements for manufacture of commercial supply on reasonable terms, we may
face delays or increased costs in our supply chain that could jeopardize the potential commercialization of M207. Additionally, if M207 is approved for
commercial sale in jurisdictions outside the United States or any other product candidate is approved by the FDA or other regulatory agencies for
commercial sale, we will need to contract with a third party to manufacture such products.
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Our dependence on single source suppliers with respect to our supply chain for M207 exposes us to certain risks, including the following:
•

our supplier may cease or reduce production or deliveries, raise prices or renegotiate terms;

•

we may be unable to locate a suitable replacement on acceptable terms or on a timely basis, if at all;

•

delays caused by supply issues may harm our reputation; and

•

our ability to progress our business could be materially and adversely impacted if our single-source supplier upon which we rely were to
experience a significant business challenge, disruption or failure due to issues such as financial difficulties or bankruptcy, issues relating to
regulatory or quality compliance, or other legal or reputational issues.

Even though we have agreements with CMOs to supply materials for M207, and even if we enter into other long-term agreements with other CMOs,
the FDA may not approve the facilities of such CMOs, the CMOs may not perform as agreed or the CMOs may terminate their agreements with us. If any
of the foregoing circumstances occur, we may need to find alternative manufacturing facilities, which would significantly impact our ability to develop,
maintain or obtain, as applicable, regulatory approval for or market M207 or any other product candidate. In the event that we seek such alternative
sources, we may not be able to enter into replacement arrangements without delays or additional expenditures. We cannot estimate these delays or costs
with certainty but, if they were to occur, they could cause a delay in our development and commercialization efforts.
The manufacturer(s) that produce materials for M207 are obliged to operate in accordance with FDA-mandated cGMPs, and we have limited control
over the ability of CMOs to maintain adequate quality control, quality assurance and qualified personnel to ensure compliance to cGMPs. In addition, the
facilities used to manufacture M207 must be authorized by the FDA and will be subject to inspections that will be conducted prior to any grant or
regulatory approval by the FDA. If any of our CMOs are unable to successfully manufacture material that conform to our specifications and the FDA’s
strict regulatory requirements, and pass regulatory inspections, they will not be able to secure or maintain authorization to manufacture materials for any of
our product candidates, which could delay or prevent us from obtaining approval for such product candidates. Additionally, a failure by any of our CMOs
to establish and follow cGMPs or to document their adherence to such requirements may negatively impact our commercialization or lead to significant
delays in the launch and commercialization of any other products that we may have in the future. Failure by our CMOs or us to comply with application
regulations could result in sanctions being imposed on us, including fines, injunctions, civil penalties, failure of the government to grant pre-market
approval of drugs, delays, suspensions or withdrawal of approvals, seizures or recalls of product, operating restrictions, and criminal prosecutions.
The manufacturer of pharmaceutical products requires significant expertise and capital investment, including the development of advanced
manufacturing techniques and process controls. Manufacturers of pharmaceutical products often encounter difficulties in production. These problems
include difficulties with production costs and yields, quality control, including stability of the product, quality assurance testing, shortages of qualified
personnel, as well as compliance with strictly-enforced federal, state and foreign regulations. We cannot assure you that any issues relating to the
manufacture of M207 will not occur in the future. Additionally, we or our CMOs may experience manufacturing difficulties due to resource constraints or
as a result of labor disputes. If our CMOs were to encounter difficulties, or otherwise fail to comply with their contractual obligations, our ability to
commercialize M207 in the United States would be jeopardized. Any delay or interruption in our ability to meet commercial demand for M207 will result
in the loss of potential revenue and could adversely affect our ability to gain market acceptance for these products.
Failures or difficulties faced at any level of our supply chain could materially adversely affect our business and delay or impede commercialization of
M207 and could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial conditions and prospects.
We rely on third parties to conduct our clinical trials and those third parties may not perform satisfactorily, including failing to comply with applicable
regulatory requirements or to meet deadlines for the completion of such trials.
We rely on third party CROs to manage our clinical trials. In addition, we rely on other third parties, such as clinical data management organizations,
medical institutions and clinical investigators, to conduct those clinical trials. While we have agreements governing their activities, we have limited
influence over their actual performance, and we control only certain aspects of their activities. In addition, the use of third-party service providers requires
us to disclose our proprietary information to these parties, which could increase the risk that this information will be misappropriated. Further, agreements
with such third parties might terminate for a variety of reasons, including a failure to perform by the third parties. If there is any dispute or
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disruption in our relationship with our CROs or if we need to enter into alternative arrangements, that will delay our product development activities.
There is a limited number of third-party service providers that specialize or have the expertise required to achieve our business objectives. In particular,
there would be a significant increase in clinical trial expenses, including adopting a new electronic data capture platform or other technology platforms, the
need to enter into new contracts and costs associated with the transfer of data, as well as an increased risk of the loss of data. Identifying, qualifying and
managing performance of third-party service providers can be difficult, time-consuming and may cause delays in our development programs. These
investigators and CROs will not be our employees and we will not be able to control, other than by contract, the amount of resources, including time, which
they devote to our product candidates and clinical trials. Our reliance on these third parties for research and development activities will reduce our control
over these activities but will not relieve us of our responsibilities. For example, we will remain responsible for ensuring that each of our clinical trials is
conducted in accordance with the general investigational plan and protocols for the trial. If any of our CROs’ processes, methodologies or results were
determined to be invalid or inadequate, our own clinical data and results and related regulatory approvals could be adversely affected. Moreover, the FDA
requires us to comply with standards, commonly referred to as GCPs for conducting, recording and reporting the results of clinical trials to assure that data
and reported results are credible and accurate and that the rights, integrity and confidentiality of trial participants are protected. The FDA enforces GCPs
through periodic inspections of trial sponsors, principal investigators and clinical trial sites. If we or our CRO or trial sites fail to comply with applicable
GCPs, the clinical data generated in our clinical trials may be deemed unreliable and the FDA may require us to perform additional clinical trials before
approving any marketing applications. Upon inspection, the FDA may determine that our clinical trials did not comply with GCPs. In addition, our clinical
trials will require a sufficiently large number of test subjects to evaluate the safety and effectiveness of a product candidate. Accordingly, if our CROs fail
to comply with these regulations or fail to recruit a sufficient number of patients, our clinical trials may be delayed, or we may be required to repeat such
clinical trials, which would delay the regulatory approval process.
Furthermore, these third parties may also have relationships with other entities, some of which may be our competitors. If these third parties do not
successfully carry out their contractual duties, meet expected deadlines, or if the quality of the clinical data they obtain is compromised due to the failure to
conduct our clinical trials in accordance with regulatory requirements or our stated protocols, we will not be able to obtain, or may be delayed in obtaining,
marketing approvals for our product candidates and will not be able to, or may be delayed in our efforts to, successfully commercialize our product
candidates.
If our current collaborations are not successful or we are not able to establish collaborations, we may have to alter our development plans.
Our product development programs and the potential commercialization of our product candidates will require substantial additional cash to fund our
expenses. We may seek to collaborate with third parties for certain of our development programs, and for the commercialization of our product candidates,
if approved. For example, in August 2020, we entered into a commercialization agreement with Eversana for the commercialization of M207, if approved
by the FDA.
We face significant competition in seeking appropriate collaborators. Whether we reach a definitive collaborative agreement will depend, among other
things, upon our assessment of the collaborator’s resources and expertise, the terms and conditions of the proposed collaboration and the proposed
collaborator’s evaluation of a number of factors. Those factors may include the design or results of clinical trials, the likelihood of approval by the FDA or
similar regulatory authorities outside the United States, the potential market for the subject product candidate, the costs and complexities of manufacturing
and delivering such product candidate to patients, the potential existence of competing drugs, the existence of uncertainty with respect to our ownership of
technology, which can exist if there is a challenge to such ownership without regard to the merits of the challenge and industry and market conditions
generally. The collaborator may also consider alternative product candidates or technologies for similar indications that may be available on which to
collaborate and whether such a collaboration could be more attractive than the one with us for our product candidate. In addition, there have been a
significant number of recent business transactions among large pharmaceutical companies that have resulted in a reduced number of potential future
collaborators.
Collaborations are complex and time-consuming to negotiate and document. We may also be restricted under collaboration agreements from entering
into agreements with other potential collaborators. We may not be able to negotiate collaborations on acceptable terms, or at all. If that were to occur, we
may have to curtail, reduce or delay the development of a particular product candidate, or one or more of our other development programs, delay its or their
potential commercialization or reduce the scope of our sales or marketing activities, or increase our expenditures and undertake development or
commercialization activities at our own expense. If we elect to increase our expenditures to fund development or commercialization activities on our own,
we
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may need to obtain additional capital, which may not be available to us on acceptable terms or at all. If we do not have sufficient funds, we will not be able
to bring our product candidate to market and generate revenue.
In addition, any current or future collaborations that we enter into may not be successful. The success of our collaboration arrangements will depend
heavily on the efforts and activities of our collaborators. Collaborators generally have significant discretion in determining the efforts and resources that
they will apply to these collaborations. Disagreements between parties to a collaboration arrangement regarding clinical development and
commercialization matters can lead to delays in the development process or commercializing the applicable product candidate and, in some cases,
termination of the collaboration arrangement. These disagreements can be difficult to resolve if neither of the parties has final decision-making authority.
Collaborations with pharmaceutical or biotechnology companies and other third parties may be terminated or allowed to expire by the other party. Any
such termination or expiration would adversely affect us financially and could harm our business reputation.
We may form strategic partnerships and collaborations in the future, and we may not realize the benefits of such alliances.
We may seek strategic partnerships, create joint ventures or collaborations or enter into licensing arrangements with third parties that we believe will
complement or augment our existing business. These relationships may require us to incur non-recurring and other charges, increase our near- and longterm expenditures, issue securities that dilute our existing stockholders or disrupt our management and business. In addition, we face significant
competition in seeking appropriate strategic partners and the negotiation process is time-consuming and complex.
The process of establishing and maintaining collaborative relationships is difficult, time-consuming and involves significant uncertainty, including:
•

a collaboration partner may seek to renegotiate or terminate their relationships with us due to unsatisfactory clinical results, manufacturing
issues, a change in business strategy, a change of control or other reasons;

•

a collaboration partner may shift its priorities and resources away from our product candidate due to a change in business strategy, or a merger,
acquisition, sale or downsizing;

•

a collaboration partner may not devote sufficient resources towards, or cease development in, therapeutic areas which are the subject of our
strategic collaboration;

•

a collaboration partner may change the success criteria for a product candidate thereby delaying or ceasing development of such candidate;

•

a collaboration partner could develop a product candidate that competes, either directly or indirectly, with our product candidate;

•

a significant delay in initiation of certain development activities by a collaboration partner will also delay payment of milestones tied to such
activities, thereby impacting our ability to fund our own activities;

•

a collaboration partner with commercialization obligations may not commit sufficient financial or human resources to the marketing,
distribution or sale of a product;

•

a collaboration partner with manufacturing responsibilities may encounter regulatory, resource or quality issues and be unable to meet demand
requirements;

•

a dispute may arise between us and a collaboration partner concerning the research, development or commercialization of a product candidate
resulting in a delay in milestones, royalty payments or termination of an alliance and possibly resulting in costly litigation or arbitration which
may divert management attention and resources;

•

a collaboration partner may use our products or technology in such a way as to invite litigation from a third party; and

•

a collaboration partner may exercise a contractual right to terminate a strategic alliance, making us ineligible to receive milestone or royalty
payments under such agreement.
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RISKS RELATED TO MARKETING AND SALE OF OUR PRODUCTS
We have no experience selling, marketing or distributing approved product candidates and currently have no internal capabilities to do so, and will rely
on Eversana and other third parties for the commercialization of M207 or may need to develop an internal sales organization, and we and they may not
be able to effectively market, sell and distribute M207, if approved.
We currently have no internal sales, marketing or distribution capabilities. Even if M207 is approved by the FDA, we may not be able to effectively
market and distribute M207. We have engaged Eversana to conduct agreed commercialization activities, and to utilize its internal sales organization along
with its other commercial capabilities for market access, marketing, distribution and patient support services for M207. Eversana may be unable to identify
and retain suitable candidates to fill our direct sales force needs, on our expected launch timeframe or otherwise. To the extent we and Eversana are not
successful in retaining qualified sales and marketing personnel, we may not be able to effectively market M207. Further, there can be no assurance that the
capabilities of Eversana will be effective in marketing and selling M207, or that their personnel will be more effective than an internally developed sales
organization. In addition, under the amended master services agreement, Eversana may terminate our agreement, including the obligation to provide a
revolving credit facility, and can terminate the agreement under certain additional circumstances, including if FDA approval of M207 is not received by
December 31, 2021, if net profits are not realized within a specified time period following commercial launch, for material breach of the agreement by us
that is not cured within a defined time period, for our insolvency, if M207 is subject to a safety recall in the United States or if M207 is not commercially
launched within a specified time period after FDA approval of the NDA. Also, in connection with the amendment of the master services agreement in
September 2021, we and Eversana agreed that if the NDA is approved, the deferral mechanism, payment terms and loan terms in the master services
agreement will be adjusted as mutually agreed by both parties. There is no guarantee that we and Eversana will reach an agreement on the deferral
mechanism, payment terms and loan terms. If we and Eversana fail to hire, train, retain and manage qualified sales personnel, market our product
successfully or on a cost-effective basis or otherwise terminate our relationship, our ability to generate revenue will be limited and we will need to identify
and retain an alternative organization, or develop our own sales and marketing capability. In such an event, we would have to invest significant amounts of
financial and management resources to develop internal sales, distribution and marketing capabilities. This could involve significant delays and costs,
including the diversion of our management’s attention from other activities. We may also need to retain additional consultants or external service providers
to assist us in sales, marketing and distribution functions, and may be unsuccessful in retaining such services on acceptable financial terms or at all.
If we do perform sales, marketing and distribution functions ourselves, we could face a number of additional related risks, including:
•

inability to attract and build an effective marketing department or sales force;

•

the cost of establishing a marketing department or sales force may exceed our available financial resources and the revenues generated by
M207 or any other product candidates that we may develop, in-license or acquire; and

•

our direct sales and marketing efforts may not be successful.

If we are unsuccessful in building and managing a sales and marketing infrastructure internally or through a third-party partner for any approved
product, we will have difficulty commercializing M207 or any other product candidate, if approved, which would materially adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations.
If M207 does not obtain sufficient market share against competitive products, we may not achieve substantial product revenues and our business will
suffer.
The market for the potential indication for M207 is characterized by intense competition and rapid technological advances. Our product candidates
will, if approved, compete with a number of existing and future drug delivery systems and therapies developed, manufactured and marketed by others.
Existing or future competing products may provide greater therapeutic convenience or clinical or other benefits for a specific indication than our product
candidate or may offer comparable performance at a lower cost. If our product candidates fail to capture and maintain market share, we may not achieve
sufficient revenues and our business will suffer.
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We will compete against fully integrated pharmaceutical companies and smaller companies that are collaborating with larger pharmaceutical
companies, academic institutions, government agencies and other public and private research organizations. Many of these competitors, either alone or
together with their collaborative partners, operate larger research and development programs or have substantially greater financial and other resources than
we do, as well as significantly greater experience in:
•

developing drugs;

•

undertaking preclinical testing and human clinical trials;

•

obtaining FDA and other regulatory approvals of drugs;

•

formulating and manufacturing drugs; and

•

launching, marketing and selling drugs.

The development and commercialization of new products to treat migraine is highly competitive. We expect to have considerable competition from
major pharmaceutical, biotechnology, specialty pharmaceutical and medical device companies. Companies marketing products or have product candidates
that treat migraine that may compete with M207, include but are not limited to, Teva Pharmaceutical Industries, GlaxoSmithKline, Eli Lilly & Company,
AstraZeneca, Novartis, Allergan, Biohaven Pharmaceuticals, Lundbeck, Amgen, Merck & Co., Pfizer, Janssen Pharmaceutica, Endo International,
Assertio, Upsher-Smith Laboratories, Satsuma Pharmaceuticals, Supernus Pharmaceutical, Currax Pharmaceuticals, Impel NeuroPharma, Axsome
Therapeutics, electroCore, eNeura, Cefaly, Theranica, Amneal Pharmaceuticals and generic manufacturers of acute and preventive therapies.
Products developed or under development by competitors may render our product candidates or technologies obsolete or non-competitive.
The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries are intensely competitive and subject to rapid and significant technological change. Our product
candidates will have to compete with existing therapies, new formulations of existing drugs and new therapies that may be developed in the future. We face
competition from pharmaceutical, biotechnology and medical device companies, including transdermal delivery companies, in the United States and
abroad. In addition, companies pursuing different but related fields represent substantial competition. Many of these organizations competing with us have
substantially greater capital resources, larger research and development staffs and facilities, longer drug development history in obtaining regulatory
approvals and greater manufacturing and marketing capabilities than we do. These organizations also compete with us to attract qualified personnel and
parties for acquisitions, joint ventures or other collaborations, and therefore, we may not be able to hire or retain qualified personnel to run all facets of our
business.
We face potential product liability exposure, and if successful claims are brought against us, we may incur substantial liability and may have to limit
development of a product candidate or commercialization of an approved product.
The use of our product candidates in clinical trials and the sale of any product candidate for which we may obtain marketing approval expose us to the
risk of product liability claims. Product liability claims may be brought against us by participants enrolled in our clinical trials, patients, healthcare
providers or others using, administering or selling our product candidates. If we cannot successfully defend ourselves against any such claims, we would
incur substantial liabilities. Regardless of merit or eventual outcome, product liability claims may result in:
•

withdrawal of clinical trial participants;

•

termination of clinical trial sites or entire trial programs;

•

costs of related litigation;

•

substantial monetary awards to patients or other claimants;

•

decreased demand for an approved product and loss of revenue;

•

impairment of our business reputation;

•

diversion of management and scientific resources from our business operations; and

•

the inability to commercialize an approved product candidate.
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Insurance coverage is becoming increasingly expensive, and, in the future, we may not be able to maintain insurance coverage at a reasonable cost or
in sufficient amounts to protect us against losses due to product liability. We intend to expand our insurance coverage to include the sale of commercial
products if we obtain marketing approval for any product candidate, but we may be unable to obtain commercially reasonable product liability insurance
for any product candidate approved for marketing. Large judgments have been awarded in class action lawsuits based on drugs that had unanticipated side
effects. A successful product liability claim or a series of claims brought against us, particularly if judgments exceed our insurance coverage, could cause
our stock price to decline and could adversely affect our results of operations and business.
We may be exposed to liability claims associated with the use of hazardous materials and chemicals.
Our research and development activities may involve the controlled use of hazardous materials and chemicals. Although we believe that our safety
procedures for using, storing, handling and disposing of these materials comply with federal, state and local laws and regulations, we cannot completely
eliminate the risk of accidental injury or contamination from these materials. In the event of such an accident, we could be held liable for any resulting
damages and any liability could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, the federal, state and
local laws and regulations governing the use, manufacture, storage, handling and disposal of hazardous materials and waste products may require us to
incur substantial compliance costs that could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Business disruptions could seriously harm our future revenues, results of operations and financial condition and increase our costs and expenses.
Our operations could be subject to earthquakes, power shortages, telecommunications failures, water shortages, floods, fires, extreme weather
conditions, medical pandemics and epidemics, such as the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak and other natural or man-made disasters or business
interruptions, for which we are predominantly self-insured. We do not carry insurance for all categories of risk that our business may encounter. Many of
these events are beyond our control and the occurrence of any of these business disruptions could seriously harm our operations and financial condition and
increase our costs and expenses.
RISKS RELATED TO OUR INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY
If we fail to comply with our obligations to our licensor in our intellectual property license, we could lose license rights that are important to our
business.
We are a party to an Intellectual Property License Agreement dated October 5, 2006, as amended, with ALZA and we may enter into additional license
agreements in the future. Our existing license agreement imposes, and we expect that any future license agreements will impose, various diligence, product
payment, royalty, insurance and other obligations on us. If we fail to comply with these obligations, our licensors may have the right to terminate these
agreements, in which event we might not be able to develop and market any product candidate that is covered by these agreements. Termination of these
licenses or reduction or elimination of our licensed rights may result in our having to negotiate new or reinstated licenses with less favorable terms. These
risks could delay or prevent us from offering our product candidate(s). We might not have the necessary rights or the financial resources to develop,
manufacture or market our current or future product candidates without the rights granted under these licenses, and the loss of sales or potential sales in
such product candidate(s) could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. The occurrence of
such events could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Determining the scope of licenses and
related obligations may be difficult and could lead to disputes between us and the licensor. Disputes may arise regarding intellectual property subject to a
licensing agreement, including:
•

the scope of rights granted under a license agreement and other interpretation-related issues;

•

the extent to which our technology and processes infringe on intellectual property of the licensor that is not subject to the licensing agreement;

•

the sublicensing of patent and other rights under our collaborative development relationships;

•

our diligence obligations under the license agreement and what activities satisfy those diligence obligations;

•

the inventorship or ownership of inventions and know-how resulting from the joint creation or use of intellectual property by our licensors and
us and our partners; and

•

the priority of invention of patented technology.
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Additionally, the agreement under which we currently license intellectual property is complex, and certain provisions may be susceptible to multiple
interpretations. The resolution of any contract interpretation disagreement that may arise could narrow what we believe to be the scope of our rights to the
relevant intellectual property or technology, increase what we believe to be our financial or other obligations under the relevant agreement, or decrease the
third-party’s financial or other obligations under the relevant agreement, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects.
Our failure to obtain and maintain patent protection for our technology and our product candidates could permit our competitors to develop and
commercialize technology and products similar or identical to ours, and our ability to successfully commercialize our technology and product
candidates may be adversely affected.
Our commercial success is significantly dependent on intellectual property related to our product candidate portfolio. We are either the licensee or
assignee of numerous issued and pending patent applications that cover various aspects of our assets, including, most importantly, our microneedle patch
system and our product candidates.
Our success depends in large part on our and our licensor’s ability to obtain and maintain patent protection in the United States and other countries
with respect to our proprietary technology and product candidates. In some circumstances, we may not have the right to control the preparation, filing and
prosecution of patent applications, or to maintain the patents, covering technology or product that we license from third-parties. Therefore, we cannot be
certain that these patents and applications will be prosecuted and enforced in a manner consistent with the best interests of our business. In addition, if
third-parties who license patents to us fail to maintain such patents, or lose rights to those patents, the rights we have licensed may be reduced or
eliminated.
The patent prosecution process is expensive, time-consuming and complex, and we may not be able to file and prosecute all necessary or desirable
patent applications at a reasonable cost or in a timely manner or in all jurisdictions where protection may be commercially advantageous, or we may not be
financially able to protect our proprietary rights at all. It is also possible that we may fail to identify patentable aspects of our research and development
output before it is too late to obtain patent protection. We may not be able to obtain or maintain patent protection from our pending patent applications,
from those we may file in the future, or from those we may license from third-parties. There is no assurance that all potentially relevant prior art relating to
our patents and patent applications has been found. We may be unaware of prior art that could be used to invalidate an issued patent or prevent our pending
patent applications from issuing as patents. Moreover, even if we are able to obtain patent protection, such patent protection may be of insufficient scope to
achieve our business objectives or provide any competitive advantage. In addition, although we enter into non-disclosure and confidentiality agreements
with parties who have access to patentable aspects of our research and development output, any of these parties may breach such agreements and disclose
such output before a patent application is filed, thereby jeopardizing our ability to seek patent protection.
The patent position of biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies generally is highly uncertain, involves complex legal and factual questions and
has in recent years been the subject of much litigation. As a result, the issuance, scope, validity, enforceability and commercial value of our and our
licensor’s patent rights are highly uncertain. Our and our licensor’s pending and future patent applications may not result in patents being issued which
protect our technology or products or which effectively prevent others from commercializing competitive technologies and products. Changes in either the
patent laws or interpretation of the patent laws in the United States and other countries may diminish the value of our patents or narrow the scope of our
patent protection. The standards which the United States Patent and Trademark Office (“USPTO”) and foreign patent offices use to grant patents are not
always applied predictably or uniformly and can change. There is also no uniform, worldwide policy regarding the subject matter and scope of claims
granted or allowable in pharmaceutical or biotechnology patents. The laws of foreign countries may not protect our rights to the same extent as the laws of
the United States, and many companies have encountered significant problems and costs in protecting their proprietary information in these non-U.S.
countries. Outside the United States, patent protection must be sought in individual jurisdictions, further adding to the cost and uncertainty of obtaining
adequate patent protection outside of the United States. Accordingly, we cannot predict whether additional patents protecting our product candidates will
issue in the United States or in non-U.S. jurisdictions, or whether any patents that do issue are valid, enforceable and have claims of adequate scope to
provide competitive advantage. Publications of discoveries in the scientific literature often lag behind the actual discoveries, and patent applications in the
United States and other jurisdictions are typically not published until 18 months after filing, or in some cases not at all. Therefore, we cannot be certain that
we or our licensor were the first to make the inventions claimed in our owned and licensed patents or pending patent applications, or that we or our licensor
were the first to file for patent protection of such inventions. Assuming the other requirements for patentability are met, the first to file a patent application
is entitled to the patent. We may become involved in opposition or interference proceedings challenging our patent rights or the patent rights of others. An
adverse determination in any such proceeding could reduce the scope of, or invalidate our patent rights, allow third-parties to commercialize our
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technology or product candidates and compete directly with us, without payment to us, or result in our inability to manufacture or commercialize our
product candidate without infringing third-party patent rights.
Even if our owned and licensed patent applications issue as patents, they may not issue in a form that will provide us with any meaningful protection,
prevent competitors from competing with us or otherwise provide us with any competitive advantage. Our competitors may be able to circumvent our
owned or licensed patents by developing similar or alternative technologies or products in a non-infringing manner. Third-parties may have patents that
could prevent us from marketing our own patented product candidate. Third-parties may also seek to market generic versions of any of our approved
product. Even if we have valid and enforceable patents, these patents still may not provide protection against competing products or processes sufficient to
achieve our business objectives. The issuance of a patent is not conclusive as to its scope, validity or enforceability, and our owned and licensed patents
may be challenged in the courts or patent offices in the United States and abroad. Such challenges may result in patent claims being narrowed, invalidated
or held unenforceable, which could limit our ability to stop or prevent us from stopping others from using or commercializing similar or identical
technology and products, or limit the duration of the patent protection of our technology and product candidates. Given the amount of time required for the
development, testing and regulatory review of product candidates, patents protecting such candidates might expire before or shortly after such candidates
are commercialized. As a result, our owned and licensed patent portfolio may not provide us with sufficient rights to exclude others from commercializing
products similar or identical to ours.
Bearing the costs and other requirements associated with prosecution of pending patent applications and maintenance of issued patents are essential to
procurement and maintenance of patents integral to our product candidates, and our patent protection could be reduced or eliminated for noncompliance for these requirements.
Periodic maintenance fees, renewal fees, annuity fees and various other governmental fees on patents and/or patent applications will come due for
payment periodically throughout the lifecycle of patent applications and issued patents. In order to help ensure that we comply with any required fee
payment, documentary and/or procedural requirements as they might relate to any patents for which we are an assignee or co-assignee, we employ legal
help and related professionals as needed to comply with those requirements. Failure to meet a required fee payment, document production or procedural
requirement can result in the abandonment of a pending patent application or the lapse of an issued patent. In some instances, the defect can be cured
through late compliance, but there are situations where the failure to meet the required deadline cannot be cured. Such an occurrence could compromise the
intellectual property protection around a preclinical or clinical product candidate and possibly weaken or eliminate our ability to protect our eventual
market share for that product candidate.
Our business will be harmed if we do not successfully protect the confidentiality of our trade secrets.
In addition to our patented technology and product candidates, we rely on trade secrets, including unpatented know-how, technology and other
proprietary information, to maintain our competitive position. We seek to protect these trade secrets, in part, by entering into non-disclosure and
confidentiality agreements with parties that have access to them, such as our corporate collaborators, outside scientific collaborators, sponsored researchers,
contract manufacturers, consultants, advisors and other third- parties. We also enter into confidentiality and invention or patent assignment agreements with
our employees and consultants. However, any of these parties may breach the agreements and disclose our proprietary information, and we may not be able
to obtain adequate remedies for such breaches. Enforcing a claim that a party illegally disclosed or misappropriated a trade secret is difficult, expensive and
time-consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable. In addition, some courts inside and outside the United States are less willing or unwilling to protect
trade secrets. If any of our trade secrets were to be lawfully obtained or independently developed by a competitor, we would have no right to prevent them
from using that technology or information to compete with us. If any of our trade secrets were to be disclosed to or independently developed by a
competitor, our competitive position would be harmed.
In addition to contractual measures, we try to protect the confidential nature of our proprietary information using commonly accepted physical and
technological security measures. Such security measures may not provide adequate protection for our proprietary information, for example, in the case of
misappropriation of a trade secret by an employee, consultant, or third-party with authorized access. Monitoring unauthorized uses and disclosures is
difficult, and we do not know whether the steps we have taken to protect our proprietary technologies will be effective. Unauthorized parties may also
attempt to copy or reverse engineer certain aspects of our products that we consider proprietary. Even though we use commonly accepted security
measures, the criteria for protection of trade secrets can vary among different jurisdictions.
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We could be prevented from selling our product candidates, if approved, and could be forced to pay damages and defend against litigation, if we
infringe the rights of third-parties.
We conduct freedom-to-operate studies to guide our early-stage research and development away from areas where we are likely to encounter obstacles
in the form of third-party intellectual property conflicts, and to assess the advisability of licensing third-party intellectual property or taking other
appropriate steps to address any freedom-to-operate or development issues. However, with respect to third-party intellectual property, it is impossible to
establish with certainty that our product candidates will be free of claims by third-party intellectual property holders or whether we will require licenses
from such third-parties. Even with modern databases and online search engines, literature searches are imperfect and may fail to identify relevant patents
and published applications.
In the pharmaceutical industry, significant litigation and other proceedings, including interferences, oppositions, reexamination, inter partes review,
derivation and post-grant review proceedings before the USPTO and corresponding foreign patent offices, regarding patents, patent applications,
trademarks and other intellectual property rights have become commonplace. The types of situations in which we may become a party to such proceedings
include:
•

we or our collaborators may initiate litigation or other proceedings against third-parties seeking to invalidate the patents held by those thirdparties or to obtain a judgment that our products or processes do not infringe those third-parties’ patents;

•

if our competitors file patent applications that claim technology also claimed by us or our licensors, we or our licensors may be required to
participate in interference or opposition proceedings to determine the priority of invention, which could jeopardize our patent rights and
potentially provide a third-party with a dominant patent position;

•

if third-parties initiate litigation claiming that our processes or products infringe their patent or other intellectual property rights, we and our
collaborators will need to defend against such proceedings; and,

•

if a license to necessary intellectual property is terminated, the licensor may initiate litigation claiming that our processes or products infringe,
misappropriate or otherwise violate their patent or other intellectual property rights and/or that we breached our obligations under the license
agreement, and we and our collaborators would need to defend against such proceedings.

Third-parties may assert that we are employing their proprietary technology without authorization or have infringed upon, misappropriated or
otherwise violated their intellectual property or other rights. Even if we believe third-party claims of infringement against us or our collaborators are
without merit, there is a risk that a court would decide that we or our collaborators are infringing the third-party’s valid and enforceable patents. If our
product candidates, methods, processes or other technologies infringe the proprietary rights of other parties, we could incur substantial costs and may have
to:
•

obtain licenses, which may not be available on commercially reasonable terms, if at all;

•

abandon an infringing product;

•

redesign our product candidates or processes to avoid infringement;

•

stop using the subject matter claimed in the patents held by others;

•

pay damages; or

•

defend litigation or administrative proceedings which may be costly whether we win or lose, and which could result in a substantial diversion of
our financial and management resources.

We intend to pursue Section 505(b)(2) regulatory approval filings with the FDA for M207 and potentially for our other product candidates where
applicable. Such filings involve significant costs, and we may also encounter difficulties or delays in obtaining regulatory approval for M207 or any
other product candidates under Section 505(b)(2).
We intend to pursue regulatory approval for M207 and potentially for any other product candidates, pursuant to Section 505(b)(2) of the FDCA. A
Section 505(b)(2) application is a type of NDA that enables the applicant to rely, in part, on the FDA’s findings of safety and efficacy of a previously
approved product for which the applicant has no right of reference, or published literature, in support of its application. Section 505(b)(2) NDAs often
provide an alternate path to FDA approval for new or improved formulations or new uses of previously approved products. Such applications involve
significant costs, including filing fees.
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To the extent that a Section 505(b)(2) NDA relies on clinical trials conducted for a previously approved product or the FDA’s prior findings of safety
and effectiveness for a previously approved product, the Section 505(b)(2) applicant must submit patent certifications in its Section 505(b)(2) application
with respect to any patents for the previously approved product on which the applicant’s application relies and that are listed in the FDA’s Approved Drug
Products with Therapeutic Equivalence Evaluations, commonly known as the Orange Book. Specifically, the applicant must certify for each listed patent
that, in relevant part, (Paragraph I) the required patent information has not been filed by the original applicant; (Paragraph II) the listed patent has expired;
(Paragraph III) the listed patent has not expired, but will expire on a particular date and approval is not sought until after patent expiration; or (Paragraph
IV) the listed patent is invalid, unenforceable or will not be infringed by the proposed new product. A certification that the new product will not infringe
the previously approved product’s listed patent or that such patent is invalid or unenforceable is known as a Paragraph IV certification. If the applicant does
not challenge one or more listed patents through a Paragraph IV certification, the FDA will not approve the Section 505(b)(2) NDA application until all the
listed patents claiming the referenced product candidate have expired.
If the Section 505(b)(2) NDA applicant has provided a Paragraph IV certification to the FDA, the applicant must also send notice of the Paragraph IV
certification to the owner of the referenced NDA for the previously approved product and relevant patent holders within 20 days after the Section 505(b)(2)
NDA has been accepted for filing by the FDA. The NDA and patent holders may then initiate a patent infringement suit against the Section 505(b)(2)
applicant. Under the FDCA, the filing of a patent infringement lawsuit within 45 days of receipt of the notification regarding a Paragraph IV certification
automatically prevents the FDA from approving the Section 505(b)(2) NDA until the earliest to occur of 30 months beginning on the date the patent holder
receives notice, expiration of the patent, settlement of the lawsuit, or until a court deems the patent unenforceable, invalid or not infringed.
If we rely in our Section 505(b)(2) regulatory filings on clinical trials conducted, or the FDA’s prior findings of safety and effectiveness, for a
previously approved product that involves patents referenced in the Orange Book, then we will need to make the patent certifications or the Paragraph IV
certification described above. If we make a Paragraph IV certification and the holder of the previously approved product that we referenced in our
application initiates patent litigation within the time periods described above, then any FDA approval of our Section 505(b)(2) application would be
delayed until the earlier of 30 months, resolution of the lawsuit, or the other events described above. Accordingly, our anticipated dates of commercial
introduction of our product candidates would be delayed. In addition, we would incur the expenses, which could be material, involved with any such patent
litigation. As a result, we may invest a significant amount of time and expense in the development of our product candidates only to be subject to
significant delay and patent litigation before our product candidates may be commercialized, if at all.
In addition, even if we submit a Section 505(b)(2) application that relies on clinical trials conducted for a previously approved product where there are
no patents referenced in the Orange Book for such other product with respect to which we have to provide certifications, we are subject to the risk that the
FDA could disagree with our reliance on the particular previously approved product, conclude that such previously approved product is not an acceptable
reference product, and require us instead to rely as a reference product on another previously approved product that involves patents referenced in the
Orange Book, requiring us to make the certifications described above and subjecting us to additional delay, expense and the other risks described above.
The FDA may also find that additional studies are necessary for the Section 505(b)(2) application, which could delay when our product candidates are
commercialized, potentially increasing the amount of time and expense in the development of our product candidates.
We may become involved in costly and time-consuming lawsuits with uncertain outcomes to protect or enforce our patents.
Competitors may infringe our patents. To counter infringement or unauthorized use, we may be required to file infringement claims, which can be
expensive and time consuming. In addition, in an infringement proceeding, a court may decide that a patent of ours is invalid or unenforceable or may
refuse to stop the other party from using the technology at issue on the grounds that our patents do not cover the technology in question. If we initiate legal
proceedings against a third-party to enforce a patent covering our product candidates, the defendant could counterclaim that the patents covering our
product candidates are invalid or unenforceable. In patent litigation in the United States, defendant counterclaims alleging invalidity or unenforceability are
commonplace. Grounds for a validity challenge could be an alleged failure to meet any of several statutory requirements, including a lack of novelty,
obviousness, written description or non-enablement. Grounds for an unenforceability assertion could be an allegation that someone connected with
prosecution of the patent withheld information material to patentability from the USPTO, or made a misleading statement, during prosecution. Third-parties
also may raise similar claims before administrative bodies in the United States or abroad, even outside the context of litigation. Such mechanisms include
ex parte reexamination, post-grant review, inter partes review, interference proceedings, derivation proceedings, and equivalent proceedings in foreign
jurisdictions (e.g., opposition proceedings).
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There is a risk that a court or administrative body would decide to revoke, cancel or amend our patents in such a way that they no longer cover and
protect a product candidate. In addition, a court or administrative body may decide that our patents are invalid, unenforceable or not infringed by a thirdparty’s activities. The outcome following legal assertions of invalidity and unenforceability is unpredictable. With respect to the validity question, for
example, we cannot be certain that there is no invalidating prior art of which the patent examiner and we or our licensing partners were unaware during
prosecution. An adverse result in any litigation or proceeding could put one or more of our patents at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly.
Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation, there is a risk that some of our
confidential information could be compromised by disclosure during this type of litigation. In addition, our licensors may have rights to file and prosecute
such claims and we may be reliant on them to do so.
An adverse outcome in a litigation or proceeding involving our patents could limit our ability to assert our patents against competitors, affect our
ability to receive royalties or other licensing consideration from our licensees, and may curtail or preclude our ability to exclude third-parties from making,
using and selling similar or competitive products. Any of these occurrences could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects.
We may be subject to claims that our employees have wrongfully used or disclosed alleged trade secrets of their former employers.
Some of our employees were previously employed at universities or other biotechnology or pharmaceutical companies, including our competitors or
potential competitors. Although we try to ensure that our employees do not use the proprietary information or know-how of others in their work for us, we
may be subject to claims that we or our employees have used or disclosed intellectual property, including trade secrets or other proprietary information, of
any such employee’s former employer, or that patents and applications we have filed to protect inventions of these employees, even those related to our
product candidates, are rightfully owned by their former or concurrent employer. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. If we fail in
defending any such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights or personnel. Even if we are
successful in defending against such claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to management.
Our agreements with employees and our personnel policies also provide that any inventions conceived by the individual in the course of rendering
services to us shall be our exclusive property. Although our policy is to have all employees complete these agreements, we may not obtain these agreements
in all circumstances, and individuals with whom we have these agreements may not comply with their terms. The assignment of intellectual property may
not be self-executing and despite such agreement, such inventions may become assigned to third-parties. In the event of unauthorized use or disclosure of
our trade secrets or proprietary information, these agreements, even if obtained, may not provide meaningful protection, particularly for our trade secrets or
other confidential information. To the extent that our employees, consultants or contractors use technology or know-how owned by third-parties in their
work for us, disputes may arise between us and those third-parties as to the rights in related inventions. We may also be subject to claims that former
employees, collaborators, or other third-parties have an ownership interest in our patents or other intellectual property. In addition, we may face claims by
third-parties that our agreements with employees, contractors, or consultants obligating them to assign intellectual property to us are ineffective or in
conflict with prior or competing contractual obligations of assignment, which could result in ownership disputes regarding intellectual property we have
developed or will develop and interfere with our ability to capture the commercial value of such intellectual property. To the extent that an individual who
is not obligated to assign rights in intellectual property to us is rightfully an inventor of intellectual property, we may need to obtain an assignment or a
license to that intellectual property from that individual, or a third-party or from that individual’s assignee. Such assignment or license may not be available
on commercially reasonable terms or at all.
Intellectual property litigation could cause us to spend substantial resources and distract our personnel from their normal responsibilities.
There is a great deal of litigation concerning intellectual property in our industry, and we could become involved in litigation. Even if resolved in our
favor, litigation or other legal proceedings relating to intellectual property claims may cause us to incur significant expenses and could distract our technical
and management personnel from their normal responsibilities. In addition, there could be public announcements of the results of hearings, motions or other
interim proceedings or developments, and if securities analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative, it could have a substantial adverse effect
on the price of our common stock. Such litigation or proceedings could substantially increase our operating losses and reduce our resources available for
development activities. We may not have sufficient financial or other resources to adequately conduct such litigation or proceedings. Some of our
competitors may be able to sustain the costs of such litigation or proceedings more effectively than we can because of their substantially greater financial
resources. Uncertainties resulting from
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the initiation and continuation of patent litigation or other proceedings could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of
operations and ability to compete in the marketplace.
Recent patent reform legislation could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent applications and the enforcement
or defense of our issued patents.
On September 16, 2011, the Leahy-Smith America Invents Act (“Leahy-Smith Act”) was signed into law. The Leahy-Smith Act includes a number of
significant changes to U.S. patent law. These include provisions that affect the way patent applications will be prosecuted and may also affect patent
litigation. In particular, under the Leahy-Smith Act, the United States transitioned in March 2013 to a “first to file” system in which the first inventor to file
a patent application will be entitled to the patent. Third- parties are allowed to submit prior art before the issuance of a patent by the USPTO and may
become involved in opposition, derivation, reexamination, inter-parties review or interference proceedings challenging our patent rights or the patent rights
of others. An adverse determination in any such submission, proceeding or litigation could reduce the scope of, or invalidate, our patent rights, which could
adversely affect our competitive position.
The USPTO is implementing regulations and procedures to govern administration of the Leahy-Smith Act, and many of the substantive changes to
patent law associated with the Leahy-Smith Act, and in particular, the first to file provisions, did not become effective until March 16, 2013. In addition,
courts continue to decide how to interpret and enforce patent law. Accordingly, it is not clear what, if any, impact the Leahy-Smith Act will have on the
operation of our business. However, the Leahy-Smith Act and its implementation could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of
our patent applications and the enforcement or defense of our issued patents, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations, financial condition and cash flows and future prospects.
In addition, the patent positions of companies in the development and commercialization of biologics and pharmaceuticals are particularly uncertain.
Recent U.S. Supreme Court rulings have narrowed the scope of patent protection available in certain circumstances and weakened the rights of patent
owners in certain situations. This combination of events has created uncertainty with respect to the validity and enforceability of patents, once obtained.
Depending on future actions by the U.S. Congress, the federal courts, and the USPTO, the laws and regulations governing patents could change in
unpredictable ways that could have a material adverse effect on our existing patent portfolio and our ability to protect and enforce our intellectual property
in the future. Similarly, statutory or judicial changes to the patent laws of other countries may increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the
prosecution of patent applications and the enforcement or defense of issued patents.
We may not be successful in obtaining necessary rights to future product candidates through acquisitions and in-licenses.
Any future programs we choose to pursue may require the use of proprietary rights held by third-parties, and the growth of our business will likely
depend in part on our ability to acquire, in-license, maintain or use these proprietary rights. We may be unable to acquire or in-license any compositions,
methods of use, processes, or other third-party intellectual property from third- parties that we later identify as necessary for our future product candidates
or such intellectual property may not be available on commercially reasonable terms. The licensing and acquisition of third-party intellectual property
rights is a competitive area, and a number of more established companies are also pursuing strategies to license or acquire third-party intellectual property
rights that we may consider attractive. These established companies may have a competitive advantage over us due to their size, financial resources, and
greater clinical development and commercialization capabilities.
For example, we may in the future collaborate with non-profit and academic institutions to accelerate our preclinical research or development under
written agreements with these institutions. These institutions may provide us with an option to negotiate a license to any of the institution’s rights in
technology resulting from the collaboration. Regardless of such option, we may be unable to negotiate a license within the specified time frame or under
terms that are acceptable to us. If we are unable to do so, the institution may offer the intellectual property rights to other parties, potentially blocking our
ability to pursue our applicable product candidate or program.
In addition, companies that perceive us to be a competitor may be unwilling to assign or license rights to us. We also may be unable to license or
acquire third-party intellectual property rights on terms that would allow us to make an appropriate return on our investment. If we are unable to
successfully obtain a license to third-party intellectual property rights necessary for the development of a product candidate or program on reasonable terms
or at all, we may have to abandon development of that product candidate or program and our business and financial condition could materially adversely
suffer.
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We may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights throughout the world.
Filing, prosecuting, and defending patents on our product candidates in all countries throughout the world may be prohibitively expensive, and our
intellectual property rights in some countries outside the United States and Europe can be less extensive than those in the United States and Europe. In
addition, the laws of some countries outside the United States and Europe do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as federal and state
laws in the United States and laws in Europe. Consequently, we may not be able to prevent third-parties from practicing our inventions in all countries
outside the United States and Europe, or from selling or importing products made using our inventions in and into the United States, Europe or other
jurisdictions. Third- parties may use our technologies in jurisdictions where we have not obtained or are unable to adequately enforce patent protection to
develop their own products and further, may export otherwise infringing products to territories where we have patent protection, but enforcement is not as
strong as that in the United States and Europe. These products may compete with our product and our patents or other intellectual property may not be
effective or sufficient to prevent them from competing.
Many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in jurisdictions outside the United
States and Europe. The legal systems of certain countries, particularly certain developing countries, do not favor the enforcement of patents, trade secrets,
and other intellectual property protection, particularly those relating to biotechnology products, which could make it difficult for us to stop the infringement
of our patents, the reproduction of our manufacturing or other know-how or marketing of competing products in violation of our proprietary rights
generally. Proceedings to enforce our intellectual property rights in jurisdictions outside the United States and Europe, whether or not successful, could
result in substantial costs and divert our efforts and attention from other aspects of our business, could put our patents at risk of being invalidated or
interpreted narrowly and our patent applications at risk of not issuing and could provoke third-parties to assert claims against us. We may not prevail in any
lawsuits that we initiate, and the damages or other remedies awarded, if any, may not be commercially meaningful. Accordingly, our efforts to enforce our
intellectual property rights around the world may be inadequate to obtain a significant commercial advantage from the intellectual property that we develop
or license.
Many countries have compulsory licensing laws under which a patent owner may be compelled to grant licenses to third- parties. In addition, many
countries limit the enforceability of patents against government agencies or government contractors. In these countries, the patent owner may have limited
remedies, which could materially diminish the value of such patent. If we or any of our licensors is forced to grant a license to third-parties with respect to
any patents relevant to our business, our competitive position may be impaired, and our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects
may be adversely affected.
If we do not obtain patent term extensions and data exclusivity for M207 or any of our other product candidates, our business may be materially
harmed.
Depending upon the timing, duration and conditions of any FDA marketing approval of our product candidates, one or more of our U.S. patents may
be eligible for limited patent term extension under the Hatch-Waxman Act and similar legislation in the EU. The Hatch-Waxman Act permits a patent term
extension of up to five years for a patent covering an approved product as compensation for effective patent term lost during the FDA regulatory review
process. A patent term extension cannot extend the remaining term of a patent beyond a total of 14 years from the date of product approval, only one patent
may be extended and only those claims covering the approved drug, a method for using it or a method for manufacturing it may be extended. However, we
may not receive an extension, for example, if we fail to apply within applicable deadlines, fail to apply prior to expiration of relevant patents or otherwise
fail to satisfy applicable requirements. Moreover, the length of the extension could be less than we request. If we are unable to obtain patent term extension
or the term of any such extension is less than we request, the period during which we can enforce our patent rights for that product will be shortened and
our competitors may obtain approval to market competing products sooner. As a result, our business, financial condition, results of operations, and
prospects may be adversely affected.
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If our trademarks and trade names are not adequately protected, then we may not be able to build name recognition in our markets of interest and our
business may be adversely affected.
Our pending or future registered or unregistered trademarks or trade names may not issue and may be challenged, infringed, circumvented or declared
generic or determined to be infringing on other marks. We may not be able to protect our rights to these trademarks and trade names, which we need to
build name recognition by potential partners or customers in our markets of interest. At times, competitors may adopt trade names or trademarks similar to
ours, thereby impeding our ability to build brand identity and possibly leading to market confusion. Over the long term, if we are unable to establish name
recognition based on our trademarks and trade names, then we may not be able to compete effectively, and our business may be adversely affected.
Intellectual property rights do not necessarily address all potential threats to any competitive advantage we may have.
The degree of future protection afforded by our intellectual property rights is uncertain because intellectual property rights have limitations, and may
not adequately protect our business, or permit us to maintain our competitive advantage. The following examples are illustrative:
•

Others may be able to make compounds that are the same as or similar to our product candidates, which are aimed initially at the generic
market and are not covered by the claims of the patents that we own or have exclusively licensed;

•

We or any of our licensors or strategic partners might not have been the first to make the inventions covered by the issued patent or pending
patent application that we own or have exclusively licensed;

•

Others may independently develop similar or alternative technologies or duplicate any of our technologies without infringing our intellectual
property rights;

•

It is possible that our pending patent applications will not lead to issued patents;

•

Issued patents that we own or have exclusively licensed may not provide us with any competitive advantages, or may be held invalid or
unenforceable, as a result of legal challenges by our competitors;

•

Our competitors might conduct research and development activities in the United States and other countries that provide a safe harbor from
patent infringement claims for certain research and development activities, as well as in countries where we do not have patent rights, and then
use the information learned from such activities to develop competitive products for sale in our major commercial markets.

RISKS RELATED TO LEGISLATION AND ADMINISTRATIVE ACTIONS
Our relationships with customers and third-party payers will be subject to applicable anti-kickback, fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and
regulations, which could expose us to criminal sanctions, civil penalties, contractual damages, reputational harm and diminished profits and future
earnings.
Healthcare providers, physicians and third-party payers will play a primary role in the recommendation and prescription of any product candidates for
which we obtain marketing approval. Our future arrangements with third-party payers and customers may expose us to broadly applicable fraud and abuse
and other healthcare laws and regulations that may constrain the business or financial arrangements and relationships through which we market, sell and
distribute any products for which we obtain marketing approval. Restrictions under applicable federal and state healthcare laws and regulations include the
following:
•

the federal Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits, among other things, persons from knowingly and willfully soliciting, offering, receiving or
providing remuneration, directly or indirectly, in cash or in kind, to induce or reward, or in return for, either the referral of an individual for, or
the purchase, order or recommendation of, any good or service, for which payment may be made under a federal healthcare program such as
Medicare and Medicaid; The term “remuneration” has been broadly interpreted to include anything of value. Although there are a number of
statutory exceptions and regulatory safe harbors protecting some common activities from prosecution, the exceptions and safe harbors are
drawn narrowly. Practices that involve remuneration that may be alleged to be intended to induce prescribing, purchases or recommendations
may be subject to scrutiny if they do not qualify for an exception or safe harbor. A person or entity does not need to have actual knowledge of
the federal Anti-Kickback Statute or specific intent to violate it to have committed a violation;

•

the federal False Claims Act imposes criminal and civil penalties, including civil whistleblower or qui tam actions, against individuals or
entities for, among other things, knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented false or fraudulent claims for payment by a federal
government program, or making a false statement or record material to
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payment of a false claim or avoiding, decreasing or concealing an obligation to pay money to the federal government. In addition, the
government may assert that a claim including items or services resulting from a violation of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute constitutes a
false or fraudulent claim for purposes of the False Claims Act;
•

the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, (“HIPAA”), as amended by the Health Information Technology for
Economic and Clinical Health Act, imposes criminal and civil liability for executing a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program.
Similar to the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, a person or entity does not need to have actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent to
violate it in order to have committed a violation;

•

HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act and its implementing regulations, also
imposes obligations, including mandatory contractual terms, with respect to safeguarding the privacy, security and transmission of individually
identifiable health information;

•

the federal false statements statute prohibits knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up a material fact or making any
materially false statement in connection with the delivery of or payment for healthcare benefits, items or services;

•

the federal Physician Payments Sunshine Act, which requires certain manufacturers of drugs, devices, biologics, and medical supplies for
which payment is available under Medicare, Medicaid or the Children’s Health Insurance Program (with certain exceptions) to report annually
to the government information related to payments or other “transfers of value” made to physicians, certain other healthcare providers
beginning in 2022, and teaching hospitals, and requires applicable manufacturers and group purchasing organizations to report annually to the
government ownership and investment interests held by the physicians described above and their immediate family members; and

•

analogous state laws and regulations, such as state anti-kickback and false claims laws and analogous non-U.S. fraud and abuse laws and
regulations, may apply to sales or marketing arrangements and claims involving healthcare items or services reimbursed by non-governmental
third-party payers, including private insurers, and some state laws require pharmaceutical companies to comply with the pharmaceutical
industry’s voluntary compliance guidelines and the relevant compliance guidance promulgated by the federal government in addition to
requiring drug manufacturers to report information related to payments to physicians and other health care providers or marketing expenditures.

State and foreign laws also govern the privacy and security of health-related and other personal information in some circumstances, many of which
differ from each other in significant ways and often are not preempted by HIPAA, thus complicating compliance efforts. For instance, the collection and
use of health data in the European Economic Area (“EEA”) is governed by the General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR”), which imposes strict
requirements for processing personal data of individuals within the EEA. The GDPR provides that EU and EEA Member States may make their own
further laws and regulations, which may impose more limitations, including in relation to the processing of genetic, biometric or health data, which may
result in differences between Member State laws, limit our ability to use and share personal data, cause our costs to increase, and/or harm our business
and/or financial condition. Failure to comply with the GDPR may result in substantial fines and other administrative penalties. The GDPR may increase our
responsibility and liability in relation to personal data that we process and we may be required to put in place additional mechanisms ensuring compliance
with the GDPR. This may be onerous and if our efforts to comply with GDPR or other applicable European Union laws and regulations are not successful,
it could adversely affect our business in the European Union.
Among other requirements, the GDPR regulates transfers of personal data subject to the GDPR to third countries that have not been found to provide
adequate protection to such personal data, including the United States, and the efficacy and longevity of current transfer mechanisms between the EU and
the United States remains uncertain. For example, in 2016, the EU and United States agreed to a transfer framework for data transferred from the EU to the
United States, called the Privacy Shield, but the Privacy Shield was invalidated in July 2020 by the Court of Justice of the European Union. Further, from
January 1, 2021, companies have to comply with the GDPR and also the United Kingdom GDPR (“UK GDPR”), which, together with the amended UK
Data Protection Act 2018, retains the GDPR in UK national law. The UK GDPR mirrors the fines under the GDPR, i.e., fines up to the greater of €20
million (£17.5 million) or 4% of global turnover. The relationship between the United Kingdom and the European Union in relation to certain aspects of
data protection law remains unclear, and it is unclear how United Kingdom data protection laws and regulations will develop in the medium to longer term,
and how data transfers to and from the United Kingdom will be regulated in the long term. The European Commission has adopted an adequacy decision in
favor of the UK, enabling data transfers from EU member states to the UK without additional safeguards. However, the UK
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adequacy decision will automatically expire in June 2025 unless the European Commission re-assesses and renews/ extends that decision.
In addition, on June 28, 2018, the State of California enacted the California Consumer Privacy Act (“CCPA”), which took effect on January 1, 2020.
The CCPA creates individual privacy rights for California consumers and increases the privacy and security obligations of entities handling certain personal
information. The CCPA provides for civil penalties for violations, as well as a private right of action for data breaches that is expected to increase data
breach litigation. The CCPA may increase our compliance costs and potential liability, and similar laws have been proposed at the federal level and in other
states. Additionally, the California Privacy Rights Act (“CPRA”) recently passed in California. The CPRA will impose additional data protection
obligations on companies doing business in California, including additional consumer rights processes, limitations on data uses, new audit requirements for
higher risk data, and opt outs for certain uses of sensitive data. It will also create a new California data protection agency authorized to issue substantive
regulations and could result in increased privacy and information security enforcement. The majority of the provisions will go into effect on January 1,
2023, and additional compliance investment and potential business process changes may be required. Compliance with U.S. and foreign privacy and
security laws, rules and regulations could require us to take on more onerous obligations in our contracts, require us to engage in costly compliance
exercises, restrict our ability to collect, use and disclose data, or in some cases, impact our or our partners’ or suppliers’ ability to operate in certain
jurisdictions.
Efforts to ensure that our business arrangements with third-parties will comply with applicable healthcare laws and regulations will also involve
substantial costs. It is possible that governmental authorities will conclude that our business practices may not comply with current or future statutes,
regulations or case law involving applicable fraud and abuse or other healthcare laws and regulations. If our operations are found to be in violation of any
of these laws or any other governmental regulations that may apply to us, we may be subject to significant civil, criminal and administrative penalties,
damages, fines, imprisonment, exclusion of products from government funded healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, integrity oversight
and reporting obligations, contractual damages, reputational harm, disgorgement, diminished profits and future earnings and the curtailment or
restructuring of our operations. Defending against any such actions can be costly, time-consuming and may require significant financial and personnel
resources. Therefore, even if we are successful in defending against any such actions that may be brought against us, our business may be impaired.
Our ability to generate revenue from the sale of our product candidates will be diminished if we are unable to obtain third-party coverage and adequate
levels of reimbursement for any approved product candidate.
Our ability to commercialize any product candidate for which we receive regulatory approval, alone or with collaborators, will depend in part on the
extent to which coverage and reimbursement for the product candidate will be available from government and health administration authorities, private
health maintenance organizations and health insurers, and other third-party payers.
A substantial portion of our potential future revenue depends or will depend, in part, on the extent to which the costs of our products, purchased by our
customers are reimbursed by third-party payers, including Medicare, Medicaid, other U.S. government sponsored programs, non-U.S. governmental payers
and private payers. Our customers’ ability to obtain adequate reimbursement for products and services from these third-party payers affects the selection of
products they purchase and the prices they are willing to pay. Some of our target customers may be unwilling to adopt our products in light of the additional
associated cost. If we are forced to lower the price we will charge for our U.S. product candidates, if approved, our profit margins will decrease, which will
adversely affect our ability to invest in and grow our business. With the global pressure on healthcare costs, payers are attempting to contain costs by, for
example, limiting coverage of, and the level of reimbursement for, new therapies. Any limitations on, decreases in or elimination of payments by thirdparty payers may have an adverse effect on our financial condition, business, prospects and/or results of operations.
Additionally, healthcare payers, including Medicare, are challenging the prices charged for medical products and services. Government and other
healthcare payers increasingly attempt to contain healthcare costs by limiting both coverage and the level of reimbursement for drugs. Even if our product
candidates are approved by the FDA, insurance coverage may not be available, and reimbursement levels may be inadequate, to cover the product
candidates. If government and other healthcare payers do not provide adequate coverage and reimbursement levels for our product candidates, once
approved, market acceptance of the product could be reduced.
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Healthcare reform may have a material adverse effect on our industry and our results of operations.
Significant uncertainty exists as to the reimbursement status of newly approved healthcare products. The regulations that govern marketing approvals,
pricing and reimbursement for new drug products vary widely from country to country. In the United States, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care
Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Affordability Reconciliation Act of 2010 (“ACA”) is significantly changing the way healthcare is
financed by both governmental and private insurers. From time to time, legislation is implemented to rein in rising healthcare expenditures. The ACA
included a number of provisions affecting the pharmaceutical and medical device industries, including annual, non-deductible fees on any entity that
manufactures or imports certain branded prescription drugs and biologics and increases in Medicaid rebates owed by manufacturers under the Medicaid
Drug Rebate Program. In addition, among other things, the ACA also established a new Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute to oversee, identify
priorities in and conduct comparative clinical effectiveness research. The increased funding and focus on comparative clinical effectiveness research, which
compares and evaluates the risks and benefits, clinical outcomes, effectiveness and appropriateness of products, may result in lower reimbursements by
payers for our product and decreased profits to us.
Since its enactment, there have been judicial, executive and Congressional challenges to certain aspects of the ACA. On June 17, 2021, the U.S.
Supreme Court dismissed the most recent judicial challenge to the ACA brought by several states without specifically ruling on the constitutionality of the
ACA. Prior to the Supreme Court's decision, President Biden issued an executive order to initiate a special enrollment period for purposes of obtaining
health insurance coverage through the ACA marketplace from February 15, 2021 through August 15, 2021. The executive order also instructed certain
governmental agencies to review and reconsider their existing policies and rules that limit access to healthcare, including among others, reexamining
Medicaid demonstration projects and waiver programs that include work requirements, and policies that create unnecessary barriers to obtaining access to
health insurance coverage through Medicaid or the ACA. It is unclear how other healthcare reform measures of the Biden administration or other efforts, if
any, to challenge, repeal or replace the ACA will impact the law or our business.
Other federal legislative changes have been proposed and adopted since the ACA was enacted. These changes included an aggregate reduction in
Medicare payments to providers of 2% per fiscal year, which went into effect on April 1, 2013 and will remain in effect through 2030, with the exception of
a temporary suspension from May 1, 2020 through December 31, 2021, unless additional Congressional action is taken. Moreover, there has recently been
heightened governmental scrutiny over the manner in which manufacturers set prices for their marketed products, which has resulted in several
Congressional inquiries and proposed and enacted legislation designed, among other things, to bring more transparency to product pricing, review the
relationship between pricing and manufacturer patient programs and reform government program reimbursement methodologies for pharmaceutical
products. These new laws and any other future legislative or policy changes may result in additional reductions in Medicare and other healthcare funding,
which may result in downward pressure on pharmaceutical reimbursement, which could negatively affect market acceptance of our out-licensed products
and product candidates (if and when approved) and accordingly, our financial results.
If our product candidates become subject to recall it could harm our reputation, business and financial results.
The FDA and similar foreign governmental authorities have the authority to request the recall of commercialized products in the event of material
deficiencies or defects in design, manufacture or labeling. A recall by us could occur as a result of component failures, manufacturing errors, design or
labeling defects or other deficiencies and issues. Recalls of any of our products would divert managerial and financial resources and have an adverse effect
on our financial condition and results of operations. The FDA requires that certain classifications of recalls be reported to the FDA within 10 working days
after the recall is initiated. Companies are required to maintain records of recalls, even if they are not reportable to the FDA. We may initiate voluntary
recalls involving our products in the future that we determine do not require notification of the FDA. If the FDA disagrees with our determinations, we
could be required to report those actions as recalls. A recall announcement could harm our reputation with customers and negatively affect our sales. In
addition, the FDA could take enforcement action for failing to report the recalls when they were conducted.
Governments outside the United States may impose strict price controls, which may adversely affect our revenue, if any.
In some countries, particularly in the European Union, the pricing of prescription pharmaceuticals is subject to governmental control. In these
countries, pricing negotiations with governmental authorities can take considerable time after the receipt of marketing approval for a product. To obtain
coverage and reimbursement or pricing approval in some countries, we may be required to conduct a clinical trial that compares the cost-effectiveness of
our product candidates to other available therapies. If reimbursement for our product candidates is unavailable or limited in scope or amount, or if pricing is
set at unsatisfactory levels, our business could be harmed, possibly materially.
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Changes in U.S. tax law could adversely affect our business and financial condition.
Legislation or other changes in tax laws could lead to or increase our tax liability and adversely affect our after-tax profitability. For example, on
March 27, 2020 and December 27, 2020, the United States enacted the CARES Act and the Consolidated Appropriation Act (“CAA”), respectively, as a
result of the Coronavirus pandemic, which contain, among other things, numerous income tax provisions. Some of these tax provisions are expected to be
effective retroactively for years ending before the date of enactment. We have evaluated the current legislation and, at this time, we do not anticipate that
the CARES Act or CCA will have a material impact on our financial statements; however, the future impact of these acts and any other future changes in
tax law on holders of our common stock is uncertain and could adversely affect our business and financial condition.
Our ability to utilize our net operating loss carryforwards and certain other tax attributes may be limited.
Under Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, if a corporation undergoes an “ownership change” (generally defined
as a greater than 50 percentage point change (by value) in the ownership of its equity by certain significant stockholders over a rolling three-year period),
the corporation’s ability to use its pre-change net operating loss carryforwards and certain other pre-change tax attributes to offset its post-change income or
tax liability may be limited. We have experienced such ownership changes in the past (and derecognized certain deferred tax assets as of December 31,
2020 in connection with ownership changes we determined had occurred prior to such date), and we may experience ownership changes in the future as a
result of future offerings and/or subsequent shifts in our stock ownership, some of which may be outside our control. Because our ability to use our net
operating loss carryforwards and other tax attributes is limited by ownership changes, we may be unable to utilize a material portion of our net operating
losses and other tax attributes.
RISKS RELATED TO EMPLOYEE MATTERS, OUR OPERATIONS AND MANAGING GROWTH
We rely on key executive officers and qualified personnel and their knowledge of our business and technical expertise would be difficult to replace.
We are highly dependent on our key executive officers and the research and development, clinical, manufacturing, financial and business development
expertise of our executive officers and other employees at our Fremont, CA facility with extensive knowledge of our technology and manufacturing
processes. We do not have “key person” life insurance policies for any of our officers. The loss of the technical knowledge and management and industry
expertise of any of our key personnel could result in delays in product development and diversion of management resources, which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. For example, if we are not able to adequately retain our officers or train and
retain staff at our Fremont, CA facility, our ability to resubmit our NDA, obtain FDA approval and commercialize M207, if approved, would be impacted
and our business would be materially adversely affected.
On February 1, 2020, Gregory Kitchener resigned as our chief financial officer and, on October 22, 2021, Hayley Lewis resigned as our Senior Vice
President, Operations. We cannot guarantee that we will not face similar turnover in the future. Management transition is often difficult. Our ability to
execute our business strategies may be adversely affected by the uncertainty associated with any transition and the time and management attention needed
to fill any vacant role could disrupt our business.
If we are unable to hire additional qualified personnel, our ability to grow our business may be harmed.
We will need to hire additional qualified personnel with expertise in preclinical testing, clinical research and testing, government regulation,
formulation and manufacturing and sales and marketing. We compete for qualified individuals with numerous biopharmaceutical companies, universities
and other research institutions. Competition for such individuals is intense, and we cannot be certain that our search for such personnel will be successful.
Attracting and retaining qualified personnel will be critical to our success.
Our operations and employees face risks related to health epidemics that could adversely affect our financial condition and operating results.
Our business could be adversely impacted by the effects of a health epidemic, such as the COVID-19 pandemic. Our sole laboratory, executive team,
and most of our employee base are located in the San Francisco Bay Area. In the event of a health epidemic that becomes widespread in or around the San
Francisco Bay Area, we may take precautionary measures such as limiting our employees’ travel activities, implementing alternative work arrangements
for our employees, and suspending our lab operations. For example, as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, a majority of our workforce moved to a remote
working
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environment. With our employees working remotely, we could face operational difficulties that could impair our ability to conduct and manage our
business effectively. Furthermore, such health epidemic, even outside of the San Francisco Bay Area, may also adversely impact the operations of our
CMOs, suppliers and business partners as they implement their own precautionary measures, and we would be unable to predict how a health epidemic,
such as the COVID-19 pandemic, and the related changing economic conditions will affect our third-party partners. Such conditions could disrupt our
operational activities and may result in an inability to meet our operational targets, and therefore our financial condition and operating results could be
adversely affected.
Our employees may engage in misconduct or other improper activities, including non-compliance with regulatory standards and requirements.
We are exposed to the risk of employee fraud or other misconduct. Misconduct by employees could include intentional failures to comply with FDA
regulations, to provide accurate information to the FDA, to comply with manufacturing standards we have established, to comply with federal and state
healthcare fraud and abuse laws and regulations, to report financial information or data accurately or to disclose unauthorized activities to us. In particular,
sales, marketing and business arrangements in the healthcare industry are subject to extensive laws and regulations intended to prevent fraud, kickbacks,
self-dealing and other abusive practices. These laws and regulations may restrict or prohibit a wide range of pricing, discounting, marketing and promotion,
sales commission, customer incentive programs and other business arrangements. Employee misconduct could also involve the improper use of
individually identifiable information, including, without limitation, information obtained in the course of clinical trials, which could result in regulatory
sanctions and serious harm to our reputation. We have adopted a code of business conduct and ethics, but it is not always possible to identify and deter
employee misconduct, and the precautions we take to detect and prevent improper activities may not be effective in controlling unknown or unmanaged
risks or losses or in protecting us from governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure to be in compliance with such laws
or regulations. If any such actions are instituted against us, and we are not successful in defending ourselves or asserting our rights, those actions could
have a significant impact on our business, including the imposition of significant fines or other sanctions, including civil, criminal or administrative.
We may not successfully manage our growth.
Our success will depend upon the effective management of our growth, which will place a significant strain on our management and on administrative,
operational and financial resources. To manage this growth, we may be required to expand our facilities, augment our operational, financial and
management systems and hire and train additional qualified personnel. Our inability to manage this growth could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.
We may enter into or seek to enter into business partnerships, combinations and/or acquisitions which may be difficult to integrate, disrupt our
business, divert management attention or dilute stockholder value.
We may enter into business partnerships, combinations and/or acquisitions. We have limited experience in making acquisitions, which are typically
accompanied by a number of risks, including:
•

the difficulty of integrating the operations and personnel of the acquired companies;

•

the potential disruption of our ongoing business and distraction of management;

•

potential unknown liabilities and expenses;

•

the failure to achieve the expected benefits of the combination or acquisition;

•

the maintenance of acceptable standards, controls, procedures and policies; and

•

the impairment of relationships with employees as a result of any integration of new management and other personnel.

If we are not successful in completing acquisitions that we may pursue in the future, we would be required to reevaluate our business strategy and we
may have incurred substantial expenses and devoted significant management time and resources in seeking to complete the acquisitions. In addition, we
could use substantial portions of our available cash as all or a portion of the purchase price, or we could issue additional securities as consideration for
these acquisitions, which could cause our stockholders to suffer significant dilution.
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Risks associated with use of our company-wide enterprise resource planning (“ERP”) system may adversely affect our business and results of
operations or the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting.
We completed the implementation of a company-wide ERP system in the first fiscal quarter of 2019 to handle the business and financial processes
within our operations and corporate functions. The use of the ERP system will increase as we expand our operations, possibly requiring the implementation
of additional modules or system functionality. To reap the benefits of our ERP system, we may need to change certain business and financial processes. Our
business and results of operations may be adversely affected if we experience operating problems or cost overruns following the implementation process, or
if the systems and the associated process changes do not give rise to the benefits that we expect. If we do not effectively maintain or integrate the ERP
system as planned or if the systems do not operate as intended, it may adversely affect our ability to manage and run our business operations, file reports
with the SEC in a timely manner, and/or otherwise affect our internal control environment. Any of these consequences could have an adverse effect on our
results of operations and financial condition.
RISKS RELATING TO AN INVESTMENT IN OUR COMMON STOCK
The trading price of our common stock has been volatile with substantial price fluctuations on heavy volume, which could result in substantial losses
for purchasers of our common stock and existing stockholders.
Our stock price has been and, in the future, may be subject to substantial volatility. During the period from January 2, 2018 through November 5, 2021,
for example, our stock has traded in a range with a low of $0.328 and a high of $25.70. The stock market in general and the market for biopharmaceutical
companies in particular have experienced extreme volatility that has often been unrelated to the operating performance of particular companies. We do not,
for example, have any explanations for the volatility in our stock price or the heavy volume of trading (on some days exceeding six times the number of
shares outstanding) that occurred in our common stock in February and March of 2019. As a result of this volatility, investors may not be able to sell their
common stock at or above the price paid for the shares. The market price for our common stock may be influenced by many factors, including:
•

announcements relating to development, regulatory approvals or commercialization of our product candidates or those of competitors;

•

results of clinical trials of our product candidates or those of our competitors;

•

announcements by us or our competitors of significant strategic partnerships or collaborations or terminations of such arrangements;

•

actual or anticipated variations in our operating results;

•

changes in financial estimates by us or by any securities analysts who might cover our stock;

•

conditions or trends in our industry;

•

changes in laws or other regulatory actions affecting us or our industry;

•

stock market price and volume fluctuations of comparable companies and, in particular, those that operate in the biopharmaceutical industry;

•

announcements of investigations or regulatory scrutiny of our operations or lawsuits filed against us;

•

capital commitments;

•

investors’ general perception of our company and our business;

•

disputes concerning our intellectual property or other proprietary rights;

•

recruitment or departure of key personnel; and

•

sales of our common stock, including sales by our directors and officers or specific stockholders.

Moreover, the global stock markets have experienced, and may continue to experience, significant volatility as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.
The COVID-19 pandemic and the significant uncertainties it has caused for the global economy, business activity and business confidence have had, and
may continue to have, a significant effect on the market price of securities generally, including our common stock.
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We and certain of our current and former executive officers were named as defendants in a securities class action lawsuit, and a related shareholder
derivative lawsuit was filed; defending against any future lawsuits could cause us to incur substantial costs and divert management's attention,
financial resources and other company assets.
On October 29, 2020 and November 6, 2020, two stockholders filed alleged class action lawsuits against us and certain of our current and former
executive officers in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California: Carr v. Zosano Pharma Corporation, et al., Case No. 3:20-cv07625, and Becerra v. Zosano Pharma Corporation, et al., Case No. 3:20-cv-07850. The complaints were filed purportedly on behalf of all persons who
purchased or otherwise acquired our securities between February 13, 2017 and September 30, 2020 (the “Class Period”). The complaints alleged that we
and certain of our current and former executive officers made false and/or misleading statements and failed to disclose material adverse facts about our
business, operations and prospects in violation of Sections 10(b) (and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). The plaintiffs sought damages, interest, costs, attorneys’ fees and other unspecified relief. On February 4, 2021,
the Carr and Becerra actions were consolidated and the court appointed two Co-Lead Plaintiffs and two law firms as Co-Lead Counsel in the consolidated
action (the “Securities Action”). The Co-Lead Plaintiffs filed their consolidated amended complaint on March 30, 2021, which alleged the same claims as
the previous complaints and extended the Class Period through October 20, 2020. We filed a motion to dismiss the consolidated amended complaint on
May 14, 2021; the Co-Lead Plaintiffs filed their opposition brief on June 14, 2021; and we filed a reply brief by July 6, 2021. The hearing on the motion
was held on July 22, 2021 and the court took the motion under submission. On September 1, 2021, the Court issued an order granting our motion and
dismissing in full the Securities Action (“Dismissal Order”), but granting the Co-Lead Plaintiffs in the Securities Action leave to file an amended complaint
within 30 days. The Co-Lead Plaintiffs in the Securities Action elected not to file an amended complaint and, on October 8, 2021, the parties to the
Securities Action filed a Joint Stipulation of Dismissal dismissing the Securities Action with prejudice and waiving Co-Lead Plaintiffs’ right to appeal the
Dismissal Order. The Joint Stipulation was approved by the Court the same day, ending the Securities Action.
On February 9, 2021, a stockholder filed a derivative action, purportedly on behalf of the Company (named as a nominal defendant), against certain of
our current and former executive officers and directors in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware: Gensemer v. Lo, et al., Case No.
1:21-cv-00168 (the “Derivative Action”). The complaint alleged breaches of the defendants’ fiduciary duties as our directors and/or officers, unjust
enrichment, abuse of control, gross mismanagement, waste of corporate assets, violations of Section 14(a) of the Exchange Act, and for contribution under
Sections 10(b) and 21D of the Exchange Act. The plaintiff sought damages, restitution, interest, attorneys’ fees and costs, and other unspecified relief.
Pursuant to stipulation of the parties, on March 24, 2021, the court entered an order staying the Derivative Action, including all deadlines, conferences and
hearings, until the final resolution of our motion to dismiss in the Securities Action, including through any amendments and/or appeals. On October 18,
2021, the plaintiff elected to voluntarily dismiss the Derivative Action without prejudice, with each side bearing their own costs and fees. The dismissal
was approved by the Court on October 19, 2021, ending the Derivative Action.
Although both the Securities Action and Derivative Action have ended, any future lawsuits to which we may become a party are subject to inherent
uncertainties and will likely be expensive and time-consuming to investigate, defend and resolve, and will divert our management's attention and financial
and other resources. The outcome of litigation is necessarily uncertain, and we could be forced to expend significant resources in the defense of these and
other suits, and we may not prevail. Any litigation to which we are a party may result in an onerous or unfavorable judgment that may not be reversed upon
appeal or in payments of substantial monetary damages or fines, or we may decide to settle these or other lawsuits on similarly unfavorable terms, which
could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations or stock price. See Item 3. “Legal Proceedings” for additional information
regarding the class actions.
If we are unable to maintain listing of our securities on the Nasdaq Capital Market or another reputable stock exchange, it may be more difficult
for our stockholders to sell their securities.
Nasdaq requires listing issuers to comply with certain standards in order to remain listed on its exchange. If, for any reason, Nasdaq should delist our
securities from trading on its exchange and we are unable to obtain listing on another reputable national securities exchange, a reduction in some or all of
the following may occur, each of which could materially adversely affect our stockholders:
•

the liquidity of our common stock;

•

the market price of our common stock;

•

our ability to obtain financing for the continuation of our operations;

•

the number of institutional and general investors that will consider investing in our common stock;
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•

the number of market makers in our common stock;

•

the availability of information concerning the trading prices and volume of our common stock; and

•

the number of broker-dealers willing to execute trades in shares of our common stock.

In the past, we have received written notices from Nasdaq indicating that we were not in compliance with the $1.00 minimum bid price requirement
for continued listing on The Nasdaq Capital Market, as set forth in Listing Rule 5550(a)(2). On June 1, 2021, we received another written notice from
Nasdaq indicating that we were not in compliance with the $1.00 minimum bid price requirement for continued listing on The Nasdaq Capital Market. In
accordance with Listing Rule 5810(c)(3)(A), we have a period of 180 calendar days, or until November 29, 2021, to regain compliance with the minimum
bid price requirement. If we do not regain compliance by November 29, 2021, an additional 180 days may be granted to regain compliance if we (i) meet
the continued listing requirement for market value of publicly held shares and all other initial listing standards for The Nasdaq Capital Market (except for
the bid price requirement) and (ii) provide written notice to Nasdaq of our intention to cure the deficiency during the second 180-day compliance period, by
effecting a reverse stock split, if necessary. If we meet these requirements, Nasdaq will inform us that we have been granted an additional 180 calendar
days. However, if it appears to Nasdaq that we will not be able to cure the deficiency, or if we are otherwise not eligible, Nasdaq will provide notice that
our common stock will be subject to delisting. At that time, we may appeal Nasdaq’s delisting determination to a Hearings Panel. There is no assurance that
we will be able to regain compliance with the minimum bid price requirement or will otherwise be in compliance with other Nasdaq listing criteria.
We do not currently intend to pay cash dividends on our common stock and, consequently, your ability to achieve a return on your investment will
depend on appreciation in the price of our common stock.
We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock, and we currently intend to retain future earnings, if any, to fund the
development and growth of our business. Therefore, we do not expect to declare or pay any dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable future. As a
result, your ability to receive a return on an investment in our common stock will depend on any future appreciation in the market value of our common
stock. There is no guarantee that our common stock will appreciate or even maintain the price at which you purchased it.
Anti-takeover provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws, as well as provisions in Delaware
law, might discourage, delay or prevent a change of control of our company or changes in our management and, therefore, depress the trading price of
our common stock.
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, amended and restated bylaws and Delaware law contain provisions that could have the effect of
rendering more difficult or discouraging an acquisition deemed undesirable by our board of directors. Our corporate governance documents include
provisions:
•

providing for three classes of directors with the term of office of one class expiring each year, commonly referred to as a staggered board;

•

authorizing blank check preferred stock, which could be issued with voting, liquidation, dividend and other rights superior to our common
stock;

•

limiting the liability of, and providing indemnification to, our directors;

•

limiting the ability of our stockholders to call and bring business before special meetings and to take action by written consent in lieu of a
meeting;

•

requiring advance notice of stockholder proposals for business to be conducted at meetings of our stockholders and for nominations of
candidates for election to our board of directors;

•

controlling the procedures for the conduct and scheduling of board and stockholder meetings;

•

limiting the determination of the number of directors on our board and the filling of vacancies or newly created seats on the board to our board
of directors then in office; and

•

providing that directors may be removed by stockholders only for cause.

These provisions, alone or together, could delay hostile takeovers and changes in control or changes in our management.
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As a Delaware corporation, we are also subject to provisions of Delaware law, including Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation law, which
prohibits a publicly-held Delaware corporation from engaging in a business combination with an interested stockholder, generally a person which together
with its affiliates owns, or within the last three years has owned, 15% of our voting stock, for a period of three years after the date of the transaction in
which the person became an interested stockholder, unless the business combination is approved in a prescribed manner.
The existence of the foregoing provisions and anti-takeover measures could limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for
shares of our common stock. They could also deter potential acquirers of our company, thereby reducing the likelihood that our stockholders could receive
a premium for their common stock in an acquisition.
We are no longer an “emerging growth company” and may no longer take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that
are applicable to other public companies.
Effective December 31, 2020, we are no longer an emerging growth company and may no longer take advantage of certain exemptions from various
reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies, such as exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on
executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. This increase in reporting requirements will
further increase our compliance burden.
As a “smaller reporting company,” however, we are still able to take advantage of certain exemptions available to smaller reporting companies. We
intend to take advantage of some of these exemptions, including:
•

being permitted to provide only two years of audited financial statements, in addition to any required unaudited interim financial statements,
with correspondingly reduced “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” disclosure; and

•

reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation.

In addition, as a non-accelerated filer, we are not required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements in the assessment of our internal
control over financial reporting.
We cannot predict whether investors will find our common stock less attractive because we will rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our
common stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our common stock and our stock price may be more volatile. We
may take advantage of these reporting exemptions until we are no longer a smaller reporting company or a non-accelerated filer, as applicable.
GENERAL RISK FACTORS
Our business and operations would suffer in the event of computer system failures or security breaches.
Despite the implementation of security measures, our internal computer systems, and those of our CROs and other third-parties on which we rely, are
vulnerable to damage from computer viruses, unauthorized access, natural disasters, fire, terrorism, war and telecommunication and electrical failures. If
such an event were to occur and cause interruptions in our operations, it could result in a material disruption of our development and manufacturing
programs. Our operations depend, in part, on the continued performance of our information technology systems. For example, the loss of clinical trial data
from completed, ongoing or planned clinical trials could result in delays in our regulatory approval efforts and significantly increase our costs to recover or
reproduce the data. Our information technology systems are potentially vulnerable to physical or electronic break-ins, computer viruses and similar
disruptions. Failure of our information technology systems could adversely affect our business, profitability and financial condition. Although we have
information technology security systems, a successful cybersecurity attack or other data security incident could result in the misappropriation and/or loss of
confidential or personal information, create system interruptions, or deploy malicious software that attacks our systems. We have also outsourced elements
of our information technology infrastructure, and as a result a number of third-party service providers and vendors may or could have access to our
confidential information. Our third-party service providers have experienced such attacks and we and our third-party service providers may experience
attacks in the future. If our third-party vendors fail to protect their information technology systems and our confidential and proprietary information, we
may be vulnerable to disruptions in service and unauthorized access to our confidential or proprietary information and we could incur liability and
reputational damage.
Attacks upon information technology systems are increasing in their frequency, levels of persistence, sophistication and intensity, and are being
conducted by sophisticated and organized groups and individuals with a wide range of motives and expertise. As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, we
may also face increased cybersecurity risks due to our reliance on internet
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technology and the number of our employees who are working remotely, which may create additional opportunities for cybercriminals to exploit
vulnerabilities. Furthermore, because the techniques used to obtain unauthorized access to, or to sabotage, systems change frequently and often are not
recognized until launched against a target, we may be unable to anticipate these techniques or implement adequate preventative measures. It is possible that
a cybersecurity attack might not be noticed for some period of time. The occurrence of a cybersecurity attack or incident could result in business
interruptions from the disruption of our information technology systems, or negative publicity resulting in reputational damage with our shareholders and
other stakeholders and/or increased costs to prevent, respond to or mitigate cybersecurity events. In addition, the unauthorized dissemination of sensitive
personal information or proprietary or confidential information could expose us or other third-parties to regulatory fines or penalties, litigation and potential
liability, or otherwise harm our business. In addition, such a breach may require notification to governmental agencies, the media or individuals pursuant to
applicable data privacy and security law and regulations. We would be exposed to a risk of loss, including financial assets or litigation and potential
liability, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. To the extent that any disruption or
security breach results in a loss of or damage to our data or applications, or inappropriate disclosure of confidential or proprietary information, we could
incur liability and development of our product candidates could be delayed.
Substantial future sales of shares by existing stockholders, or the perception that such sales may occur, could cause our stock price to decline.
If our existing stockholders, particularly our directors and executive officers, are perceived by the public market as intending to sell substantial
amounts of our common stock, the trading price of our common stock could decline significantly. Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common
stock in the public market, or the perception that these sales might occur may reduce the prevailing market price of our common stock and make it more
difficult for you to sell your common stock at a time and price that you deem appropriate. In addition, certain holders of our common stock and warrants to
purchase our common stock are entitled to rights with respect to the registration of their shares under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (“Securities
Act”). As long as the registration statements covering the resale of such shares remain in effect, such shares shall be freely tradable without restriction
under the Securities Act, except for shares held by affiliates, as defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act. Any sales of securities by existing
stockholders could have a material adverse effect on the market price of our common stock.
If equity research analysts do not publish research or reports, or publish unfavorable research or reports about us, our business or our market, our
stock price and trading volume could decline.
The trading market for our common stock depends in part on the research and reports that securities and industry analysts publish about us or our
business. If one or more of the analysts who covers us downgrades our stock or publishes unfavorable research about our business, or if our clinical trials or
operating results fail to meet the analysts’ expectations, our stock price would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts ceases coverage of our
company or fails to publish reports on us regularly, demand for our stock could decrease, which could cause our stock price and trading volume to decline.
Requirements associated with being a public reporting company will continue to increase our costs significantly, as well as divert significant company
resources and management attention.
As a public company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act and the other rules and regulations of the SEC. Compliance
with the various reporting and other requirements applicable to public reporting companies require considerable time, attention of management, and
financial resources.
Further, the listing requirements of the Nasdaq Capital Market require that we satisfy certain corporate governance requirements relating to director
independence, stockholder meetings, approvals and voting, soliciting proxies, conflicts of interest and a code of conduct. Our management and other
personnel will need to devote a substantial amount of time and financial resources to ensure that we comply with all of these requirements. These reporting
and corporate governance requirements, coupled with the increase in potential litigation exposure associated with being a public company, could also make
it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on our board of directors or board committees or to serve as executive officers, or to
obtain certain types of insurance, including directors’ and officers’ insurance, on acceptable terms.
Any changes we make to comply with these obligations may not be sufficient to allow us to satisfy our obligations as a public company on a timely
basis, or at all.
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If we fail to maintain proper and effective internal controls, our ability to produce accurate financial statements on a timely basis could be impaired.
We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, certain provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the rules and regulations of the
Nasdaq Capital Market. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal
controls over financial reporting.
If we are not able to comply with the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act in a timely manner, or if we are unable to maintain proper
and effective internal controls, we may not be able to produce timely and accurate financial statements. If that were to happen, the market price of our stock
could decline, and we could be subject to sanctions or investigations by Nasdaq, the SEC or other regulatory authorities.
Our disclosure controls and procedures may not be effective to ensure that we make all required disclosures.
As a public reporting company, we are subject to the periodic reporting requirements of the Exchange Act. Our disclosure controls and procedures are
designed to reasonably assure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and
communicated to management, recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC. We
believe that any disclosure controls and procedures or internal controls and procedures, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only
reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met.
These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error
or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people or by an unauthorized
override of the controls. Accordingly, because of the inherent limitations in our control system, misstatements or insufficient disclosures due to error or
fraud may occur and not be detected.
Item 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
None.
Item 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES
None.
Item 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not Applicable.
Item 5. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
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Item 6. EXHIBITS
EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
number

Description

3.1

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Zosano Pharma Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on February 3, 2015)

3.2*

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Zosano Pharma Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the registrant's Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on August 10, 2021)

3.3

Certificate of Amendment of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Zosano Pharma Corporation, filed on January 24,
2018 (Authorized Share Increase) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
Commission on January 25, 2018)

3.4

Certificate of Amendment of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Zosano Pharma Corporation, filed on January 24,
2018 (Reverse Stock Split) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
Commission on January 25, 2018)

10.1

Amendment No. 1 to Master Services Agreement, effective as of September 29, 2021, by and between Zosano Pharma Corporations and
Eversana Life Science Services, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with
the Commission on October 4, 2021)

31.1*

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended

31.2*

Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended

32.1#

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as required by rules 13a-14(b) and 15d-14(b) and Section 1350 of
Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code (18 U.S.C. 1350)

101.INS*

Inline XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH*

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL*

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF*

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB*

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE*

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

104*

Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)

*

Filed herewith.

#

Exhibit 32.1 is being furnished and shall not be deemed to be “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act”), or otherwise subject to the liability of that section, nor shall such exhibit be deemed to be incorporated by
reference in any registration statement or other document filed under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act, except as
otherwise specifically stated in such filing.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
Dated: November 10, 2021

Zosano Pharma Corporation
(Registrant)
/s/ Steven Lo
Steven Lo
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Christine Matthews
Christine Matthews
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO EXCHANGE ACT RULE 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) AS
ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY
ACT OF 2002
I, Steven Lo, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Zosano Pharma Corporation;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:
(a)
Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period
in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.
Date:

November 10, 2021

By:

/s/ Steven Lo
Steven Lo
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO EXCHANGE ACT RULE 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) AS
ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Christine Matthews, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Zosano Pharma Corporation;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period
in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.
Date:

November 10, 2021

By:

/s/ Christine Matthews
Christine Matthews
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Principal Accounting Officer)

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Steven Lo, the Chief Executive Officer
of Zosano Pharma Corporation (the “Company”), and Christine Matthews, the Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certify that, to their
knowledge:
1. The Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2021 of the Company (the “Report”) fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date:

November 10, 2021

By:

/s/ Steven Lo
Steven Lo
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date:

November 10, 2021

By:

/s/ Christine Matthews
Christine Matthews
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Principal Accounting Officer)

